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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBRE

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

FY 2021 FY 2020 Change
—E-—F —ETF
HBFE HMRFE 28
HK$’million BEE#&E T HK$milion B&E T
Revenue EE ) 56,755.3 43,510.3 +30%
EBITDA* RIBRFIE ~ BiE
— 17,559.9 10,059.2 +75%
TR B ’
Profit before tax* R A& R 15,338.1 7,912.1 +94%
Net profit attributable to owners  ZxA T35 A FE{L 4 F|
of the Company
— Underlying net profit* — B4R 10,565.4 4,685.8 +125%
— Reported net profit —AREAEF 10,778.0 4,702.9 +129%
Basic earnings per share BEREXRRZF
— Based on underlying net profit* — ARG FGTE HK$9.537 HK$4.241
— - — +125%
9.537 BT 4.241757C
— Based on reported net profit —BREAFEE HK$9.729 HK$4.257
— - +129%
9.729 BT 4.257% 7T
Dividend per share for the year &REZFERE HK300 cents HK228 cents
R +32%
3007l 228751l
— Interim dividend per share —SRPHRE HK56 cents HK28 cents +100%
N (o]
56781l 28781l
- Proposed final dividend per share  —Z SRR AL E HK244 cents HK100 cents
. R +144%
244581 1007811l
— Proposed special final dividend —EAERRERIRARE HK100 cents N/A
per share 100781l
Net asset value per share BEREEFE HK$56.8 HK$50.5
e N +12%
56.87 7T 50.5/8 7T
Net gearing FEELE 19% 18%
* Excluding: . TBE
(1) Gain on fair value changes of investment properties with gross amount 1) REMENFEES 2 WH D R AL
of HK$14.4 million, net amount of HK$10.8 million after share of non- —TFIHEE+EBTT - HIBRIHEALAL R
controlling shareholders and deferred tax (2020: Loss on fair value changes M EREERBEE 2 FE—TZ
of investment properties with gross amount of HK$5.4 million, net amount NTEET(ZZ_ZF : REVER
of HK$5.2 million after share of non-controlling shareholders and deferred TEEEIES R ABERANTE
tax). FETT + HIBR IEFE AR AR SR B A 1 78 SR A
TiIE% 2 FEAA - T8H8T) °
2) Gain on disposal of a subsidiary with gross amount of HK$224.2 million, 2 HEWRBARI ZWED R BEE
net amount of HK$201.8 million after tax (2020: Gain on disposal of “EoTFTUE=TEBT  BREIERE
subsidiaries with gross amount of HK$29.8 million, net amount of HK$22.4 ZRB_RBE—AN\TEAEL(ZZT =
million after share of non-controlling shareholders and tax). TE HEWB AR ZWE DR B1EEE
ZTFABNTEET - MBRIEHERARE
e ERBAE FE_T_a0m+
BHETT) °
Non-GAAP financial measures adopted for illustrating the changes and effect FEIE— R AR e R IG5 2IE AR AR L
resulting from operation of business activities only SEEFTEANE (LR
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERERE

BUSINESS REVIEW

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”), | am delighted to report the
best ever full-year performance on record of Kingboard Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the financial year ended
31 December 2021 (the “Period”). Reported net profit attributable to the
shareholders of the Company broke through the milestone of HK$10,000
million and reached HK$10,778 million.

In 2021, the recovery of the global economy accelerated with a spike in
the demand for major commodities and a bullish performance in the retail
market. On the back of the competitive edges of the Group’s operating
model featuring a vertically integrated value chain and a diversified business
portfolio, coupled with the industriousness, stamina and concerted effort from
top to bottom in Kingboard, the Group’s business grew by leaps and bounds
and each core unit obtained excellent results.

During the Period, the Group adopted a proactive sales and marketing
strategy to capture the upsurge in the demand for consumer electronics
across the globe, whilst deepening and widening cooperation with clients, in
order to make full use of the vertically integrated model that the Laminates
Division runs on, and the synergy and collaboration between the Laminates
and Printed Circuit Boards (“PCBs”) Divisions. Both divisions achieved
fruitful results with regard to sales volume and product pricing. Benefiting
from substantial market demand, major chemical products in the Chemicals
Division, represented by acetic acid, caustic soda and Bisphenol A, recorded
considerable price increases, driving the division’s strong results. The
Property Division saw stable performance in both residential pre-sale and
rental income. With each division working together to produce impressive
results, the Group’s diversified business portfolio is working to its advantage.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERE®mE

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) %%@Eﬁ(%)

During the Period, revenue of the Group rose 30% to HK$56,755.3 BEAAN S EBEEEELAINZE
million, posting an underlying net profit (excluding non-recurring items) AEANTEERTREAE=Z+TEBIT  ELLF
of HK$10,565.4 million, up significantly by 125%. The Group maintained (TREEEHEEEE )RR EA125%ZE—FZ

a robust financial position, and the Board has therefore proposed a final RAENTRENTEET - EEF AR 45
dividend of HK244 cents per share, subject to approval by the shareholders B ETe@F R REIRETIR2443840 -
of the Company. IER B AR IR FURE BB -

Turnover Breakdown by Products & & £ % 0

FY2021 FY2020
—E--FHBFE “ECRFHMBEFE

26.9%
22.8%
Laminates PCBs Chemicals [ Properties [ Investments [ Others
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERE®mE

PERFORMANCE

Laminates Division: In possession of a sound vertical production model,
the division leads the industry in terms of scale and technological benchmark
of laminates and upstream products such as glass yarn, glass fabric, copper
foil and epoxy resins. During the Period, consumer electronics blossomed
with demand soaring, injecting strong momentum into the demands for
laminates and their upstream materials. Orders for laminates remained at a
high level with a total of 124 million sheets sold throughout the year, marking
an increase of 6 million sheets from 2020 and an all-time record. In the
meantime under a demand pull, the Group’s upstream materials experienced
shortages to varying degrees, driving multiple price increases for materials
and subsequently for laminates. While the supply of raw materials was under
strain, the division enjoyed in-house upstream capability for copper foil, glass
yarn, glass fabric and epoxy resins. This allowed the division to exploit the
upper hand with vertical integration in bringing about a marked increase in
margin. Segment revenue (including inter-segment sales) shot up by 76%
to HK$29,205.7 million. Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and
amortisation (“EBITDA”) surged by 132% to HK$9,063.8 million.

PCBs Division: In the realm of PCBs for consumer electronics,
telecommunication facilities and automobiles, the PCBs Division rallies
manifold advantages including fine craftsmanship, comprehensive certification
and good quality, making the Group a beneficiary amid industrial development
catalysed by 5G application, remote education and work, new energy vehicles
and artificial intelligence. Sales of PCBs rose to a record-breaking level.
Drawing on its rich experience in multi-layered PCBs and high-density inter-
connected ones, the division’s business served a wider market, in particular
with a further step into the higher precision PCBs market, enabling it to build
a higher-value-added product portfolio. During the year, the average selling
price of products increased continuously. The rise in unit product prices
not only helped to effectively transfer the cost hike in laminates, but also to
create room for expanded profitability. Segment revenue increased 29% to
HK$13,600.8 million. EBITDA surged by 5% to HK$1,756.8 million.

Chemicals Division: Global economic recovery has induced demand for
chemicals, prompting price rises for the division’s various chemical products.
Among them, the price increase of acetic acid, caustic soda and Bisphenol
A was the most significant, contributing considerable profit growth to the
division. With highly effective management and science-based craftsmanship,
as well as being equipped with industry-leading green facilities, the division was
able to maintain non-stop production on long cycles, keeping each function in
high utilisation as a swift response to market demand, thus resulting in high-
speed growth. Segment revenue (including inter-segment sales) shot up by
55% to HK$16,377.3 million. EBITDA soared by 184% to HK$4,385.8 million.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERE®mE

PERFORMANCE (continued)

Property Division: The division reaped ideal results in terms of residential
pre-sales, completing the Period with contracted pre-sales worth HK$2,919
million. However, there was a drop in the number of units handed over during
the Period, and division revenue declined 71% to HK$2,375 million as a resullt.
EBITDA decreased by 57% to HK$1,521.7 million. Within the metrics, rental
income was up 8% to HK$1,200.5 million, mainly attributable to gradually
improving post-pandemic occupancy rates, as well as the commencement
of leases at the commercial project neighbouring the Kunshan high-speed
railway station in Jiangsu Province and Shanghai Kingboard Plaza Phase II.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The Group’s financial position remained robust. As at 31 December 2021,
Group net current assets and current ratio were HK$23,419.0 million (31
December 2020: HK$22,426.2 million) and 1.87 (31 December 2020: 1.97)
respectively.

The net working capital cycle increased to 60 days as at 31 December 2021
from 56 days as at 31 December 2020 on the following key metrics:

- Inventories, in terms of stock turnover days, were 38 days (31
December 2020: 35 days).

- Trade receivables, in terms of debtors turnover days, were 62 days (31
December 2020: 62 days).

- Trade and bills payable (excluding bills payable for property, plant
and equipment), in terms of creditor turnover days, were 40 days (31
December 2020: 41 days).

The Group’s net gearing ratio (ratio of bank borrowings net of bank balances
and cash to total equity) was approximately 19% (31 December 2020:
18%). The proportion of short-term to long-term bank borrowings stood at
58%:42% (31 December 2020: 50%:50%). During the Period, the Group
invested approximately HK$2,900 million on new production capacity and
HK$1,800 million on property construction expenses. Leveraging on the
management team’s ample professional experience, the Group strongly
believes these investments will create stable and solid returns for shareholders
in the long run.

BHEHEERRAQH

ERKRE

FEERM  BAEETEE T mEUSIEAAK
B At AeRRERE-_tAE—TAA
BET - EBEHAXNELBERLD - Fit
EMfEEETRN%E_T=BtThAE
BET  AHMBMNE  HE FEMEHEZA
MTREST%ZETRAE-_FT—BLTEET -
Hep - WA BT ZBER+EST - F
8% ° g T BRHAXPRBREGRITIAR
UK I#HERILTeHEREERAYER LS
BEES —HNFEARRLE -

RBEEREXRER

SEMNMBRRFERSER SRR _Z
T+ A=+ —BZARBEETFES
ZE-tTHEE-—TAEEEL(ZEZZF
+-A=+—8:ZBHE-FHmEE=FRE=T
BEL)  RBLERA18T(ZTE-_ZTF+ A
=t+—H8:197)-

FREBEEeREYH S -TF+-_A=+—
AMAE+A~H #gNME-_FT=-_—F+=-A
=+—HH+TH #@omT:

- FEBEMA=TN\B(ZZ-FF
+ZA=t—H:=+HA)-

-  HEZRRFEBEHANT-RA(ZE
ZEFFTZA=t—H Rt ZH)

- ZSRNERRENZEBEH(TE
EBEME  BEAREBEZENER)
AN+ HE(ZETEF+_A=+—
B:p+—H)-

SEZFRELECIBRRITEREIRDR 2R
TEERABERBRBZLE)N/19%(ZF =
TEFT-A=+—H :18%) - HHERHES
BILLBIA58% : 42%(Z T _TF+-_A="+—
H :50% : 50%) ° EIEHA - £EDHHKELD
ZTAEETRARBEMNEERELAOTNE
ABLEHEZEER - BHEEEEGEXEE
&R SRR EHEREBSRRTRER
TR MI2AE Y EIR

ol

B —FFR



CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERE®mE

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

(continued)

During the Period, the Group continued to adopt a prudent financial
management policy. The Group did not enter into any material derivative
financial instruments, nor did the Group have any material foreign exchange
exposure during the Period. The Group’s revenue, mostly denominated
in Hong Kong dollars, RMB and US dollars, was fairly matched with the
currency requirements of its operating expenses.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2021, the Group employed a global workforce of
approximately 36,000 (31 December 2020: 36,000). Considering staff an
important asset, the Group continued to adopt sound human resources
management and planning which helps drive satisfactory results. In addition
to offering competitive salary packages, the Group grants share options and
discretionary bonuses to eligible employees based on the Group’s overall
financial achievements and employees’ individual performance. Kingboard
Management Academy established by the Group has actively nurtured mid-
rank and senior management personnel over the years. Furthermore, the
Group recruits and nurtures promising university graduates from mainland
China, Hong Kong and Taiwan every year. The Group will continue to
implement training to retain talents in a bid to gain fresh energy for long-term
development and to drive the Group’s continued growth.

FINANCIAL GUARANTEES CONTRACTS/
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

() The Group provided guarantees amounting to HK$336,601,000 (2020:
HK$586,022,000) as at 31 December 2021 to facilitate mortgage
bank loans applications of purchasers of the properties that were
developed by the Group.

The guarantees are given to banks with respect to loans procured by
the purchasers of properties that were developed by the Group. Such
guarantees will be released by banks upon delivery of the properties
to the purchasers and completion of registration of the relevant
mortgage properties. In the opinion of the Directors, the fair values
of these financial guarantee contracts of the Group are insignificant
at initial recognition and the Directors consider that the possibility of
default of the parties involved is remote. Accordingly, no value has
been recognised at the inception of the guarantee contracts and at
the end of the reporting period as at 31 December 2021 and 2020.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERE®mE

FINANCIAL GUARANTEES CONTRACTS/
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (continued)

(b)

On 3 August 2011, Annuity & Re Life Ltd (the “Petitioner”), the non-
controlling shareholder of Kingboard Copper Foil Holdings Limited
(“KBCF”), presented a petition in the Supreme Court of Bermuda
(the “Petition”) in respect of KBCF against its controlling shareholders
based on a complaint that the affairs of KBCF had been and/or
were being conducted in a manner which was oppressive or unfairly
prejudicial to the Petitioner.

The controlling shareholders of KBCF were eventually successful in
defending the case following a favourable judgement by the Bermuda
Court of Appeal dated 24 March 2017, Subsequently, the Petitioner
filed an appeal with the Privy Council. Such appeal was withdrawn
by the Petitioner following a settlement agreement reached by the
Petitioner and the respondents in the Petition.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the controlling
shareholders of KBCF had purchased all of the remaining issued
and outstanding ordinary shares in the capital of KBCF and KBCF
has become a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Kingboard Laminates
Holdings Limited (“KLHL”).

On 22 October 2018, the Petitioner commenced an action in the
Supreme Court of Bermuda under Civil Jurisdiction 2018: N0.359
against the respondents in the Petition based on purported breach of
the settlement agreement (the “Settlement Action”).

On 22 October 2020, the Group filed an application for striking out
part of the Petitioner’s claim under the Settlement Action (the “Strike-
Out Application”). The Strike Out Application was unsuccessful and
the substantive proceedings in the Settlement Action are continuing.

The trial of the Settlement Action is estimated to take place over 5
days sometime in quarter three or quarter four of 2022 at the earliest.

Based on the advice of the Company’s Bermuda Counsel to date,
the Board is of the opinion that the Settlement Action appears to be
intrinsically defective and that the Company should have a more than
reasonable chance to succeed. Accordingly, no provision for liability
has been made in connection with the claim.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERE®mE

PROSPECTS

We are full of confidence in the Group’s 2022 development. The Group will
build further upon its competitive advantages of a diversified and synergistic
business portfolio and a vertically integrated production model. The Group
will also remain committed to strict cost control and will step up technology-
driven capabilities such as fully implementation of big data management, in
hopes of putting each division into a new growth chapter. The management
team will remain committed to upgrading our research and development
capabilities, safe production, and environmental friendliness. We will also
maintain stringent cash flow management to build a healthier balance sheet,
as we proactively expand our market share. The Group sees opportunities
everywhere and an unlimited potential for development to come.

Laminates Division: The prospering electronics industry leads to sharply
rising demand for the raw materials of electronic products, including laminates
and their upstream materials. The laminates plant in Shaoguan, Guangdong
Province has been fully commissioned, adding a monthly capacity of 1.2
million sheets of glass epoxy laminates (FR4). Helped by the new capacity,
the division will be able to continue expanding the proportionate sales of high-
value-added laminates. In order to reinforce the competitive advantage of the
vertically integrated vale chain, the division will expand upstream capacities
in 2022. The plan is to add monthly capacities of 1,500 tonnes of copper fail,
4,200 tonnes of glass yarn and 13 million metres of glass fabric. In addition,
the Group is proactively looking into the feasibility of adding capacities for
laminates and upstream materials in Thailand in order to better serve our
overseas clients. The Group will also make a foray into extended end-user
industries like new energy batteries and package substrate, bringing new
development momentum to the division.

PCBs Division: The increasing uptake of new energy, development of the
digital economy and upgrades of artificial intelligence are leading a new
wave of development for PCBs. Revolving around the marketplace of 5G
base stations, servers and electric vehicles, the division’s product portfolio
enhancement efforts have paid off. Future themes for development will
continue to be focused on high-value-added upgrades. Supported by this,
the division aims to enhance its collaboration with clients. Emphasis will be
placed on strengthening the core competencies of the various PCB brands,
including Elec & Eltek, Techwise Circuits and Express Electronics, so as
to achieve constant value enhancement. The division will also fast-track its
capacity build-up, through acquiring production equipment that caters to
the consumer electronics, telecommunications and vehicle segments. The
division will bring in 1,600,000 square feet of additional capacity for multi-
layered PCBs in 2022. On top of this, the Group is exploring the feasibility of
expanding capacities for PCBs in Thailand.
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P ROS P ECTS (continued)

Chemicals Division: The green economy has become a key component
of the global economy, introducing new requirements and opportunities
into the chemicals industry. On the one hand, the bar has been raised on
carbon emission and environmental friendliness, which in effect propels
backward capacities out of the market. The division’s capacity has been built
on energy saving, low-carbon and environmentally-friendly principles, with
industry-leading production and emission standards, better positioning it to
acquire greater market share in this competitive environment. On the other
hand, the division will benefit from wider application of engineering-grade
plastic materials used to lower the weight of new energy vehicles, as well
as photovoltaic film and electric cables applied to solar power generators
and wing paddles in wind turbines. These end-user products will generate
demand for the division’s major chemical products such as phenol acetone,
acetic acid, Bisphenol A and epichlorohydrin. Thus, the division is proactively
planning for a number of large-scale chemicals projects along the current
core product lines. One such project under planning in Daya Bay, Huizhou,
will deliver an annual output of 450,000 tonnes of phenol acetone and
240,000 tonnes of Bisphenol A.

Property Division: The property market in mainland China is faced with
challenges brought by deleveraging. Under the general principle that ‘houses
are for living in, not for speculation’, the division will continue to exercise a
cautious business strategy. The division has had no newly added land reserve
over the past four years, and will launch its residential project in eastern China
for pre-sale according to schedule, in a bid to expedite capital recovery. In the
meantime, driven by the following three factors, the division’s rental income
will grow steadily: First, the lease-free period of the commercial property
located near the Kunshan high-speed railway station in Jiangsu Province has
expired. Second, the occupancy rate of Shanghai Kingboard Plaza Phase |l
has increased significantly. Third, the pandemic’s temporary negative impact
on the rental income of overseas properties has gradually subsided.
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KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

EERGREEAEZER

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. CHEUNG Kwok Wing, aged 66, BBS, JP, is the chairman and a co-
founder of the Group. He was the chairman and a non-executive director of
Elec & Eltek International Company Limited (“EEIC”), which is a subsidiary of
the Company listed on Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX”)
and dual-listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) until delisted on 25 September 2020 up to 1 August 2019. Mr.
Cheung was the chairman and director of Kingboard Copper Foil Holdings
Limited which is the subsidiary of the Company (listed on the SGX until
delisted on 10 June 2019) up to 3 January 2012. Mr. Cheung is a director
of Hallgain Management Limited, a substantial shareholder of the Company.
Mr. Cheung is the uncle of Ms. Ho Kin Fan, the cousin of Mr. Cheung Kwong
Kwan, the brother-in-law of Mr. Chang Wing Yiu and Mr. Ho Yin Sang and the
father of Mr. Cheung Ka Shing. Mr. Cheung had over 13 years’ experience
in the sales and distribution of electronic components including laminates
prior to the establishment of the Group. Mr. Cheung is responsible for the
overall strategic planning of the Group and sets the general direction and
goals for the Group. Mr. Cheung won the Young Industrialist Award of Hong
Kong 1993, which was organized by the Federation of Hong Kong Industries
(“FHKI”) and was described as “far-sighted, enterprising, and having insight
in the business”. Mr. Cheung was the winner of the DHL/SCMP Hong Kong
Business Award, accredited with the Owner-Operator Award in 2008. In
2011, Mr. Cheung was awarded the Honorary University Fellowships of The
University of Hong Kong. In 2013, Mr. Cheung was appointed as a member
of the National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference of The People’s Republic of China. In 2017, Mr. Cheung was
awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star in Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region. In 2021, Mr. Cheung was awarded the 2021 Industrialist of the
Year Award by FHKI and the Leader of the year 2020, winner of category of
“Commence & Industry/Finance” by Singtao Post.

Mr. CHANG Wing Yiu, aged 55, is the managing director of the Group. He is
the brother-in-law of Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing, the uncle-in-law of Ms. Ho Kin
Fan and Mr. Cheung Ka Shing. He joined the Group in 1989 and has over
32 years’ experience in laminates production. Mr. Chang graduated from the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University with a higher diploma in marine electronics.
He is responsible for the Group’s phenol/acetone plant in Yangzhou, Jiangsu
province and in Huizhou, Guangdong province. He was re-designated from
a non-executive director to an executive director of EEIC with effect from 1
August 2014.

Mr. CHEUNG Kwong Kwan, aged 57, is the cousin of Mr. Cheung Kwok
Wing and the uncle of Ms. Ho Kin Fan and Mr. Cheung Ka Shing. He joined
the Group in 1988 and has been working in the PCB industry since 1984
with particularly extensive experience in marketing components and materials
required for PCB production. Mr. Cheung is responsible for the Group’s
chemical business operations and property developments in southern China.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES
EEREREBABZER

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. HO Yin Sang, aged 67, is the father of Ms. Ho Kin Fan, the brother-in-
law of Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing and the uncle-in-law of Mr. Cheung Ka Shing.
He joined the Group in 1989 and is responsible for the Group’s chemical
business operations in Hebei province.

Mr. CHEUNG Ka Shing, aged 34, was appointed as an executive Director
with effect from 1 August 2014. He joined the Group in 2009 and is
responsible for the property development business of the Group in eastern
China. Mr. Cheung obtained his Bachelor of Science degree in the study of
Management with International Business at the University of London in 2009.
Mr. Cheung is the son of Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing, the cousin of Ms. Ho Kin
Fan and the nephew of Mr. Cheung Kwong Kwan and nephew-in-law of Mr.
Chang Wing Yiu and Mr. Ho Yin Sang.

Ms. Ho Kin Fan, aged 43, was appointed as an executive Director on 1
October 2021. She joined the Group in 2006 and she is responsible for
the Group’s PCB plants in Huizhou, Qingyuan and Dongguan, Guangdong
province and has over 10 years’ experience in PCB business. She is the
daughter of Mr. Ho Yin Sang, niece of Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing, Mr. Chang
Wing Yiu and Mr. Cheung Kwong Kwan and the cousin of Mr. Cheung Ka
Shing.

Mr. CHEN Maosheng, aged 58, was appointed as an executive Director
on 11 January 2011. He joined the Group in 1996 and is currently the chief
financial controller of the Group in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”).
He is responsible for the management of the finance and tax matters of the
Group in the PRC. Prior to joining the Group, he worked with the finance and
economics department of the government of the PRC for 12 years. Mr. Chen
graduated from Jiangxi Finance and Economics University (formerly known
as Jiangxi Finance and Economics Institution) in 1990. He is an accountant
certified by the finance department of the government of the PRC.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES
EEREREBABZER

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. CHEUNG Ming Man, aged 65, was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company with effect from 1 November 2015. Mr.
Cheung is also the chairman of the nomination committee of the Company,
and a member of the audit committee and remuneration committee of
the Company. Mr. Cheung has extensive experience in the performance
and cultural sector. Mr. Cheung participated in a number of community
associations, including the Hong Kong Chinese Importers’ & Exporters’
Association (Vice Honorary Secretary); The Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region Election Committee (First, Second and Third Election Committee
Member); Deputy of the National People’s Congress of PRC Election
Committee (Ninth, Tenth and Eleventh Election Committee Member) and
was awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star in 2010. Mr. Cheung was elected as
the Hong Kong deputy to the 12th National People’s Congress in December
2012. Mr. Cheung was an independent non-executive director of Mei Ah
Entertainment Group Limited (stock code: 00391), a company listed on the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Dr. CHONG Kin Ki, aged 66, was appointed as independent non-executive
director of the Company on 1 July 2016. Dr. Chong is also the chairman of
the remuneration committee of the Company, and a member of the audit
committee and nomination committee of the Company. Dr. Chong obtained
a Bachelor of Medicine and Bachelor of Surgery from the University of
Hong Kong in 1980. He became a Fellow of the Royal College of Surgeons
of Edinburgh in 1984, a Foundation Fellow of the Hong Kong Academy of
Medicine in 1993, a Foundation Fellow of the Hong Kong College of Surgeons
in 1993. Dr. Chong has been a private medical practitioner since 1989 and
become a Registered Specialist in General Surgery since 1993.

Mr. CHAN Wing Kee, GBM, GBS, OBE, JP, aged 75, was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director on 1 July, 2017. He received a
Bachelor’s degree in Industrial Engineering in 1970 and he has over 50
years of experience in the textiles and garment manufacturing industry. Mr.
Chan joined Yangtzekiang Garment Limited (stock code: 294), a garment
manufacturer, in 1970 as was appointed as a managing director in 1987
and has been an executive director of which since then. He is an executive
director of YGM Trading Limited (stock code: 375), a marketer and builder
of international apparel brands in Asia. He is a Standing Committee Member
of The 10th, 11th and 12th of The Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference; Deputy of the 8th and 9th National People’s Congress of China;
Member of the Selection Committee of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region; Ex-member of Commission on Strategic Development of Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region; Ex-member of Economic Council of Macau
Special Administrative Region; Ex-member of the Hong Kong Textile Advisory
Board; Committee Member of the Preparatory Committee for Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region and Advisor of Hong Kong Affairs.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES
EEREREBABZER

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

(continued)

Mr. Stanley Chung Wai Cheong, aged 52, was appointed as independent
non-executive director of the Company on 31 October 2020. Mr. Chung is
also the chairman of the audit committee of the Company, and a member of
the nomination committee and remuneration committee of the Company. Mr.
Chung graduated with a Bachelor of Commerce Degree from the University
of Melbourne in 1993. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and is a certified practicing accountant of CPA
Australia. Mr. Chung possesses over 25 years’ experience in accounting
and financial management. He had also served as the financial controller for
a number of listed companies in Hong Kong between 1997 and 2010, and
as the Chief Financial Officer in Asia for both private and public multinational
companies over the past decade. He is currently the General Manager and
Regional Finance Director of AMI Hong Kong Holdco Limited. Mr. Chung was
appointed as the financial controller and company secretary of the Company
from 1997 to 2001, and as an independent non-executive director of Elec &
Eltek International Company Limited, a subsidiary of the Company, from 2011
to 12 October 2020.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. LO Ka Leong, aged 48, the Company Secretary, joined the Group in
May 1999. Prior to that, he was an accountant at an international accounting
firm. Mr. Lo is a fellow member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. He holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Professional Accountancy
from The Chinese University of Hong Kong. He is in charge of the company
secretarial work of the Group. He is a non-executive director of KLHL, a
73.76% owned subsidiary listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange.
Mr. Lo has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during
the year ended 31 December 2021 in accordance with Rule 3.29 of the
Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEERE

The Directors present their annual report and the audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The activities of its principal
subsidiaries, an associate and joint ventures are set out in Notes 45, 19 and
20 respectively to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 can
be found in the section headed “Chairman’s Statement” of this annual report,
which forms part of this Directors’ Report.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Group is exposed to various risks and uncertainties which are specific to
the Group and/or the industries in which the Group operates. These risks may
materially affect the Group’s business operations, financial condition, results
of operations and business prospects. The Group has identified the key risks
and uncertainties as follows:

Product defects

The products of the Group may contain defects that can only be detected
when the electronics systems into which they are incorporated are in use.
The Group could be exposed to significant liability claims in the event that its
products are found to be defective. While the Group has implemented sound
systems to monitor its products at various stages of its production processes,
no assurance can be given that the Group’s products are free of defects.
Any significant liability claims could have an adverse impact on the results of
operations and reputation of the Group.

Customer contracts

The Group typically enters into one-off purchase orders with its customers. As
such, the amount of purchase orders may vary significantly from time to time,
and it is difficult to forecast the amount of orders to be received by the Group
in the future. No assurance can be given that the Group’s customers will
continue to place purchase orders with it in the future in similar amounts to
prior periods, if at all. As a result, the results of operations of the Group may
vary significantly in the future.

Competitive industry

The business segments in which the Group operates are highly competitive.
No assurance can be given that the Group will be able to compete
successfully against its current competitors or emerging companies in
the future. If the Group fails to compete effectively, the Group’s results of
operations, financial condition and business prospects may be materially and
adversely affected.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEgWRE

BUS' N ESS REVIEW (continued)

Principal Risks and Uncertainties (continued)

Recent global market fluctuations and economic conditions

The recent global market fluctuations and economic conditions have
adversely affected economies and businesses around the world. A slowdown
in the global economy, in particular, the PRC economy, and the impact of
COVID-19 could lead to a reduction in demand for the Group’s products and
may materially and adversely affect its business operations, financial condition
and results of operations.

The risks and uncertainties stated above are not meant to be exhaustive.
There may be other risks or uncertainties that are not known to the Group or
which may not be material now but could turn out to be material in the future.

Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group is committed to achieving environmental sustainability. The Group
endeavours to comply with the relevant laws and regulations regarding
environmental protection and adopt effective measures to achieve efficient use
of resources, waste reduction and energy saving. For instance, the in-house
manufacturing facilities of the Group operate in compliance with the relevant
environmental rules and regulations. The Group reviews its environmental
policies on a regular basis.

In accordance with Rule 13.91 and the ESG Reporting Guide contained in
Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules, the Company’s Environmental, Social and
Governance Report will be available on our website in due course.

Compliance with Relevant Laws and Regulations

The Group and its business operations are subject to various laws, rules and
regulations. The Company seeks to ensure adherence to such laws, rules
and regulations through various measures such as internal controls, approval
procedures, staff trainings and oversight of business operations at different
levels of the Group. The Board also monitors the Group’s policies and
practices on compliance with relevant laws, rules and regulations on a regular
basis.

So far as the Directors and senior management are aware, for the year
ended 31 December 2021, the Group has obtained the approvals, permits,
consents, licences and registrations required for its business and operations,
and there was no material breach of the relevant laws and regulations by our
Group that have a significant impact on the Group.
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Key Relationships with Stakeholders

The Company understands the importance of maintaining a good relationship
with its employees, customers and suppliers in order to operate in a
sustainable manner and to meet its immediate and long-term goals.

The Company strongly believes that employees are its most important
and valuable assets. In order to recognise the performance of and provide
incentives for its employees, the Group reviews its policies on remuneration
and benefits for its employees regularly to ensure that they are in line with the
market standard. The Group reviews and improves catering, residence and
recreational facilities and services to provide a pleasant living environment to
the employees regularly. The Group organises various recreational activities
for its staff to participate to maintain a close relationship with its employees.

The Company maintains sound relationships with its customers and suppliers
which enable the Group to foster long term business benefits. The Directors
and senior management of the Company endeavours to exchange business
ideas and updates of the Group with its customers and suppliers from time to
time. To maintain its competitiveness, the Group aims to deliver high quality
of products and services to its customers.

During the year, there was no material and significant dispute between the
Group and its employees, customers or suppliers.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 68.

An interim dividend of HK56 cents per ordinary share amounting to
HK$620,924,000 in aggregate respectively was declared to the Shareholders
during the year. The directors recommend the payment of a final dividend
of HK244 cents per ordinary share to the Shareholders on the register of
members of the Company on 21 June 2022, being the record date for
determining the entitlement of Shareholders to the proposed final dividend,
amounting to HK$2,705,452,000, in aggregate, and the retention of the
remaining profit in the Company.

For the final dividend in respect of year ended 31 December 2021 proposed
by the Directors and subject to the approval by the Shareholders in
the forthcoming annual general meeting, please refer to Note 12 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has a dividend policy, the objective of which is to allow
the Shareholders to participate in the Company’s profits whilst retaining
adequate reserves to sustain the Group’s future growth. The declaration,
form, frequency and amount of dividend paid by the Company must be in
accordance with relevant laws and regulations and subject to the articles of
association of the Company. In deciding whether to declare any dividend,
the Board will take into account a number of factors, including the financial
results, the distributable reserves, the operations and liquidity requirements,
and the current and future development plans of the Company. The Board
will review the dividend policy of the Company as appropriate from time to
time.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of the movements in investment properties of the Group during the
year are set out in Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

INVESTMENTS

As at 31 December 2021, the Group held in aggregate approximately
HK$9,577 million (2020: HK$7,865 million) investments in securities
instruments, representing approximately 9% (2020: 8%) of the total asset of
the Group as at 31 December 2021. These securities investment consist of
mostly shares listed on Main Board of the Stock Exchange and bonds issued
mainly by companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. The
Group acquired these securities instruments through on-market purchases.
The Group will from time to time monitor the price movement of prices in
securities and bonds and may adjust its investment portfolio as and when
appropriate.
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I NVESTM ENTS (continued)

The following table sets out the securities investments held by the Group
in respect of the same issuer which the Group considers to be relatively
significant as at 31 December 2021. None of the value of the following (or
any other) securities investments of the Company, on a standalone or (where
applicable) aggregate basis reached 5% or more of the total assets of the
Company as of the end of the reporting period:

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

BRE =)

TRENAKER T —_—F+-_A=1—H
RA—FTARAENAEERREHEENE
FRE - BEREHR - ARRAT (HAEFME
) EFRENEEEFXR(WMER)EFERE
KRB EEERISRTIA L

Fair value
as at % to the Bond
Number of %of  Investment 31 December Group’s interestfor  Gain (loss)  Unrealised
Name of investments bondheld  bonds held cost 2021 total assets theyear  on disposal loss
R=B=-%
A
2P KEZ =t-A fR&ER REE  HERE/ ABE
REEH B588  BRESM RERK WATE HEERAMN EHRIE (F8) it
'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Th Tén Thn TEn TEn Tn
Bond listed on Singapore Exchange Securties Tradng — BME /IHERER A (RERE L -
Limited (*SGX’) by Guangzhou R&F Properties Co, Ltd.  RIAES : 2777) MR L2 (5%
(HK stock code: 2777):
(i fixed coupon rate of 5.875% per annum and IEBES5875EZEFES
maturity date in February 2023 IR-ZE-=F_RYH 34,000 5.7% 258,566 103,372 0.10% 16,301 1,457 (155,194)
(i) fixed coupon rate of 8.125% per annum and (H)EE FE8.15E ETRE
maturtty date in February 2023 St E‘Jﬁﬁ 5,000 1.1% 29,545 15,920 0.02% 2467 2,283 (13,625)
(i fixed coupon rate of 8.125% per annum and (m)ﬁﬁﬁ £8.15E ZETRE
maturtty date in July 2024 TR-E-MELRHES 4,000 0.9% 25,651 12,104 0.01% 1,024 - (13,547)
(i) fixed coupon rate of 8.625% per annum and WEEFE86BEZETES
maturity date in February 2024 TRZE-ME-AE 2,000 0.5% 14,131 5979 0.01% 602 - (8,152)
(v)fixed coupon rate of 8.625% per annum and AEES86BEZETES
maturity date in March 2024 TH-E-mE=AE 2,000 0.5% 14,139 5,894 0.01% 596 - (8,245)
(v) fixed coupon rate of 9.125% per annum and ()REEELIBEZETES
maturtty date in July 2022 PR-B-—ELAYH 1,000 0.3% 6,173 3,993 0.01% 846 1,930 (2,780)
(v fixedl coupon rate of 11.625% per annum and (VIEEFE1165EZETES
maturity date in September 2024 TRZE-MENAZE 55,000 169% 415218 164,071 0.16% 35,161 - (251,147)
(v} fixed coupon rate of 11.75% per annum and (VilEEEEN B ETES
maturity date in August 2023 YR-Z-ZEN\RHE 94,700 189% 738,462 310,610 0.30% 81,118 213 (427,852)
(i) fixed coupon rate of 12.375% per annum and WEBEE123E BT RS
maturiy date in November 2022 TH=F-—5+-R34 101,000 281% 780,956 355,740 0.34% 94,261 O (425.216)
2,283,441 977,683 0.96% 282,316 4906 (1,305,758)
In terms of bond investments, the Group retained a certain number of listed MEHFEEMS AKERBETH®HEN LT

bonds in order to generate stable and fixed interest income. Overall the Group
downsized its bond investments from 2020 as part of the investment strategy.
The Group’s bond portfolio (including those as set out in the above table)
totaled a fair value of approximately HK$1,035 million as at 31 December
2021 (and the corresponding total investment cost was approximately
HK$2,342 million). During the year, interest income from bond investments
amounted to approximately HK$274 million representing an increase of
approximately 32% compared to approximately HK$207 million in 2020.
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I NVESTM ENTS (continued)

Guangzhou R&F Properties Co., Ltd. (stock code: 2777) (“GRFP”) is
principally engaged in the properties sector.

Based on the announcements of GRFP dated 13 November 2017, 4 January
2018, 21 February 2019, 5 July 2019, 28 February 2020, 18 January 2019,
24 February 2021, 26 January 2021 and 12 November 2020: (i) the senior
notes (“GRFP February 2023 Senior Notes — 5.875%") were issued by GRFP
in November 2017 and January 2018, and due in February 2023. The GRFP
February 2023 Senior Notes — 5.875% are listed on the SGX and carry an
interest of 5.875% per annum and interests are payable semi-annually. The
net proceeds from the GRFP February 2023 Senior Notes — 5.875% were
intended to be used to refinance debt and for general corporate purposes of
GREFP; (i) the senior notes (“GRFP February 2023 Senior Notes — 8.125%”)
were issued by GRFP in February 2019, and due in February 2023. The
GRFP February 2023 Senior Notes — 8.125% are listed on SGX and carry an
interest of 8.125% per annum and interests are payable semi-annually. The
net proceeds from the GRFP February 2023 Senior Notes — 8.125% were
mainly for offshore refinancing; (iii) the senior notes (“GRFP July 2024 Senior
Notes”) were issued by GRFP in July 2019, and due in July 2024. The GRFP
July 2024 Senior Notes are listed on SGX and carry an interest of 8.125%
per annum and interests are payable semi-annually. The net proceeds from
the GRFP July 2024 Senior Notes were mainly for offshore refinancing;
(iv) the senior notes (“GRFP February 2024 Senior Notes”) were issued by
GRFP in February 2019, and due in February 2024. The GRFP February
2024 Senior Notes are listed on SGX and carry an interest of 8.625% per
annum and interests are payable semi-annually. The net proceeds from the
GRFP February 2024 Senior Notes were mainly for offshore refinancing; (v)
the senior notes (“GRFP March 2024 Senior Notes”) were issued by GRFP
in February 2020, and due in March 2024. The GRFP March 2024 Senior
Notes are listed on the SGX and carry an interest of 8.625% per annum and
interests are payable semi-annually. The net proceeds from the GRFP March
2024 Senior Notes were mainly for refinancing medium to long-term debt
that will be due within one year, (vi) the senior notes (“GRFP July 2022 Senior
Notes”) were issued by GRFP in January 2019, and due in July 2022. The
GRFP July 2022 Senior Notes are listed on the SGX and carry an interest
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of 9.125% per annum and interests are payable semi-annually. The net
proceeds from the GRFP July 2022 Senior Notes were mainly for offshore
refinancing; (vii) the senior notes (“GRFP September 2024 Senior Notes”)
were issued by GRFP in February 2021, and due in September 2024. The
GRFP September 2024 Senior Notes are listed on the SGX and carry an
interest of 11.625% per annum and interests are payable semi-annually. The
net proceeds from the GRFP September 2024 Senior Notes were mainly for
refinancing medium to long-term debt that will be due within one year; (vii))
the senior notes (“GRFP August 2023 Senior Notes”) were issued by GRFP
in January 2021, and due in August 2023. The GRFP August 2023 Senior
Notes are listed on the SGX and carry an interest of 11.75% per annum and
interests are payable semi-annually. The net proceeds from the GRFP August
20283 Senior Notes were mainly for refinancing medium to long-term debt
that will be due within one year; and (ix) the senior notes (“GRFP November
2022 Senior Notes”) were issued by GRFP in November 2020, and due in
November 2022. The GRFP November 2022 Senior Notes are listed on the
SGX and carry on interest of 12.375% per annum and interests are payable
semi-annually. The net proceeds from the GRFP November 2022 Senior
Notes were mainly for refinancing medium to long-term debt that will be due
within one year.

According to the announcement of unaudited annual result for the year
ended 31 December 2021 of GRFP, the net debt to total equity ratio of GRFP
decreased to 123% at 31 December 2021 from 130% at 31 December 2020.

For further information of the business and financial performance of the above
company, please refer to the report and announcements referred in the above
paragraphs. Please also refer to the respective publications of the above
company from time to time for updates on their prospects and performances.
The report and announcements referred above do not form part of this annual
report and do not constitute any publication issued by, or any opinion, advice
or view of, the Company or any of the Directors.

The Group’s Investment Strategy for These Investments

Our investment portfolio is comprised mainly of listed securities of a variety
of blue-chip listed companies and debt securities issued by creditable
listed companies in Hong Kong. Our investment objective is to generate
stable interest and dividend income and create value for the Group and its
shareholders.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year are set out in Note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements during the year in the issued share capital of the
Company are set out in Note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to
Shareholders by reason of their holding of Company’s shares.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
SHARES

During the year, there was no purchase, sale or redemption by the Company,
or any of subsidiaries, of its listed securities.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE
COMPANY

The Company'’s reserves available for distribution to the Shareholders as at
31 December 2021 comprised the retained profits of HK$520,320,000 (2020:
retained profits of HK$53,443,000).

In addition to the retained profits of the Company, the share premium of the
Company are also available for distribution to the Shareholders provided
that the Company will be able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary
course of business immediately following the date on which any such
distribution is proposed to be paid.

At 31 December 2021, the sum of the retained profits and the share premium
of the Company amounted to HK$7,151,279,000 (2020: HK$6,619,303,000).
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DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

The directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing (Chairman)

Mr. Chang Wing Yiu (Managing Director)
Mr. Cheung Kwong Kwan

Mr. Ho Yin Sang

Ms. Cheung Wai Lin, Stephanie
Mr. Cheung Ka Shing

Ms. Ho Kin Fan

Mr. Chen Maosheng

(resigned on 1 October 2021)

(appointed on 1 October 2021)

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. Cheung Ming Man

Dr. Chong Kin Ki

Mr. Chan Wing Kee

Mr. Stanley Chung Wai Cheong

At the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company, each of Mr.
Cheung Kwok Wing, Mr. Cheung Kwong Kwan and Ms. Ho Kin Fan, being
executive directors and Mr. Cheung Ming Man and Mr. Chan Wing Kee, being
independent non-executive directors, will retire from directorship by rotation
and will be eligible for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company in accordance with Article 82 and Article 92 of the Company’s
articles of association. Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing, Mr. Cheung Kwong Kwan
and Ms. Ho Kin Fan, being executive directors, and Mr. Cheung Ming Man
and Mr. Chan Wing Kee, being independent non-executive directors, will offer
themselves for re-election.

Biographical details of the above Directors are set out in the section “Directors’
and Senior Management’s Biographies”.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company has a service contract which is not terminable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES

At 31 December 2021, the interests of the Directors and their associates N-_ZE—
in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its

associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and g

Futures Ordinance (“SFQO”)), as recorded in the register maintained by the
Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers, were as follows:

Long position

(a)

rRE

Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each of the Company (“Shares”) (a)

Name of Director

EEHR

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing (Note 1)
SR B 8 4 A (B EE)

Mr. Chang Wing Yiu (Note 2)
BB S A (M E2)

Mr. Cheung Kwong Kwan
REBLE

Mr. Ho Yin Sang (Note 3)

A A 5 A (FFRES)

Mr. Cheung Ka Shing

REM L

Mr. Cheung Ming Man
SREAGUE A

Dr. Chong Kin Ki (Note 4)
JEERIHEE A (PHT4)

Mr. Chan Wing Kee
BRoKILSE A4

Capacity

REEME

Beneficial owner/Interest of spouse
EnlEAA TR

Beneficial owner/Interest of spouse
EnlEAA TR

Beneficial owner

BnEBA

Beneficial owner/Interest of spouse
EnlEAA/ TBEzs

Beneficial owner

BnEBA

Beneficial owner

BnEBA

Beneficial owner/Interest of spouse
EnlEAA TR

Beneficial owner

BEmEAA

([ F LS
RN HEST

EIGPIE362168FE 2
RIEEMETAERETE
EAEARRE R ST

BEHEEERRAA

ESzROER

——H+ZA=+—H BFERESZ
3 Y N N/N T&E*B%wﬁ@(i%iﬁ%&
161 1) EBEXVED) 2 I )

BmAEAR 7*&?)%.:4%&%@
BroMpracir s e -
R HHIELE

S

KA EREEIIBIZEER(TR

Approximate
percentage of

Number of the issued
issued share capital
Shares held of the Company
EARRE
B 8T BBRITRAE
REE ZEHNBEDL
5,325,905 0.4803%
9,543,228 0.8607%
5,136,500 0.4633%
685,700 0.0618%
965,500 0.0871%
35,000 0.0032%
100,000 0.0090%
285,000 0.0257%
—T—FFR
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KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES EEzROEDZ®

(continued)

Long position (continued) REW®)

(a) Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each of the Company (“Shares”) (a)

(continued)
Notes:

(1) Out of the 5,325,905 Shares, 5,040,405 Shares were held by Mr. Cheung
Kwok Wing and 285,500 Shares were held by his spouse.

) Out of the 9,643,228 Shares, 8,872,488 Shares were held by Mr. Chang
Wing Yiu and 670,740 Shares were held by his spouse.

Q) QOut of the 685,700 Shares, 655,000 Shares were held by Mr. Ho Yin Sang
and 30,700 Shares were held by his spouse.

(4) Out of the 100,000 Shares, 80,000 Shares were held by Dr. Chong Kin Ki
and 20,000 Shares were held by his spouse.

(b) Share options of the Company (“Share Options”) (b)
Name of Director Capacity
EEn Rty
Mr. Cheung Ka Shing Beneficial owner
REKEE EmBAA
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ERRAEREEIEBTZEBR (TR
71 (&)

BRE -
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M F%53825905 Ik 9 & - E A
5,040,405 % B 17 Ty R SR Bl &R S HE AR A
6 - m285,50008% 8% {5 Al A L FL B35
ﬁ °

MR Z9543,228 Rk & H - E AP
8,872,488/ ik 15 Ty R BB KB ST E AR A
BH - 670,740 81 Al KA (B%
E °

7 % 685,700 ik I fp & R - H &
655,0000% A& 1 75 F Al 36 4 58 A2 2R A5
A ¢ 30,7000 8% 5 Bl HELBIF A -

100,000 & 15 & 4+ E 80,000
A TR EHELERAREE M
20,0000& f& 5 Bl R KL B B35 A o

RARBRE(BRED

Interest in
underlying Shares
pursuant to the
Share Options
RIS R
REBRDHER

20,000
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES

(continued)

Long position (continued)
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each (“KLHL Shares”) in KLHL, a
non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company

(c)

Name of Director

EEpR

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing (Note)
SR [B £ 5 A (BT RE)

Mr. Chang Wing Yiu

ERK RS A

Mr. Ho Yin Sang

fal A e A

Mr. Cheung Kwong Kwan
REE A

Mr. Cheung Ka Shing
REK S E

Dr. Chong Kin Ki
GTERIEEE A

Note:

Out of the 2,679,000 KLHL Shares, 2,199,000 KLHL Shares were held by Mr.

Capacity

EmEitE

Beneficial owner/Interest of spouse

Ena A TiEE
Beneficial owner
Em=EAA
Beneficial owner
Em=EAA
Beneficial owner
Em=EAA
Beneficial owner
E=EAA
Interest of spouse
iRt

Cheung Kwok Wing and 480,000 KLHL Shares were held by his spouse.

BHEHEERRAQH

EECRDER

REW®)

() ADRFZERBHMELAREREER
EREECIBIZEER((EEEE

R

Number of
issued KLHL
Shares held
e 817
EEERENR
ROEE

2,679,000

11,820,000

809,000

3,000,000

379,000

50,000

PR -

Approximate
percentage
of the issued
share capital
of KLHL
IHEEERER
2RITRAE
ZHBHNBE DL

0.0859%

0.3788%

0.0259%

0.0962%

0.0121%

0.0016%

M 5%2,679,000 8 ZETEERB M EFR - Eh

2,199,0004% 2285 1& [& 1 A 1)

TyHSREISR AR

AFFE - M480,000 % 285 15 fE M ik 4 Al By H Aic

BE -

ol
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES

(continued)

Long position (continued)

(d) Non-voting deferred shares of HK$1 each in the share
capital of Kingboard Laminates Limited, a non-wholly owned

subsidiary of the Company

Name of Director

ESpR

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing
SREIE e A4

Mr. Chang Wing Yiu
kBt

Mr. Cheung Kwong Kwan
REE A

Mr. Ho Yin Sang
Al e A

Capacity

EEME

Beneficial owner
E=BAA
Beneficial owner
E=BEAA
Beneficial owner
EmBAA
Beneficial owner
E=BAA

Note:  None of the non-voting deferred shares of Kingboard Laminates Limited are
held by the Group. Such deferred shares carry no rights to receive notice
of or to attend or vote at any general meeting of Kingboard Laminates
Limited and have practically no rights to dividends or to participate in any

distribution on winding up.

Other than as disclosed above, none of the Directors nor their
associates had any interests or short positions in any shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
as at 31 December 2021. Further details of the share options of the
Company and its subsidiaries and the Directors’ interests in them are
available in the section headed “Share Options” in and Note 32 to the

consolidated financial statements of this Report.
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EECRDER

REW®E®)

d) ZATFREREMELTREEER
ERAARADESRAEIETZER
ERELERS

Number of
non-voting
deferred
shares held
(Note)
FEERER
EERDEE
(F5E)

1,904,400
423,200
846,400

529,000

s - AKESESAERERERARARZ
BRFERERD - ZFRLERND L E
M AT EBGRB T B IR A R A RERIAR
RRGBEHHFEERAGENE L&
FZHER) - TS B BB B BB
EREMDIR EEET

bR Em#EEN R =—F+=A
—t—HB BEEESRSEIHEAL
RARQ B S HAT AR EE(FERE
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B DS EHP AT RREESER -
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SHARE OPTIONS

Particulars of the share option schemes of the Company and KLHL (including
their vesting and exercise period) are set out in Note 32 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Under the Scheme of the Company, on 1 April 2021 and 2 June 2021,
an aggregate of 3,000,000 share options were exercised at the exercise
prices of HK$17.304 per share with closing market price of HK$42.00
and HK$40.85 on the immediately preceding business days respectively
and weighted average closing prices of HK$39.50 and HK$42.22 on the
immediately preceding five business day respectively.

The following table discloses movements in the Share Options under the
Scheme during the year:

BHEHEERRAQH

B

ARBRRBREERBRE SIS (REER
BEARATES) SR ER A MBS MRMES2 -

BERAQNFNTE > R-ZT-_—FWA—B8K
—ZET-—FXA=H & +3,000,0001 8 k%
EEEIEFR17.304B TTHITEBEREITE - MR
BEITEARRATEBRAERE S B AT —EE
XA /UTIE 5 Bl A42.007% 7T &2 40.8578 7T &
A T B A N S U TR (B 95 51 /339.5078 Tt
42.2277C °

TREBHHEETRERBEREN 2 B

Outstanding Outstanding
as at as at
1 January Granted Exercised 31 December
2021  during the year during the year 2021
R=B=-% R=Z=-%
—-A-H t=A=t-H
i RATHE RERRH RERTTHRE iel RATHE
Directors £
Mr. Ho Yin Sang AT E 1,500,000 - (1,500,000) -
Mr. Cheung Ka Shing KRS 1,520,000 - (1,500,000 20,000
3,020,000 - (3,000,000 20,000
—T—FFR
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SHAR E O PTlO N S (continued)

Save as disclosed, no share option was exercised during the year under
review. There was no share option granted, cancelled or had lapsed under
the Company’s or its subsidiaries share option schemes during the year
under review.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Other than the options as disclosed above, at no time during the year was
the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable
the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENT OR
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Connected Transactions” in this
report and in Note 44 to the consolidated financial statements, (a) there is no
transaction, arrangement or contract of significant subsisting during or at the
end of 31 December 2021 in which a Director or a an entity connected with
a Director is or was materially interested, either directly or indirectly; (b) there
is no contract of significance between the Company or any of its subsidiaries,
and the controlling shareholder of the Company or any of its subsidiaries;
(c) there is no contract of significance for the provision of services to the
Company or any of its subsidiaries by the controlling shareholder of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

At 31 December 2021, the register of substantial Shareholders maintained
by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO shows that, other than
the interests disclosed above in respect of certain Directors, the following
Shareholders had notified the Company of relevant interests or short positions
in the issued share capital of the Company.

Name of shareholder Capacity

REREMH EEtE

Hallgain Management Limited (“Hallgain”) Beneficial owner

(Note) (H5E) BaEBAA
FMR LLC Investment manager
WEKE
Fidelity Puritan Trust Investment manager
WEKE

(] The letter “L” denotes a long position.

Note:  As at 31 December 2021: (i) no shareholder of Hallgain was entitled to exercise, or
control the exercise of, directly or indirectly, one-third or more of the voting power at
general meetings of Hallgain, and Hallgain and its directors were not accustomed to
act in accordance with any shareholder’s direction; and (i) Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing,
being a Director, was also a director of Hallgain.

Other than as disclosed above, the Company had not been notified of any
other relevant interests or short positions in the issued share capital of the
Company as at 31 December 2021 which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO,
or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under Section 336 of the SFO.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has adopted the principles of
good corporate governance and complied with the applicable code provisions
as set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules throughout the year ended 31 December
2021, save for the deviation that independent non-executive Directors are not
appointed for specific terms pursuant to paragraph A.4.1 of the CG Code.

BHEHEERRAQH

FERR

RBARRBIZES M EGIIFEB6IHATFE
ZEZREAMMALE KB —F+-8
=t—B  TIBRR(EXMEEETEEZ#E
wRIN B MG ARRRERARR D BITHRA
A RS SER -

Approximate
percentage

Number of of the issued
issued share capital

Shares held of the Company
LERANG|

Frise 817 2RITRA
RHEE 2N B
446,222,700 (L) 40.24%
110,514,012 (L) 9.97%
88,451,221 (L) 7.99%

L [LIFRERR -

Mizt: RZTZZ—F+ZA=+—8 : ()FifEHalgainik
REENHallgainlR R A1 TE sk B sk E
BITTE=9 —sk A 2 FRORE - MHallgain & &
ESWMERRBEMBERIERTS  R()ES
REILESE A IR AHallgain B2 -

BB EN  ARABEENER _-F
T+ A=+ HZAREBETRAS
RIEES MG ROIEXVEPE2 R33N E 2 R F
ARARNRWE 2 EMEMAEERRER -
HARIEE 7 K E IR0 533616 R E AR RIAR
TF 2 B M rsk  EREmRRERSRER -

EER

BEERR BELFATERWIFREBLEE
ASTRI(TREERST A BRE A4 BIRS
EERREZRBEERZIN - ARRHE-F
TH T A=t HLEFEACDRBREE
XERRAIRET EMRRAIM S4BT 2 B%
BIAST RIS 2 A ST RIS -
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (continued)

On 1 January 2022, the amendments to the Corporate Governance Code
(the “New CG Code”) came into effect and the requirements under the
New CG Code will apply to corporate governance reports for financial year
commencing on or after 1 January 2022. The Board will continue to review
and enhance its corporate governance practice of the Company to ensure
compliance with the New CG Code, align with the latest developments, and
meet the rising expectations of shareholders and investors.

For further information on the Group’s corporate governance practices during
the year, please refer to the Corporate Governance Report in this annual

report.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

In 2021, the Group had the following non-exempt continuing connected
transactions (which are also related party transactions) within the meaning of
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules:

(@)

KHL/Hallgain Purchase Framework Agreement

On 25 October 2019, the Company and Hallgain entered into a
purchase framework agreement pursuant to which the Group agreed
to purchase certain materials for the production of PCBs such as
copper balls and drill bits from Hallgain and its subsidiaries (the
“Hallgain Group”) from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2022.

On 19 July 2021, taking into account the increasing trend in the
transaction volume, the Company and Hallgain entered into new
purchase framework agreement (the “KHL/Hallgain Purchase
Framework Agreement”) to which the Group agreed to purchase
certain materials for the production of PCBs such as copper balls and
drill bits from the Hallgain Group from 19 July 2021 to 31 December
2023. Under the KHL/Hallgain Purchase Framework Agreement,
the amount of materials to be purchased is not fixed but is to be
determined and agreed between the parties from time to time. The
actual quantity, specification and price (with reference to the prevailing
market price) of the materials under the KHL/Hallgain Purchase
Framework Agreement will be subject to the individual orders placed
by the Group with the Hallgain Group. The proposed annual cap for
the three years ending 31 December 2023 are HK$1,000,000,000,
HK$1,070,000,000 and HK$1,150,000,000, respectively. Please refer
to the Company’s joint announcement dated 19 July 2021 for further
information.

The transactions contemplated under the KHL/Hallgain Purchase
Framework Agreement constituted continuing connected transactions
for the Company pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules on
the basis that Hallgain is a substantial Shareholder and hence a
connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(@)

(b)

KHL/Hallgain Purchase Framework Agreement
(continued)

The annual cap and the actual transaction amount of the transactions
contemplated under the KHL/Hallgain Purchase Framework
Agreement for the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out in the
table below.

KLHL/Hallgain Supply Framework Agreement

On 25 October 2019, KLHL and Hallgain entered into a supply
framework agreement pursuant to which the KLHL and its subsidiaries
(the “KLHL Group”) agreed to supply copper and laminates to the
Hallgain Group from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2022.

On 19 July 2021, taking into account the increasing trend in the
transaction volume, the Company and Hallgain entered into new
supply framework agreement (the “KLHL/Hallgain Supply Framework
Agreement”) pursuant to which the KLHL Group agreed to supply
copper and laminates to the Hallgain Group from 19 July 2021 to
31 December 2023. Under the KLHL/Hallgain Supply Framework
Agreement the amount to be supplied is not fixed but is to be
determined and agreed between the parties from time to time. The
actual quantity, specification and price (with reference to the prevailing
market price) of the products under the KLHL/Hallgain Supply
Framework Agreement will be subject to the individual orders placed
by the Hallgain Group with the KLHL Group. The proposed annual cap
for the three years ending 31 December 2023 are HK$625,000,000,
HK$687,000,000 and HK$755,000,000, respectively. Please refer to
the Company'’s joint announcement dated 19 July 2021 for further
information.

The transactions contemplated under the KLHL/Hallgain Supply
Framework Agreement constituted continuing connected transactions
for the Company pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules on
the basis that Hallgain is a substantial Shareholder and hence a
connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules, and KLHL
is a subsidiary of the Company.

The annual cap and the actual transaction amount of the transactions
contemplated under the KLHL/Hallgain Supply Framework Agreement
for the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out in the table below.

BEHEEERRAA

BERX S @)
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(b)
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(c)

KLHL/Hallgain Purchase Framework Agreement

On 25 October 2019, KLHL and Hallgain entered into a purchase
framework agreement pursuant to which the KLHL Group agreed
to purchase materials for production of laminates such as drill bits
and machineries from the Hallgain Group from 1 January 2020 to 31
December 2022.

On 19 July 2021, taking into account the increasing trend in the
transaction volume, KLHL and Hallgain entered into a new purchase
framework agreement (the “KLHL/Hallgain Purchase Framework
Agreement”) pursuant to which the KLHL Group agreed to purchase
machineries for production of laminates from the Hallgain Group
from 19 July 2021 to 31 December 2023. Under the KLHL/Hallgain
Purchase Framework Agreement, the amount to be purchased is
not fixed but is to be determined and agreed between the parties
from time to time. The actual quantity, specification and price (with
reference to the prevailing market price) of machineries under the
KLHL/Hallgain Purchase Framework Agreement will be subject to the
individual orders placed by the KLHL Group with the Hallgain Group.
The proposed annual cap for the three years ending 31 December
2023 are HK$570,000,000, HK$610,000,000 and HK$653,000,000,
respectively. Please refer to the Company’s joint announcement
dated 19 July 2021 for further information.

The transactions contemplated under the KLHL/Hallgain Purchase
Framework Agreement constituted continuing connected transactions
for the Company pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules on
the basis that Hallgain is a substantial Shareholder and hence a
connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules, and KLHL
is a subsidiary of the Company.

The annual cap and the actual transaction amount of the transactions
contemplated under the KLHL/Hallgain Purchase Framework
Agreement for the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out in the
table below.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued) BEERS )

The annual caps and actual transaction amounts of the continuing connected TRV EXFFEE EE—E-—F+ =8
transactions disclosed above for the year ended 31 December 2021 are set =+ —HIFENEERESSZFELER
out in the table below. ERR SR -
Amounts Annual caps
- FELR
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHER FHET
(i) Purchase of copper balls and drill bits from () 75 B4R % 22 5 [, Hallgain 8 B 929,334 1,000,000
the Hallgain Group by the Group HE 28 525 [ Hallgain 5= [ 88 B SR Bk &
under the KHL/Hallgain Purchase Fiz{UE

Framework Agreement

(i) Sales of coppers and laminates to the (i) BEEEREERBEEERE 600,440 625,000
Hallgain Group by the KLHL Group B4R, Hallgainfit FEAE 22 75 )
under the KLHL/Hallgain Supply Hallgain£s B i & i & 7 i E R

Framework Agreement

(iii) Purchase of machineries from the Hallgain (i) 2B 1& Bk &£ iR B 2251 535,763 570,000
Group by the KLHL Group [E1R,Hallgainf# B {E 28 #3514
under the KLHL/Hallgain Purchase Hallgain 5 B8 B #25

Framework Agreement

The amounts of the above transactions did not exceed the corresponding P SR REY THBENERBRABEE =
annual caps for the financial year ended 31 December 2021 as announced T —FF+ZA=+—HULHREEZHBEF

by the Group. ELR-

The independent non-executive directors had reviewed the above continuing BYERNTEFCEM LMBERERS - &
connected transactions and confirmed that the transactions have been ERLERFBRBEREZSERIZHETINR
entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group, on NREENBE B LR —MEBBEFRIREEHEKR
normal commercial terms and that the terms thereof and the relevant annual RETY  BEZSBRLREEFEE LRAR TS
caps thereto are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Company and BREFEADNR MR EERE

the Shareholder as a whole.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing
connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other
Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference
to Practice Note 740 (Revised) “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued an
unqualified letter containing the auditor’s findings and conclusions in respect
of the continuing connected transactions for the year ended 31 December
2021 disclosed by the Group from pages 34 to 37 of this annual report in
accordance with Listing Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the
auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.
The auditors has confirmed that nothing has come to its attention that causes
it to believe that the continuing connected transactions entered into by the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2021:

(@) have not been approved by the board;

(b) were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the pricing
policies of the Group;

() were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with the
relevant agreements governing the transactions; and

(d) have exceeded the cap.
The Directors confirm that the Company has complied with the disclosure

requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect
of transactions during the year ended 31 December 2021.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group does not have any plans for material investments and capital assets
as at the date of this report.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the
Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merits, qualifications and
competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the Remuneration
Committee, having regard to the Company’s operating results, individual
performance and comparable market statistics.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to
Directors and eligible employees. Details of the scheme are set out in Note 32
to the consolidated financial statements.

The remuneration paid to a senior management (excluding the directors)
during the year ended 31 December 2021 was within the following band:

BHEHEERRAQH

HENBUR

FHEZBEaREAREREZRE  EELT
YEBE NI B T2 HBeR -

FIEZEQE2ZARAKEEE EES
ZREARAEBRZ TSR BRERREEEZ
B -

AAFERMERIETS  (EAHESEREE
e B 2 52E) - A EIFIBEH N A M IERRMT
32
HE_Z-_—F+_A=+—RHILFE <N
FTEREEB(TEEES) 2HMNNFUTE
:

Number of senior

Bands management
HE SREEEAH
HK$2,000,001 or above 2,000,001 T3 A 1

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSALS

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group did not have any other material
acquisitions and disposal of subsidiaries, associated companies or joint
ventures for the year ended 31 December 2021.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles
of association although there are no restrictions against such rights under
company laws in the Cayman Islands.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and to the knowledge
of the Directors, as at the date of this annual report, there was a sufficient
public float of the Company’s issued shares as required under the Listing
Rules.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

According to the articles of association of the Company, every Director,
agent, auditor, secretary or other officer for the time being and from time to
time of the Company (and the personal representatives of those persons, as
the case may be) shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets
and funds of the Company against all actions, proceedings, costs, charges,
expenses, losses, damages or liabilities incurred or sustained by him in or
about the conduct of the Company’s business or affairs or in the execution or
discharge of his duties, powers, authorities or discretions, including, without
prejudice to the generality of the foregoing, any costs, expenses, losses or
liabilities incurred by him in defending (whether successfully or otherwise) any
civil proceedings concerning the Company or its affairs in any court whether
in the Cayman Islands or elsewhere.

Appropriate insurance covering for the Directors’ and senior management’s

liabilities arising out of activities of the Group has been arranged by the
Company.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the aggregate sales or purchases attributable to the Group’s
five largest customers combined or suppliers combined were less than 30%
of the Group’s sales or purchases respectively.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the share option scheme of the Company, no equity-linked
agreement was entered into by the Group, or existed during the year under
review.

AUDITOR

A resolution will be submitted to the annual general meeting to re-appoint
Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Cheung Kwok Wing
CHAIRMAN

18 March 2022
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The Board recognises the importance of corporate governance practice of a
listed company. It is in the interest of the stakeholders and shareholders for
a listed company to operate in a transparent manner with the adoptions of
various self-regulatory policies, procedures and monitoring mechanisms and
a clear definition of accountability of directors and management.

The Company has adopted and complied with the code provisions as set
out in the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report
(the “CG Code”) under Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”)
throughout the year ended 31 December 2021, save for the deviation from
paragraph A.4.1 of the CG Code since the independent non-executive
directors are not appointed for a specific term. Notwithstanding the aforesaid
deviation, all the directors (including the independent non-executive directors)
are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the Company’s annual
general meeting in accordance with the Company’s articles of association.
As such, the Company considers that steps have been taken with a view to
ensuring that the Company’s corporate governance practices are in line with
the principles of the CG Code.

In addition to applying the principles in the CG Code, which is mandatory
in nature, the Board also observes certain recommended best practices
(“Recommended Best Practices”) contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules and has adopted certain Recommended Best Practices which are
suitable to the Company’s current situation. The Board will continuously
enhance the corporate governance standard of the Company by reference to
the Recommended Best Practices whenever suitable and appropriate.

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by directors on terms no less exacting than the required
standard of the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (the“Model Code”).
Having made specific enquiry of all directors, each director has confirmed that
he or she has complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code
and the code of conduct regarding director’s securities transactions adopted
by the Company throughout the year ended 31 December 2021.
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DIRECTORS

The Board

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Group
and is entrusted with the responsibility to supervise the management
of the business and the affairs of the Group. The Group has adopted
internal guidelines in setting forth matters that require the Board’s
approval. Apart from its statutory responsibilities, the Board approves
the Group’s strategic plan, annual budget, key operational initiatives,
major investments and funding decisions. It also reviews the Group’s
financial performance, identifies principal risks of the Group’s business
and ensures implementation of appropriate systems to manage these
risks. Daily business operations and administrative functions of the
Group are delegated to the management.

The Board meets regularly and as warranted by particular
circumstances. Notices and agendas are prepared by the Company
Secretary as delegated by the Chairman of the Board and distributed
to the Board members within reasonable time before the meetings.
Relevant meeting papers are also sent to Directors well before the
meetings, informing them of the background and giving explanation
on matters to be brought before the Board. All Directors are given the
opportunity to include matters in the agendas for Board meetings. To
ensure the Directors make decisions objectively and in the interests of
the Company, the Company’s articles of association provide that any
Director shall abstain from voting on any resolutions in which he or his
associates is/are materially interested nor be counted in the quorum
of the meeting. Draft and final versions of the minutes of Board
meetings are sent to all Directors for their comment and records
respectively within a reasonable time after the Board meetings and
are kept by the Company Secretary.
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A. DIRECTORS (continued)

The Board (continued)

During the year under review, the Board had held five meetings
and the Company held an annual general meeting. The Directors’
attendance at Board meetings, Board committees’ meetings and the

general meeting was as follows:

Number of Meeting

Executive Directors

Cheung Kwok Wing (Chairman)
Chang Wing Yiu (Managing Director)
Cheung Kwong Kwan

Ho Yin Sang

Cheung Wai Lin, Stephanie (resigned on
1 October 2021)

Cheung Ka Shing

Ho Kin Fan (appointed on
1 October 2021)

Chen Maosheng

Independent non-executive Directors

Cheung Ming Man

Chong Kin Ki

Chan Wing Kee

Stanley Chung Wai Cheong

Note:
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Meeting
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General meeting refers to the Company’s annual general meeting held on 24 May

2021.
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DI RECTO RS (continued)

The Board (continued)

The Directors have observed the importance of directing and
supervising the Company’s affairs at a more regular interval. After
consulting all Directors, Board meetings have been preliminarily
scheduled to be held at quarterly interval and no less than four times
in the coming year.

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in D.3.1
of the CG Code.

During the year under review, the Board met once to review the
Company’s corporate governance policies and practices, training
and continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management, the Company’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements, the compliance of the Model
Code and the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.

Division and responsibilities

During the year under review, the Board was headed by the Chairman
whose role differs from that of the Managing Director of the Company.
The roles of the Chairman and Managing Director were segregated
and are not exercised by the same individual.

The duties of the Chairman include (but not limited to) the following:

o scheduling meetings that enable the Board to perform
its duties and responsibilities and to ensure all key and
appropriate issues are discussed by the Board in a timely
manner without interfering the Company’s operations;

o preparing meeting agenda after consultation with the
Managing Director;

o exercising control over quality, quantity and timeliness of the
flow of information between Management and the Board and
to ensure decisions are made on a fully informed basis by the
Directors; and

o assisting in ensuring compliance with the Listing Rules and
the Company’s guidelines on corporate governance.

The Managing Director was mainly responsible for the overall strategic
planning and day-to-day management of the Group.
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DI RECTO RS (continued)

Board composition

The Board currently comprises eleven members, seven of whom are
executive Directors and four of whom are independent non-executive
Directors who are expressly identified in all corporate communications
that disclose the names of the Directors. One of the independent non-
executive Directors possesses appropriate professional qualifications
(or accounting or related financial management expertise) as required
by the Listing Rules. The composition of the Board as of the report
date is as follows:

Executive Directors

Cheung Kwok Wing (Chairman)

Chang Wing Yiu (Managing Director)

Cheung Kwong Kwan

Ho Yin Sang

Cheung Wai Lin, Stephanie (resigned on 1 October 2021)
Cheung Ka Shing

Ho Kin Fan (appointed on 1 October 2021)

Chen Maosheng

Independent non-executive Directors
Cheung Ming Man

Chong Kin Ki

Chan Wing Kee

Stanley Chung Wai Cheong

Ms. Cheung Wai Lin, Stephanie is the sister of Mr. Cheung Kwok
Wing, Mr. Cheung Kwong Kwan is a cousin of Mr. Cheung Kwok
Wing. Mr. Chang Wing Yiu and Mr. Ho Yin Sang are brothers-in-law
of Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing and Ms. Cheung Wai Lin, Stephanie. Mr.
Cheung Ka Shing is the son of Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing, the nephew
of Ms. Cheung Wai Lin, Stephanie and Mr. Cheung Kwong Kwan and
the nephew-in-law of Mr. Chang Wing Yiu and Mr. Ho Yin Sang. Ms.
Ho Kin Fan is the daughter of Mr. Ho Yin Sang, niece of Mr. Cheung
Kwok Wing, Mr. Chang Wing Yiu and Mr. Cheung Kwong Kwan and
the cousin of Mr. Cheung Ka Shing.

During the year under review, the independent non-executive
Directors were not appointed for specific terms but are subject to
retirement by rotation and are eligible for re-election. The Board
considers that although such arrangement deviates from paragraph
A.4.1 of the CG Code, sufficient measures have been taken to ensure
that the Company’s corporate governance practices are no less
exacting than those in the CG Code.
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DI RECTO RS (continued)

Board composition (continued)

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence
as required under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board also
considers that the independent non-executive Directors remain
independent.

The Board comprises Directors who collectively provide core
competencies, sales and marketing experience and technical
knowledge in laminates, printed circuit boards, property developments
and chemical products, administration and management experience
in the PRC factories, financial and accounting skills. The Company
believes that the current Board with a balance of skills and experience
is appropriate for effective decision making, taking into account the
nature and scope of the operations of the Company.

Appointment, re-election and removal

The Company’s articles of association set out a formal, considered
and transparent procedure for the appointment of new Directors to
the Board. Any Director appointed by the Board either to fill a casual
vacancy or as addition to the Board, shall retire and be eligible for
re-appointment at the next following general meeting (in the case
of filling a casual vacancy) or annual general meeting (in the case of
an additions to the Board) after appointment. The appointment of
Directors are not fixed for a specified term, but at every annual general
meeting one-third of the directors, including the Chairman, shall be
subject to retirement by rotation and re-appointment by Shareholders.
The Directors appointed by the Board who are subject to retirement
and re-appointment as mentioned above shall be taken into account
in calculating the total number of Directors for the time being but shall
not be taken into account in calculating the number of Directors who
are to retire by rotation. All Directors eligible for re-appointment shall
have their biographical details made available to the Shareholders to
enable them to make an informed decision on their re-appointment.
Any appointment, resignation, removal or re-designation of Director
shall be timely disclosed to the Shareholders by announcement and
the reasons given by the Director for his resignation shall be included
in the announcement.

Responsibilities of Directors

The Company and the Board require each Director to keep abreast of
his responsibilities as a director of the Company and of the conduct,
business activities and development of the Company. Every Director
is required to devote sufficient time and involvement in the affairs of
the Board and the material matters of the Company and to serve
the Board with such degree of care and due diligence given his own
expertise, qualification and professionalism.
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CEREARE
A. DIRECTORS (continued) A. §$(f‘§)
Responsibilities of Directors (continued) BEESER®H)
Every newly appointed Director shall receive a comprehensive, formal BERNEAZEETNEREZARLGE
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his appointment. All B—MerEEEAEMRMNEARTE
Directors shall be updated and briefed on continuing professional M. 2REENEEERBERABER
development as is necessary to ensure that they have a proper BERERTE  UEREETETHEAN
understanding of the operations and the business of the Company AlzEBRER  BxRSHA E?{ﬁ#F\L
and that they are fully aware of their responsibilities under the BARERBEETNZEMEL & B
applicable laws and regulations. The Board has a procedure for TIRF =R EITRGE Eﬁ?%%
Directors, either individually or as a group, in the furtherance of their B T @R sk RS a B E R
duties, to take independent professional advice, if necessary, at HER  UMERFTMHZERNRE B
the Company’s expenses to enable and facilitate the Directors to ERBANGEE - ARBRIEREENR
make well considered decisions. Appropriate insurance coverage for TIBABREEE 2 ABRITHMAES
Directors’ and officers’ liability has been arranged against possibility of MEBAEBRHEEETRE
legal action to be taken against the Directors and the management.
According to A.6.5 of the CG Code, Directors should participate in BIEPEEATRIEABSG EFESR
appropriate continuous professional development to develop and Eﬁié.\mﬂ’j%i‘mﬁiﬁé)ﬁ BRIV EIE
refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to AMBRFEE  UBRAEEETAEL2T
the Board remains informed and relevant. B RDEFRENEATEHESZSED
L
During the year under review, the Directors also participated in the REBEFE EEI2EUTEI
following trainings:
Attending or participating in
the briefing session/seminars/
programmes relevant to
the business/directors’ duties
HESSREMER
Name of Directors EEpg ESRENENE BHEHE
Executive Directors HITEE
Cheung Kwok Wing (Chairman) REIR(F/E) v
Chang Wing Yiu (Managing Director) oK (EE ) 4
Cheung Kwong Kwan RES 4
Ho Yin Sang A 4
Cheung Wai Lin, Stephanie (resigned on 1 October 2021) REER-ZTZ—FTA-BEE) -
Cheung Ka Shing RE, v
Ho Kin Fan (appointed on 1 October 2021) EFM_F-_—FtA—-REZH) 4
Chen Maosheng 5321 4
Independent non-executive Directors BUFHTES
Cheung Ming Man REAG v
Chong Kin Ki e 4
Chan Wing Kee 53 v
Stanley Chung Wai Cheong BRE 4

The Directors confirmed that they have complied with A.6.5 of the CG
Code on Directors’ training for the year ended 31 December 2021. =

Ms. Cheung Wai Lin, Stephanie resigned as director before the
sessions/seminars/programmes held by the Company, but has
participated in other trainings and development in relation to directors’

duties.
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DI RECTO RS (continued)

Supply of and access to information

The management of the Company has an obligation to furnish the
Board with complete, adequate and appropriate information in
such form and such quality in a timely manner so as to enable them
to make an informed decision and to discharge their duties and
responsibilities as Directors of the Company. All the Directors are
given separate and independent access to the Company’s senior
management.

All the Directors are given separate and independent access to
the Company Secretary, whose role includes ensuring that Board
procedures are observed and followed, and that applicable rules and
regulations are complied with. The Company Secretary attends all the
meetings of the Board and Board committees and is responsible for
drafting minutes and keeping minutes records which can be accessed
by any Director for inspection.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The level and make-up of remuneration and disclosure
The Board has set up a remuneration committee (the “Remuneration
Committee”) which comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Dr. Chong Kin Ki (Chairman), Mr. Stanley Chung
Wai Cheong and Mr. Cheung Ming Man as at the date of the report.
The role of the Remuneration Committee is to formulate policies
and procedures for determining the remuneration of Directors and
senior management and other remuneration related matters. The
Remuneration Committee is set up with written terms of reference
which set out clearly its duties and authorities delegated by the Board,
including the following duties:

o formulate the framework or Board policy for determining
the remuneration of the Company’s Board and senior
management. The objective of such policy should ensure
that members of the senior management of the Company are
provided with appropriate incentives to encourage enhanced
performance and are, in a fair and reasonable manner,
rewarded for their individual contributions to the success of
the Company;
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

The level and make-up of remuneration and disclosure

(continued)

° recommend specific remuneration packages including, where
appropriate, allowances, bonuses, benefits in kind, incentive
payments, and share options, if any, for each executive
Director and the Managing Director and such other members
of senior management as it is designated to consider;

° recommend targets for any performance-linked pay schemes
operated by the Company, taking into account remuneration
and employment conditions within the industry and in
comparable companies; and

° recommend to the Board the remuneration of independent
non-executive Directors (including non-executive Directors,
if any), taking into account factors such as effort, time spent
and responsibilities.

When recommending the remuneration package for each individual
Director, the Remuneration Committee will consider his qualification
and experience, specific duties and responsibilities assigned to
him by the Board and the prevailing market packages available for
similar position. The emoluments of the Directors on a named basis
for the year under review is set out on pages 150 to 154 in Note
11 to the financial statements. Review and comparison in terms of
Directors’ emoluments package and net profits of the Group are
made from time to time with comparable listed industrial companies
with similar capitalisation to the Group. Considering all such factors,
the Remuneration Committee would make recommendation on the
remuneration package for each Director after consultation with the
Chairman.

During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee had
convened two meetings during which the Remuneration Committee,
among other things, assessed the performance, and determined
the remuneration policy and packages for all Directors and senior
management.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
Company’s account which gives a true and fair view of the financial
position of the Group. The Company deploys appropriate and
sufficient resources to prepare unaudited half-yearly account and
audited yearly account. Senior management is required to present
and explain the financial reporting and matters that materially
affect or may have material impact on the financial performance
and operations of the Company to the Audit Committee and the
Board and respond to the queries and concerns raised by the Audit
Committee and the Board to their satisfaction. The statement of the
auditor of the Company about their reporting responsibilities on the
financial statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on
pages 61 to 67 of this annual report.

Risk Management, Internal Control and Responsibility
of the Board

The Board acknowledges its accountability to the risk management
and internal control systems and its responsibility to review the
effectiveness of the systems. The Board also clarifies that the systems
are purported to manage, but not eliminate, the risk of failure to
fulfil business objectives, and can only provide reasonable but not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

Management is responsible for setting the appropriate tone from
the top, performing risk assessment, and owning the design,
implementation and maintenance of internal control. Essential to such
risk management and internal control systems are well defined policies
and procedures that are properly documented and communicated to
employees.

The Group has in place a system of internal controls, the key elements
of which are as follows:

° formal policies and procedures are in place, including the
documentation of key processes, procedures and rules
relating to the delegation of authorities. These allow the
monitoring of controls and restrict the unauthorised use of the
Group assets;

o experienced and suitably qualified staff take responsibility for
important business functions. Annual appraisal procedures
have been established to maintain standards of performance;

. monthly business and financial reports are prepared, providing
relevant, timely, reliable and up-to-date financial and other
information; budget variances are investigated as appropriate;
and

° an internal audit function, which reports directly to the Audit
Committee, is in place to determine whether the above
procedures are properly carried out.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)

Risk Management, Internal Control and Responsibility
of the Board (continued)

The Group has established an internal audit department to review
the financial condition, operational condition, risk management,
compliance control and internal control of the Group. For 2021, the
Board has conducted a review on the effectiveness of the above
internal control system of the Group including financial, operational
and compliance controls and risk management and will conduct
such review at least once a year, so as to ensure the Shareholders’
investment and the Group’s assets are properly safeguarded. The
Board is satisfied that, based on the information supplied, coupled
with its own observations and with the assistance of the Audit
Committee, the present internal controls and risk management
processes are satisfactory, effective and adequate for the nature and
size of the Group’s operations and business.

In addition to the internal control system, the Board has established
an internal audit team that reports directly to the Audit Committee.
The internal audit team will independently audit various functions,
operations and systems that exist in the Company according to
their weight of significance to the Company as well as the priority
list recommended by the Audit Committee. The internal audit team
will prepare an internal audit report highlighting the deficiencies and
weaknesses in existing audit functions, operations and systems for
discussion by the Audit Committee and the Board, and based on
these findings the Board will instruct the senior management to take
appropriate corrective and improvement actions.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)

Audit Committee

The Board has established the Audit Committee with specific written
terms of reference setting out duties, responsibilities and authorities
delegated to them by the Board. The major duties and responsibilities
of the Audit Committee include the following:

o review with the external auditor, the audit plan;

° review with the external auditor, their evaluation of the system
of internal accounting controls;

o review the scope and results of the internal audit procedures;

° review the statement of financial position and statement of
profit or loss of the Company and the consolidated statement
of financial position and statement of profit or loss of the
Group and submit them to the Board;

o nominate persons as auditor;

° review with the internal and external auditors their findings on
their evaluation of the Company’s system of internal controls
for the purpose of assisting the Board in developing policies
that would enhance the controls and operating systems of the
Company; and

o review connected transactions and examine the adequacy
of internal controls of the Group as part of the standard
procedures.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)

The Audit Committee assists the Board to fulfil its oversight role
over the Group’s risk management and internal control functions
by reviewing and evaluating the effectiveness of our overall risk
management and internal control systems at least annually.

The Group’s risk management and internal control systems is
embedded within our business processes so that it functions as
an integral part of the overall operation of the Group. The systems
comprises a comprehensive organisation structure with assignment
of definite accountabilities and delegation of corresponding authorities
to each post. Based on our organisation structure, a reporting system
has been developed including reporting channels from division heads
of business units to the Board.

The risk management and internal control systems and accounting
system of the Group are aimed at identifying and evaluating
the Group’s risk and formulate risk mitigation strategies, and to
provide reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against
unauthorised use or disposition, transactions are executed in
accordance with management’s authorisation, and the accounting
records are reliable for preparing financial information used within the
business for publication, maintaining accountability for assets and
liabilities and ensuring the business operations are in accordance with
relevant legislation, regulations and internal guidelines.

The Group has a defined organisational structure with clearly defined
lines of responsibility and authority. Each department is accountable
for its daily operations and is required to report to executive Directors
on a regular basis. Policies and procedures are set for each
department, which includes establishing and maintaining effective
policies to enhance risks identification to which the Group is exposed
and taking appropriate actions to manage such risks, establishing a
structure with defined authorities and proper segregation of duties;
monitoring the strategic plan and performance; designing an effective
accounting and information system; controlling price sensitive
information; and ensuring swift actions and timely communication
with our stakeholders.

Procedures and Controls over Handling and Dissemination of
Inside Information

With respect to the procedures and internal controls for the handling
and dissemination of inside information, the Group has internal policy
and procedures which strictly prohibit unauthorised use of inside
information and has communicated to all staff; the Board is aware
of its obligations to announce any inside information in accordance
with the Listing Rules and conducts the affairs with reference to
the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information” issued by the
Securities and Futures Commission in June 2012. In addition, only
Directors and delegated officers can act as the Group’s spokesperson
and respond to external enquiries about the Group’s affairs.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)

The duties of the Audit Committee include reviewing the scope and
results of the audit and its cost effectiveness, and the independence
and objectivity of the Company’s auditor, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu.
The Audit Committee will review the independence of the Company’s
auditor, the resources and adequacy of the internal audit function,
at least once a year. Where the auditor also supplies non-audit
services to the Company, the Committee will keep the nature and
extent of such services under review, seeking to balance between the
maintenance of objectivity and value for money. During the year under
review, the fees paid/payable to the Company’s auditor in respect of
audit and non-audit services provided by the Company’s auditor to
the Group were as follows:

Nature of services RIEME
Audit services ZEPRTS
Non-audit services FERZERTS

()  Tax services () MBRS
(i)  Other services (comprising compliance review, (i)

internal control review and ESG report)

The Audit Committee has undertaken a review of all the non-
audited services provided by the Company’s auditor and concluded
that in their opinion such services did not affect the independence
of the auditor. The Board has appointed an accountant to be
responsible for the accounting and financial matters of the Group
and the Audit Committee has free access to the accountant and
senior management of the Group and to any financial and relevant
information which enables them to discharge their audit committee
function effectively and efficiently. Besides internal assistance being
available, the Audit Committee may request for assistance and
advice from external auditor as and when it considers necessary
at the expenses of the Company. The Audit Committee shall meet
with external auditor without the presence of executive Directors to
discuss the Group’s financial reporting and any major and financial
matters arising during the year under review at least once a year.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)
In addition, the Audit Committee is authorised:

. to investigate any matter within its written terms of reference;
o to have full access to and co-operation by the management;
° to have full discretion to invite any Director or executive officer

to attend its meetings; and

. to have reasonable resources to enable it to discharge its
functions properly.

The Board will ensure that the members of the Audit Committee
are appropriately qualified to discharge their responsibilities and at
least one member has accounting and related financial management
expertise or experience. The Audit Committee comprises three
independent non-executive Directors as at the date of this report,
namely Mr. Stanley Chung Wai Cheong (Chairman), Dr. Chong Kin Ki
and Mr. Cheung Ming Man.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee had performed the
following works:

o review of the scope of audit work;

° review and discussion of the annual financial results and
report in respect of the year ended 31 December 2020 and
interim financial results and report for the six months ended
30 June 2021 and discussion with the management of the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group;

° discussion and recommendation of the re-appointment of the
external auditors; and

. review of the internal control, financial reporting and risk
management systems of the Group.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee had convened
three meetings.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

Management function

The Company’s articles of association set out matters which are
specifically reserved to the Board for its decision. Executive Directors
normally meet on an informal basis every two weeks and participate
in senior management meetings on a regular basis to keep abreast of
the latest operations and performance of the Group and to monitor
and ensure the management carry out the directions and strategies
set by the Board correctly and appropriately. The Board delegates
day-to-day activities to the management with department heads
responsible for different aspects of the business. Clear instructions
are given to the management as to the matters which should bring
to the attention and be determined by the Board on behalf of the
Company.

Board committees

The Board has set up three Board committees, namely Audit
Committee, Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee,
each chaired by a different independent non-executive Director, to
assist the Board in discharging functions specific to each committee.
Each Board committee has its own written terms of reference
setting out the principles, procedures and arrangements which are
substantially the same as those for the Board.

The Nomination Committee comprises three members who are
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Cheung Ming Man
(Chairman), Dr. Chong Kin Ki and Mr. Stanley Chung Wai Cheong as
at the date of this report. According to the written terms of reference
of the Nomination Committee, the major responsibilities of the
Nomination Committee include:

o regularly review the structure, size and composition of the
Board and make recommendations to the Board with regard
to any adjustments that are deemed necessary;

° review whether or not an independent non-executive Director
is independent for the purpose of the Listing Rules on an
annual basis;

° identify and nominate for the approval of the Board,

candidates to fill board vacancies as and when they arise;

o assess the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and the
contribution by each individual Director to the effectiveness of
the Board; and
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD (continueq)

Board committees (continued)

o re-nominate a Director as an independent non-executive
Director, if applicable, having regard to his contribution and
performance.

When recommending suitable candidates to the Board, the
Nomination Committee will take merits of the candidates into
consideration, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of service.

During the year under review and up to the date of this report, the
Nomination Committee had convened two meetings during which,
among other things, considered which should retire by rotation
pursuant to the Company’s articles of association and the CG
Code. The Nomination Committee had resolved that Mr. Cheung
Kwok Wing, Mr. Cheung Kwong Kwan and Ms. Ho Kin Fan, being
executive Directors and Mr. Cheung Ming Man and Mr. Chan Wing
Kee, being independent non-executive Directors, shall be subject
to retirement by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company and offer themselves for re-election. During the
meetings of the Nomination Committee, it had considered the policy
for the nomination of Directors, and the process and criteria adopted
by the Nomination Committee to select and recommend candidates
for directorship.

It had also reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board
to ensure that it has a balance of expertise, skills and experience
appropriate to the requirements of the business of the Company and
assessed the independence of all the independent non-executive
Directors. All the above-named Directors were nominated by the
Nomination Committee to stand for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company.

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy in accordance with
the CG Code. The policy aims to achieve diversity on the members of
the Board. In designing the Board’s composition, a number of aspects
would be considered, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEERRE

COMMUNICATION WITH
SHAREHOLDERS

The Board endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with
Shareholders. All Directors are encouraged to attend the general
meetings to have personal communication with Shareholders. In
annual general meeting, Chairman of the Board and the chairman of
each committee are required to attend and answer questions from
Shareholders in respect of the matters that they are responsible
and accountable for. The external auditor is also required to be
present to assist the Directors in addressing any relevant queries
by Shareholders. The Company has also set up a public relations
website which enables the Shareholders and public to post their
questions, comments and opinions in relation to the Group to the
Board.

The Company’s annual general meeting (“AGM”) and extraordinary
general meeting (“‘EGM”) provide good opportunities for Shareholders
to air their views and ask Directors and management questions
regarding the Company. All Shareholders receive the annual
report, circulars and notices of AGM and EGM and other corporate
communications. The notices are also published on the Company’s
website at www.kingboard.com. Separate resolutions are required
at general meetings on each distinct issue. Each Shareholder is
permitted to appoint a proxy to attend and vote in his stead.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEERRE

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, separate resolutions
are proposed at Shareholders’ meetings on each substantial issue,
including the election of individual Directors, for Shareholders’
consideration and voting. Besides, pursuant to the Company’s
articles of association, Shareholder(s) holding not less than one-tenth
of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings may request the Company to convene an EGM by
sending a written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary.
The objects of the meeting must be stated in the written requisition.

Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company for putting
forward any enquiries or proposals to the Board. Contact details are as
follows:
Address: 23/F, Delta House

3 On Yiu Street

Shek Mun

Shatin, N.T.

Hong Kong

Fax: (852) 2691 0445/2691 5245
Email: enquiry@kingboard.com

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholder(s) must deposit and send
the original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or
enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address and provide their
full name, contact details and identification in order to give effect
thereto. Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required by
law.

During the year under review, the Company has not made any
changes to its articles of association.

An up to date version of the Company’s articles of association is
available on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s
website. Shareholders may refer to the Company’s articles of
association for further details of their rights.

All resolutions put forward at Shareholders’ meetings will be voted
by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and the poll voting results will
be posted on the websites of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company (www.kingboard.com)
immediately after the relevant general meetings.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B RBE RS

Deloitte.

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Kingboard Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “the
Group”) set out on pages 68 to 248, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity
and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes
to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2021,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

BEHEEERRAA

HEEEEAERAT

=ED
BR3R

(R SHEHEMA L ERL )

=z
a@\

AZHEN (A TEBIERM]) EBAHINRE
68E248EMEBEEBR AT (LA TEEI&
AR REMBAR GBI EEE])NEEH
BHRE  UWHBRREER-_ZE=_—F+=A
—t+—BANEEAMBRAREEEZALFE
WA EERRGAESEREMEEKSR -
BARSEHERNGARERER  UREE
MHMEMT  BIEFTESTBREE -

RFRE  ZSGAVBRERCSBRESSE5T
MAg((EESTMAE ) BRAKEEMBEH
HEAN BB EERRER D EEMP SR
BT BEER-_Z-_—F+-A=+—8H
GAVERRAEEBEZA LEFENGAMBEER
BRGEReRE B EBREFBCRREN)
B B Tk Al o

RENER

BACREBEEE ST AR OACEBETE
ANDETER - ROEXFEATRENRE
BEEARREZHBE LR A M B RAAIEN
RIS P EE— R - REFESHAIR
eRMECEREFEBETRDA TR 5
A1) HFPBLRY BE&EE - XEETTAH
MEMBEREREMT - HLAMEGE - RAIMES
MBETREET R EEARMNEAER
RRHERE -

FAREFTSR

MRETFEERERMNERAE - BAY
AER AV BHRERNETRA/EENEE - &
LEEETERMBFERGAYBRRIEA
EREETEEN - HMTSHELRREMR
BENER -

T —FER



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BAZBEMRE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

HARETER

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

FREETEE )

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMNFNAHRARETERETERE

Assessment of net realisable values of properties held for development (“PHD”)

AHEFRRME(FRRYE D WTE2RFE

We identified the assessment of net realisable values of
PHD as a key audit matter due to the significance of the
amount and estimation uncertainty involved in determining
their net realisable values.

The carrying value of the Group’s PHD amounted to
HK$19.7 billion as at 31 December 2021. The Group’s PHD
are all situated in Hong Kong and the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC”).

As disclosed in Notes 4 and 26 to the consolidated
financial statements, the net realisable values of the PHD
are determined by reference to the estimated future selling
prices less estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale. The future selling prices are
estimated by reference to the recent selling prices of similar
properties in the same project or relevant locations. In
addition, the management estimates the future costs to
complete the PHD and costs necessary to make the sale
by reference to the actual development costs and selling
expenses incurred and the completion status.
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Our procedures in relation to the assessment of net realisable
values of PHD included:

. Evaluating the reasonableness of the costs recognised
in PHD, on a sample basis, by obtaining the direct
confirmations from independent qualified surveyors in
respect of the costs incurred and the completion status;

o Assessing the appropriateness of the estimated future
selling prices of the PHD, on a sample basis, by comparing
them to recent transaction prices of similar properties
in the same project or relevant locations, based on
our knowledge of the property markets of the relevant
locations; and

. Evaluating the reasonableness of the estimated future
costs to completion of the PHD and costs necessary to
make the sale, on a sample basis, based on the actual
development costs and selling expenses incurred and the
completion status of the properties of the Group with the
adjustments, taking into account the current market data
and the past history of the similar projects.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

HREIER

Valuation of investment properties

REYEMLE

We identified the valuation of investment properties as
a key audit matter due to the inherent level of subjective
judgements and complex estimates required in determining
the fair values.

The Group’s investment property portfolio comprises
commercial, residential and industrial properties located in
Hong Kong, the PRC and the United Kingdom, which was
stated at fair value of HK$21.8 billion as at 31 December
2021 with a gain on fair value change of HK$14.4 million
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
for the year then ended.

The Group’s investment properties are stated at fair
value based on valuations performed by a professional
independent valuer (the “Valuer”). Details of the valuation
techniques and key inputs used in the valuations are
disclosed in Notes 4 and 14 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMNFSNAHRARETSRETERE

Our procedures in relation to the management’s valuation of
investment properties included:

o Evaluating the competence, capability, and objectivity of
the Valuer;
o Understanding the key assumptions applied to the

valuation based on available market data and evaluating
their reasonableness; and

o Assessing the reasonableness of the price per square
metre of comparable properties and information used by
the Valuer and the management in the valuation model,
including adjustment factors for location and other
individual factors such as road frontage, size of property
and facilities, on a sample basis, in order to assess the
appropriateness, completeness and accuracy of these
inputs and comparing the comparable properties adopted
with fair market unit price.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the annual report,
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but
to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BAZBEMRE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our
agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents
of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS continued)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BAZBEMRE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS continued)

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless
law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent auditor’s
report is Tsang Chi Wai.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

18 March 2022
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KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T = —F+-A=+—HILFE

2021 2020
—BEC--fF —ECTF
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
ihEEs FET FHET
Revenue BEEE 5 56,755,274 43,510,274
Cost of sales and services rendered SHE AR ARTS A AR (37,933,659) (31,283,450)
Gross profit ESA] 18,821,615 12,226,824
Other income, gains and losses EaU A - Y25 R 7 (71,523) 96,969
Distribution costs PaR =[N (1,342,586) (1,165,401)
Administrative costs TTERRR AR (2,382,744) (1,992,291)
Gain (loss) on fair value changes of BAFERABR Z Em
equity instruments at fair value TAZ RN EZEE
through profit or loss (B1B) 210,029 (978,285)
Gain on disposal of debt HERAFET AEAM
instruments at fair value FHKEZEHIA
through other comprehensive income Z Wz 117,086 106,245
Gain (loss) on fair value changes of REYMENTEEE 2 14
investment properties Wz (E518) 14,388 (6,437)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEWB AT Z W 34 224,180 29,776
Finance costs BhE R 8 (275,481) (457,179)
Share of results of joint ventures JEIhE & NREE 83,829 77,868
Share of result of an associate NI E 177,867 (2,673)
Profit before taxation R T A A1) 15,576,660 7,936,416
Income tax expense FriSEifsz 9 (3,022,599) (2,108,063
Profit for the year INEF i F 10 12,554,061 5,828,353
Profit for the year attributable to: NS F B 15 58
Owners of the Company ZNNGIESYEDN 10,778,032 4,702,884
Non-controlling interests FEIE R A 1,776,029 1,125,469
12,554,061 5,828,353
Earnings per share BRRER 13
— Basic —EHK HK$9.729& 7T HKS$4.2577% 7T
~ Diluted — 88 HK$9.724/ T  HK$4.2528 7T
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

2iE T

Htn2 @ K= R

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE T - —F+_-A=+—HILFE

2021 2020
—BEC--fF —ECTF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Profit for the year REE @A) 12,554,061 5,828,353
Other comprehensive (expense) income AEEEMEE (SR
for the year
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss: T EHEF HEE /8w HE -
Investment revaluation reserve: BEBGHE
Fair value loss on equity instruments at BATEFAEMEEmKEZ
fair value through other comprehensive EaTEZATEEE
income = (162,918)
Translation reserve: PE 5
Exchange differences arising from translation to AT EEE2REBMEEZ
presentation currency ME X ER 1,120,474 3,658,394
1,120,474 3,495,476
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to ERAEWE IS
profit or loss: Em 2 EHE -
Investment revaluation reserve: WEEGRHE
Fair value loss on debt instruments BEAVEFAEMEE
at fair value through HﬂZ sZEBITAEZ
other comprehensive income NFEEE (1,278,432) (38,148)
Reclassify to profit or loss upon disposal of AL SR AT EFTAEM
debt instruments at fair value through 2ERKEZEFTAM
other comprehensive income B EEER (117,086) (106,245)
Translation reserve: PE &
Exchange differences arising from AITH M EMEE 2
translation of foreign operations B 5 =%8 36,547 13,268
(1,358,971) (131,125)
Other comprehensive (expense) income AFEEHM2E(FX) WS
for the year (238,497) 3,364,351
Total comprehensive income for the year AFEEEEW=ELETE 12,315,564 9,192,704
Total comprehensive income REE2EELTEREGNTE
for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company ZIN/NCIE=Y =N 10,453,054 7,804,070
Non-controlling interests FEPE AR 1,862,510 1,388,634
12,315,564 9,192,704
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KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
ll‘/_\ézﬁ\yjﬁ%ﬂﬁ)ﬂv%

At 31 December 2021 A —Z-—4+-A=+—H

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
ihEEs FHET FHET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investment properties WEYE 14 21,820,016 20,053,947
Property, plant and equipment L E YN 15 15,598,376 14,576,075
Right-of-use assets EREEE 16 1,840,942 1,736,680
Goodwill [EES 17 2,670,528 2,670,528
Intangible assets | EE 18 47,880 54,360
Interests in an associate RERE RN A2 B 19 563,247 369,314
Interests in joint ventures REERA 2R 20 2,598,657 2,609,520
Equity instruments at fair value through RN EFFABZ 2 21
profit or loss =1 4,403,025 3,327,715
Debt instruments at fair value through RN EGFAHE MmN 2 22
other comprehensive income BEXEITA 617,950 1,741,763
Loan receivable FEWE R 23 1,880,000 -
Entrusted loans ZHER 27(a) 331,126 398,241
Deposits paid for acquisition of BEYE BERRHEZ
property, plant and equipment =N 1,176,731 150,858
Deferred tax assets FEEFIEE B 24 2,294 2,667
53,550,772 47,691,668
Current assets MENEE
Inventories FE 25 3,913,206 3,010,897
Properties held for development FEREYE 26 19,675,817 19,842,807
Trade and other receivables and B 5 & H M FEER 27(a)
prepayments A FoE 11,474,250 8,953,048
Bills receivables RUKNEE 27(b) 5,103,644 3,768,013
Loan receivable ERE = 23 - 600,000
Equity instruments at fair value through BAFEGFAERZZ 21
profit or loss EmTA 4,139,071 2,333,796
Debt instruments at fair value through BATEFARMEE 22
other comprehensive income Wz EFTE 416,505 461,584
Taxation recoverable Al E R IR 30,146 18,468
Bank balances and cash RITHEBR LIRS 27(c) 5,512,357 6,568,857
50,264,996 45,657,470
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e MBI K

BHEHEERRAQH

2021 2020
—BEC--fF —ECTF
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
FoaE FHET FHT
Current liabilities mEaE
Trade and other payables B 5 R EAMEIRR 28 7,046,191 6,538,122
Bills payables EREE 28 728,144 377,036
Contract liabilities AHBaE 28 5,301,996 3,789,029
Dividends payable FERHAR B, 866,769 1,930,710
Taxation payable JEEFRIE 2,161,015 1,880,064
Bank borrowings RITIEE 29
— amount due within one year ——FRNBEZ A 10,737,949 8,612,099
Lease liabilities HEAR 30 3,969 4,212
26,846,033 23,131,272
Net current assets REEERE 23,418,963 22,426,198
Total assets less current liabilities BEBERRDAEE 76,969,735 70,117,866
Non-current liabilities JEmBAE
Deferred tax liabilities REFIEEE 24 612,023 690,621
Bank borrowings RITIEE 29
—amount due after one year — —FBRNE A 7,667,985 8,618,747
Lease liabilities HEAE 30 6,434 9,792
8,286,442 9,319,160
68,683,293 60,798,706
Capital and reserves A& A K e
Share capital REA 31 110,879 110,579
Reserves & 62,906,293 55,754,324
Equity attributable to owners ViN/NEIE= =N
of the Company FEfh S 63,017,172 55,864,903
Non-controlling interests eI AE 2 33 5,666,121 4,933,803
Total equity EARERE 68,683,293 60,798,706

The consolidated financial statements on pages 68 to 248 were approved
and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 18 March 2022 and are

signed on its behalf by:

Cheung Kwok Wing

IRED SR

DIRECTOR

BZ

EEeN T - -F=A+/\HOHEREE
T35 68248 B 2 ir A B TSR E - WAh T 7

BEERREE

Chang Wing Yiu
1972
DIRECTOR
BE
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KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEERBER

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T = —F+-A=+—HILFE

Attrbutable to owners of the Company

KOTENEER
Share-
Capial based Special Property Investment Non-
Share Share  redemption  payments suplus  Statutory  revaluation ~ Goodwil  revaluation  Translaion  Retained controling Total
captal ~ premium Tesenve reseve  account Tesene Tesenve resene fesene esenve profts  Sub-otel  interests equity
Bx BARA H % #E FiR

RE RVEE BERE GREE  BMEE  ivHE  EREE  BERE  EMEE  EXRE  REEA I5 fBa  AR8E
HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKBO00  HKS000  HKS000  HKSO000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKSOO0  HKS000  HKS000  HK$000
TR TR TER TER TR TR TEr  TEr TR TR TR TR AR TER
(Notea) ~ (Notebj ~ (Notec) ~ (Noted)
(W) (alo) (W) (W)

Balance at 1 January 2020 K-5-%%

—-f-RziH 110576 6,566,862 (11,900 25,491 10504 1472950 280581 1895504 121445 (529,188 40245570 50,188565 7,781,085 57,969,650
Proft for he year KEERH - - - - - - - - - - ATl 4TONB 1125460 588353
Fair valug loss on det instruments—— RATERF A Ef
at fairvaue though PAlEERIEY
ofher comprehienshe income AVESE - - - - - - - - e - - pie (6 (8149

Reclassfyto profit orloss upon disposal i ERATEEA
of debt instruments at far value ERENEER

through other comprehensive income TEf EFfHBZES - - - - - - - - B - - B8 23517 (106249)
Fairvalue oss on equiy instruments at -~ AT B AEMRE

fairvlue through other Wiz BRIEY

comprehensive ncome LHEEE - - - - - - - - (161062 - - (161062 (1856 (162919
Exchange diferences arising from RfEEeREmE:

anlation to presentationcurency  ZE¥EE - - - - - - - - - 3354080 - 334050 304344 3658304
Exchange diferences arising fom RAEMEE RS

ranslation of foreign operations JEHER - - - - - - - - - 128 - 1258 725 13,268

Total comprehensive (expense) ncome AEEEHAE (R
for the year et - - - - - - - - (85407 3366593 4702884 7804070 1,388,634 9192704

Issue of new shares fomexercise of - 7B RER

share options BTHRA 260 57,505 - (11914 - - - - - - - 45,856 - 45,856
Final dvidend for the year ended HE-T-NETCA
31 December 2019 Note 12) SH-BIEEZAE

& (M) - - - - - - - - - - (662430 (662.430) - (662430
Special fnal dhidend for the year ended  EZ-F-NET-F
31 December 2019 Note 12) =t-BIEEZE

FERE (Ht12) - - - - - - - - - - (p52025) (952,029 - (552029
Interim idend forthe yearended ~ EE-F-FE4-f
31 Decerber 2020 (Note 12) ST-ALEERE

e (k) - - - - - - - - - - (000618 (309618 - (309618
Acquistions of aditionalinterests i~ WEEIBATENMER
subsideres (ote 50 (e - - - - - - ] - - S BB (167531 02798TY
Disposal of a subsiciary Note 3400) ~ HE-FHBLR

(HEt340) - - - - - - - - - - - - 55,29 55,29
Captal redemption fom non-controling ~ #¢—ESM BATEERRE
sharsholders of a subsidary (note 45(0)) AR (fizt45(0)) - - - - - - - - - - - - (308400 (358,400)
Divdends paid to non-controling SHTHBAR R
sharefolders of subsicaries Fzhe - - - - - - - - - - - - 257500 (2.257500)
Repurchase and cancellaton of BERHERR
orcinary shares (Note 31) (Hzta1) (262 (B8don) 13811 - - - - - - - - (w494 - (o)
Transfers to reserve ERTRE - - - - - 468149 - - - - (48149 - - -

3 B [y o ] - C R RITI) G26 (636

Balance at 31 December 2020 WZEZRELCR

“t-BrEs 110579 6,565,860 1,911 18577 10504 1941009 280581 1201027 (143962 2837405 42956232 55864908 4933803 60,798,706
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EZEHEBEBRAF
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEEREER
Attributable to owners of the Company
RATEEARGER
Share-
Capital based  Special Property Investment Non-
Share Share redemption payments  surplus  Statutory revaluation  Goodwill revaluation Translation  Retained controlling Total
capital  premium  reserve  reseve  account  reserve  reserve  reserve  reseve  reserve profits  Sub-fotal interests equity
ks R ) /) 3 RE FER
ks RfEE RERE AREE BBRE  iERE  BRHE  BEEE  EMRE EXRE REE it BE AR
HK$'000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS000  HK$'000  HKS000  HK$'000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TR Tin Thn TR Tan  TEn Thn i TEn Thn TR T Thn TR
(Notea)  (Noteh)  (Notec)  (Noted)
(W) (Wib) (M)  (Wid)
Balance at 1 January 2021 R-B--%
-A-Bz&s 110579 6,565,860 1911 13,517 10504 1941099 280581 1,291,027  (143962) 2,837,405 42,956,232 55864908 4,933,803 60,798,706
Proft for the year TEEE - = = = = = - - - - 10778082 10,778,082 1,776,020 12,554,061
Fairvalue oss on debt instruments (A TIES AEft
atfa value trough 2EMEZERIAL
other comprehensive income NTEsE - - - - - - - - (1,246,526 - - (1,2465%)  (31,906) (1,218,432
Reclassify to proft o loss upon disposal  RHERATEF ALf
of debt instruments at fair value PEkEERIA
through other comprehensive income - N HEZ R - - - - - - - - (1052) - - (10521) (6,565)  (117,086)
Bxchange difierences arising from RiTEZ2HEER
tranglaion to presentaton curency B4 VEREE - - - - - - - - - 997492 - 0974 122982 1120474
Exchange diferences arising fiom RAEMEE RS
ranslaton of oreign operations JERER - - - - - - - - - M - MM 1970 36547
Total comprehensive (expense)income. - AEEE (2 (5%)
for the year Wi = - - - - - - - (1,357,047) 1,032,069 10,778,032 10453054 1,862,510 12,315,564
Issug of new shares fromevercise of ~— RiTFERIEME
share options kG 300 65,099 - (13487) - - - - - - - 51,912 - 51912
Finl dhvidend for the year ended I
31 December 2020 (Note 12) “T-ALEEZ
R ) - - - - - - - - - - (1,107,202 (1,107,209) - (1,107,202)
Special final didend for the year ended  BZ-F-FE+-7
31 December 2020 Note 12) H-BIEEEZE
RERE () - - - - - - - - - - (14,107,292) (4,107,292) - (1,10729)
Interim dhidend orthe yearended  EE-E--%£1-f
31 December 2021 Note 12) ST-REEE RS
e (f2) = = = = = = - - - - (620924)  (620,924) - (620,924)
Aoquisions of adcitional interestsin ~ WENBATENMER
subsiclaries (Note 45(0)) (Hit45(0) - - - - - - - (836,702) - - - (836,702  (713,215) (1,549,917)
Disposalof partal nerest ina HE- MR
subsiery (Note 45(0) e - - - - - - - 319518 - - - MOS8 49114 5686
Dividends paid to non-controling SHFHBAR R
shareholders of subsidiaries REzke - - - - - - - - - - - - (666,091)  (666,091)
Transfers o reserve BRTHE - - - - - 6313% - - - - (637,3%) - - -
300 65,099 - (13487 - 637,395 - (617189 - - (3472903 (3.300,785) (1,130,192) (4430,977)
Balenos at 31 December 2021 St
=t-Ris 110879 6,630,959 1911 90 10504 2578494 280581 773838 (1,501,009) 3,869,474 50,261,361 63,017,172 5,666,121 68,683,293




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Notes:

Special surplus account represents the difference between the nominal amount of
the shares issued by the Company and the nominal amount of the issued share
capitals of the subsidiaries which were acquired by the Company under the Group
reorganisation in 1993.

Statutory reserve comprises statutory fund, which is non-distributable, represents
capitalisation of retained profits of certain subsidiaries established in the People’s
Republic of China (“PRC”) for capital re-investment in these subsidiaries and funds
shall be used to (i) make up prior year losses or (i) expand production operations.

The property revaluation reserve of the Group represents the gain on revaluation of
certain properties of the Group for own use as a result of transfer of those properties
from property, plant and equipment to investment properties.

Goodwill reserve represents the effects of changes in ownership in certain
subsidiaries when there is no change in control.
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BEHEEERRAA

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T = —F+-A=+—HILFE

2021 2020
—BEC--fF —EEF
NOTE HK$’000 HK$'000
FoaE FHET FHET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES RETH
Profit before taxation KRR R A 15,576,660 7,936,416
Adjustments for: S
Share of results of joint ventures [N (83,829) (77,868)
Share of result of an associate it NI (177,867) 2,673
Depreciation of property, ME - BEREEZITE
plant and equipment 1,893,522 1,636,392
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEENE 46,294 47,041
Amortisation of intangible assets mIEERE 6,480 6,480
Impairment loss on trade receivables, HE SRR 2 FE
net of reversal E18 - FIBREEE 93,136 13,797
Finance costs A& R A 275,481 457179
Interest income on bank balances, IRITREES - Tk ZEER R
deposits, entrusted loans and FEURE S 2 T BURA
loan receivable (92,885) (126,975)
(Gain) loss on fair value changes of BAFEFABEZEmTAEY
equity instruments at fair value N EEE (W) EE
through profit or loss (210,029) 978,285
Gain on disposal of debt instruments at HEZRAFEFAEMEER
fair value through other comprehensive Wz EF TR 2 NS
income (117,086) (106,245)
(Gain) loss on fair value changes of WEYMENFEESHZ
investment properties (M=) 518 (14,388) 5,437
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEHB AR ZMzE 34 (224,180) (29,776)
Write down of inventories FEHUR 326,679 7,556
Loss on disposal and written off of HEMMEEYE  BREK
property, plant and equipment RIEEE 197,802 91,624
Operating cash flows before movements BIBESEEAI KL
in working capital HehE 17,495,790 10,842,016
(Increase) decrease in inventories FEUEM)E D (1,183,300) 117,881
(Increase) decrease in properties held FERERYE L) F A
for development (1,158,766) 2,064,767
(Increase) decrease in trade and B 5 R E AW ER X R TR 5UE
other receivables and prepayments (3% hn) 3R (2,927,504) 329,891
(Increase) decrease in bills receivables FEUWEE (3ZH0) 5 (1,290,339) 524,926
Increase in equity instruments at BAFER BT
fair value through profit or loss T E#Em (1,610,959) (908,727)
(Increase) decrease in debt instruments BRAFEFARMEEKEZ
at fair value through other B TAEGEMm)ED
comprehensive income (30,986) 113,164
Increase in trade and other payables H 5 K& HAFER BRFIE N 1,438,293 709,530
Increase (decrease) in bills payables JERTSZ=EE A CRD) 329,831 (3,711)
Increase (decrease) in contract liabilities S4B EEmCRd) 1,308,993 (2,707,086)

T —FER



KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

GERETRER
2021 2020
—BEC--fF —ECTF
NOTE HK$’000 HK$’000
ihEEs FET FET
Cash generated from operations LEXEESERE 12,371,053 11,082,651
Other income taxes paid Hh B TSR (44,109) (27,313)
Other income tax refunded BEIREMATSH = 72,458
PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”) paid BRFBEEMEH
(TS (2,647,225) (1,304,561)
PRC Land Appreciation Tax (“LAT”) paid B4R B IR E R
([ HIBEF ) (151,462) (298,390)
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid EEBEBNEH (28,286) (25,153)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING BEEE TSRS FE
ACTIVITIES 9,499,971 9,499,692
INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETEH
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEE Y13 - W= MR E (2,595,602) (1,467,796)
Loan to an independent third party BTYBMYE=ZFER (1,880,000) -
Purchase of debt investments at fair value BB AT ETAEMMEE
through other comprehensive income W ERIRE (2,091,915) (1,574,660)
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, — BEEWE « MENEZHEZ
plant and equipment [EANEIEA (1,176,731) (150,858)
Net purchase of equity investments at fair  ZAFEFAEBZZ
value through profit or loss BT ENEERE (1,059,597) (2,873,648
Payments for right-of-use assets EREEENK (145,500) (52,177)
Net cash (outflow) inflow arising HENBARIFMEEZ FRE
on disposal of subsidiaries CRE)RA 34 (43,156) 288,936
Proceeds from disposal or on maturity of — HERAFEFF A LM EE
debt instruments at fair value through U2k 2 ER T A(SKEIE)
other comprehensive income FTiS#k18 2,013,361 7,102,545
Repayment received on loan receivable JEUE B W 5K 600,000 -
Interest received =N EPS) 109,223 81,293
Dividend received from a joint venture Pl —HEaEa aRE 85,637 80,319
Repayment received on entrusted loans ZAERBUER 77,955 100,095
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE  BE REE
plant and equipment S 65,231 1,119,779
Proceeds from disposal of HEFREEEMSRIA
right-of-use assets 28,817 59,607
Dividend received from an associate 2 —MEE A RRE = 51,131
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM BREEE(FTA)BRESFHE
INVESTING ACTIVITIES (6,012,277) 2,764,566
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BEHEEERRAA

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

GERETRER
2021 2020
—BEC--fF —ECTF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
FINANCING ACTIVITIES REEE
New bank borrowings raised FIZIRITIEE 16,538,876 10,313,336
Repayment of bank borrowings EEBRITIEE (15,392,979) (17,545,764)
Repayment of lease liabilities EEREaRE (4,257) (3,245)
Dividends paid on ordinary shares BT BRRS (2,524,202) (1,214,455)
Dividends paid to non-controlling TR FHE ARG Z IEARAR R
shareholders of subsidiaries 2B (2,041,338) (636,408)
Interest paid ERFLE (312,502) (652,875)
Consideration paid for acquisition of UG BE M A B BRI ME R
additional interests in subsidiaries Fri B (1,549,917) (2,607,089)
Proceeds from the partial disposal of a HENB AR ESATSRIEA
subsidiary 568,627 -
Proceeds from exercise of share options of {T{#EARA T R—REIME AR Z
the Company and a subsidiary BAERTSE 51,912 373,066
Payment on repurchase of shares (01 8 A7 - 3R = (44,948)
Capital redemption from non-controlling H—FEM B A A IR AR
shareholders of a subsidiary R R 21 & AR = (358,400)
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING RMEEBTRARESEE
ACTIVITIES (4,665,780) (12,276,782)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND HEeRBEZEER
CASH EQUIVALENTS P RARpE R (1,178,086) (12,524)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FNzRERRESEEER
THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 6,568,857 6,256,964
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE ExggeE
RATE CHANGES 121,586 324,417
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ERCESRESZAEEE -
AT THE END OF THE YEAR, ERTEBRRES
REPRESENTING BANK BALANCES
AND CASH 5,512,357 6,568,857

0
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KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T = —F+-A=+—HILFE

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Kingboard Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a public limited
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands and its shares are listed
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”). The addresses of the registered office and
principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in the
“Corporate Information” section of the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company and the principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in Note 45.

The principal activities of its subsidiaries are the manufacture and
sales of laminates, printed circuit boards (“PCBs”), chemicals,
magnetic products, property development and investments and
investment business.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$”), which is different from the Company’s functional
currency of Renminbi (‘RMB”), the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the Company operates. However, because the
Company’s shares are listed on the Stock Exchange, where most of
its investors are located in Hong Kong, therefore the directors of the
Company (“Directors”) considered it is more convenient for the users
of the consolidated financial statements.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective

for the current year

In the current year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) has applied the following amendments
to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time, which are mandatorily
effective for the annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021
for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements:
Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent

Concessions

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform —
Phase 2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

B RS AR M

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective

for the current year (continued)

In addition, the Group applied the agenda decision of the IFRS
Interpretations Committee (the “Committee”) of the International
Accounting Standards Board issued in June 2021 which clarified the
costs an entity should include as “estimated costs necessary to make
the sale” when determining the net realisable value of inventories.

Except as described below, the application of the amendments to
HKFRSs in the current year had no material impact on the Group’s
financial positions and performance for the current and prior years
and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39,
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16 “Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform - Phase 2”

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the
current year. The amendments relate to changes in the basis for
determining the contractual cash flows of financial assets, financial
liabilities and lease liabilities as a result of interest rate benchmark
reform, specific hedge accounting requirements and the related
disclosure requirements applying HKFRS 7 “Financial Instruments:
Disclosures” (“HKFRS 77).

As at 1 January 2021, the Group has several bank loans, the interests
of which are indexed to benchmark rates that will or may be subject
to interest rate benchmark reform. The following table shows the total
amounts of these outstanding contracts. The amounts of bank loans
are shown at their carrying amounts.

Bank loans
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MEE
2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STAN DARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective

for the current year (continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39,
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16 “Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform - Phase 2” (continued)

The amendments have had no impact on the consolidated financial
statements as none of the relevant contracts has been transitioned to
the relevant replacement rates during the year. The Group will apply
the practical expedient in relation to the changes in contractual cash
flows resulting from the interest rate benchmark reform for bank loans
measured at amortised cost. Additional disclosures as required by
HKFRS 7 are set out in Note 36.

Impacts on application of the agenda decision of the
Committee - Cost necessary to sell inventories (HKAS 2
“Inventories” (“HKAS 2”))

In June 2021, the Committee, through its agenda decision, clarified
the costs an entity should include as “estimated costs necessary
to make the sale” when determining the net realisable value of
inventories. In particular, whether such costs should be limited to
those that are incremental to the sale. The Committee concluded that
the estimated costs necessary to make the sale should not be limited
to those that are incremental but should also include costs that an
entity must incur to sell its inventories including those that are not
incremental to a particular sale.

The Group’s accounting policy prior to the Committee’s agenda
decision was to determine the net realisable value of inventories
taking into consideration incremental costs only. Upon application of
the Committee’s agenda decision, the Group changed its accounting
policy to determine the net realisable value of inventories taking
into consideration both incremental costs and other cost necessary
to sell inventories. The new accounting policy has been applied
retrospectively.

The application of the Committee’s agenda decision has had no
material impact on the Group’s financial positions and performance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

B RS AR M

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STAN DARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments
to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendment to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Amendments to HKFRSs

Insurance Contracts and the
related Amendments?

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework?

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture*

Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond 30 June
20211

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)3

Disclosure of Accounting Policies?

Definition of Accounting Estimates?®

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction?

Property, Plant and Equipment —
Proceeds before Intended Use?

Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfiling a Contract?

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2018-20202

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022.
8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.

Except for the amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below, the
Directors anticipate that the application of all other new and
amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MEE
2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STAN DARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 “Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current” and related amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)

The amendments provide clarification and additional guidance on the
assessment of right to defer settlement for at least twelve months
from reporting date for classification of liabilities as current or non-
current, which:

° specify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-
current should be based on rights that are in existence at the
end of the reporting period. Specifically, the amendments
clarify that:

(i) the classification should not be affected by
management intentions or expectations to settle the
liability within 12 months; and

(ii) if the right is conditional on the compliance with
covenants, the right exists if the conditions are met at
the end of the reporting period, even if the lender does
not test compliance until a later date.

° clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the option of
the counterparty, result in its settlement by the transfer of the
entity’s own equity instruments, these terms do not affect
its classification as current or non-current only if the entity
recognises the option separately as an equity instrument
applying HKAS 32 “Financial Instruments: Presentation”.

In addition, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 was revised as a consequence
of the Amendments to HKAS 1 to align the corresponding wordings
with no change in conclusion.

Based on the Group’s outstanding liabilities as at 31 December 2021,
the application of the amendments will not result in reclassification of
the Group’s liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

B RS AR M

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STAN DARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective (continued)
Amendments to HKAS 12 “Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction”

The amendments narrow the scope of the recognition exemption
of deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets in paragraphs 15
and 24 of HKAS 12 “Income Taxes” (“HKAS 12”) so that it no longer
applies to transactions that, on initial recognition, give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences.

As disclosed in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group applies HKAS 12 requirements to the relevant assets and
liabilities separately. Temporary differences on initial recognition of the
relevant assets and liabilities are not recognised due to application of
the initial recognition exemption.

Upon the application of the amendments, the Group will recognise a
deferred tax asset (to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible temporary difference
can be utilised) and a deferred tax liability for all deductible and
taxable temporary differences associated with the right-of-use assets
and the lease liabilities.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2023, with early application permitted. As at
31 December 2021, the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities which are subject to the amendments amounted to
HK$9,748,000 and HK$10,403,000 respectively. The Group is still
in the process of assessing the full impact of the application of the
amendments.

BHEHEERRAQH

w
ﬂ
TN

—~
-1

N 24
,@*

S - S

T

i
i3 |
@lg)n:u
TS

r\
e
pinry
Z

© 28 i B 1 R 4 Rz 37 AT AR 18
A BERMBREER ()
R EAE1258 (BT A EHE—
REELENEERBERBNELES
]
RZEBIRNBET BT ERE125
[FrEmJ([RE G ERIE125E]) 515
R 2ABIRFER IR B A MR E R IR B E H)
HERHPHE  FEIBERRENR
R E A REFR RN A N
HEZBNRS e

IR A B MR M P INEE - A&
B EB ST EFE 122 RED R
RREEEENAE - BREBYIATE
RE% WIERREREERAER
VISRERRS 2 BT Z8 -

REMZFERIANE  ARERERE
FEFE IR A BE (fis FE R B0 KR AT RE 4% B
TR 35 B AT R S B = R AT R E) R I )
KutiE g E R RERERRNM
B AR N R B By 2 R R SRR A
HAE -

HEBIIAR-_E-_=F—H—HAx%>
BRI FERESHEAESR - T a T
REEA HN-ZE-_—F+-_A=+—
A IREEIATENERAREER
HEBEZEmMED R A9,748,000/8
7L }%10,408,000/%8 7T © A& BT
ERAZEET A ZETE -

B —FFR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

3.

B RS AR M

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial

statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For
the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements, information is considered material if such
information is reasonably expected to influence decisions
made by primary users. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies

Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for investment properties
and certain financial instruments, that are measured at fair
values at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the

accounting policies below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the

consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a
basis, except for share-based payment transactions that
are within the scope of HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment”,
leasing transactions that are accounted for in accordance with
HKFRS 16 “Leases” (“HKFRS 16”), and measurements that
have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such
as net realisable value in HKAS 2 or value in use in HKAS 36

“Impairment of Assets” (“HKAS 36”).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial

statements (continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset

in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments and investment properties which
are transacted at fair value and a valuation technique that
unobservable inputs are to be used to measure fair value in
subsequent periods, the valuation technique is calibrated so
that at initial recognition the results of the valuation technique

equals the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as

follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity

can access at the measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the

asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or

liability.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

3.

B RS AR M

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting polices
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the

Company:
° has power over the investee;
° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its

involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
from the date the Group gains control until the date when the

Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-

controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in

line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of

the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

3.

B RS AR M

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting polices (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries

upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not
result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are
accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts
of the Group’s equity and the non-controlling interests are
adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the

subsidiaries.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity

and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets
and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests
(if any) are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss and is calculated as the difference between (i)
the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received
and the fair value of any retained interest and (i) the carrying
amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of
the subsidiary attributable to the owners of the Company.
All amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities
of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred
to another category of equity as specified/permitted by

applicable HKFRSs).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting polices (continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at
cost as established at the date of acquisition of the business
(see accounting policy above) less accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (“CGUs”")
(or groups of CGUs) that is expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination, which represent the lowest level
at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management
purpose and not larger than an operating segment.

A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually or more frequently
when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. For
goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the
CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been allocated
is tested for impairment before the end of that reporting
period. If the recoverable amount is less than its carrying
amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill and then to the other assets
of the unit on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount
of each asset in the unit (or group of CGUs).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting polices (continued)

Goodwill (continued)

On disposal of the relevant CGU or any of the CGU within
the group of CGUs, the attributable amount of goodwill is
included in the determination of the amount of profit or loss
on disposal. When the Group disposes of an operation within
the CGU (or a CGU within a group of CGUs), the amount of
goodwill disposed of is measured on the basis of the relative
values of the operation (or the CGU) disposed of and the
portion of the CGU (or the group of CGUs) retained.

The Group policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an
associate and a joint venture is described below.

Investments in an associate and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but
is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to
the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

3.

B RS AR M

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting polices (continued)

Investments in an associate and joint ventures (continued)

The results and assets and liabilities of an associate and joint
ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting. The
financial statements of an associate and joint ventures used
for equity accounting purposes are prepared using uniform
accounting policies as those of the Group for like transactions
and events in similar circumstances. Under the equity method,
an investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s
share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income
of the associate or joint venture. Changes in net assets of
the associate/joint venture other than profit or loss and other
comprehensive income are not accounted for unless such
changes resulted in changes in ownership interest held by the
Group. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate or
joint venture exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate
or joint venture (which includes any long-term interests that,
in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate or joint venture), the Group discontinues recognising
its share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised
only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the

associate or joint venture.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting polices (continued)
Investments in an associate and joint ventures (continued)

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted
for using the equity method from the date on which the
investee becomes an associate or a joint venture. On
acquisition of the investment in an associate or a joint
venture, any excess of the cost of the investment over the
Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which
is included within the carrying amount of the investment.
Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the
investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in
profit or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence
that the interest in an associate or a joint venture may be
impaired. When any objective evidence exists, the entire
carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is
tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single
asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value
in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying
amount. Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated to
any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying
amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment
loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent
that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently
increases.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint
venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the
transactions with the associate or joint venture are recognised
in the Group’s consolidated financial statements only to the
extent of interests in the associate or joint venture that are not
related to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

3.

B RS AR M

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting polices (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is

transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of the

following criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as

the Group performs;

° the Group’s performance creates or enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

° the Group’s performance does not create an asset

with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance

completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the

customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting polices (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Revenue from property investment will be accounted for
accordance with HKFRS 16, whereas dividend income and
interest income from investments will be accounted for in
accordance with HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (“HKFRS
9”).

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods, properties or services to a customer for
which the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress
towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation
Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on output method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of direct measurements of
the value of the goods or services transferred to the customer
to date relative to the remaining goods or services promised
under the contract, that best depict the Group’s performance
in transferring control of goods or services.

Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the
promised amount of consideration for the effects of the
time value of money if the timing of payments agreed (either
explicitly or implicitly) provides the customer or the Group
with a significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods or
services to the customer. In those circumstances, the contract
contains a significant financing component. A significant
financing component may exist regardless of whether the
promise of financing is explicitly stated in the contract or
implied by the payment terms agreed to by the parties to the
contract.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting polices (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Existence of significant financing component (continued)

For contracts where the period between payment and transfer
of the associated goods, properties or services is less than
one year, the Group applies the practical expedient of not
adjusting the transaction price for any significant financing
component.

For advance payments received from customers before
the transfer of the associated goods, properties or services
in which the Group adjusts for the promised amount of
consideration for a significant financing component, the Group
applies a discount rate that would be reflected in a separate
financing transaction between the Group and the customer at
contract inception. The relevant interest expenses during the
period between the advance payments were received and the
transfer of the associated goods and services are accounted
for on the same basis as other borrowing costs.

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date
of initial application of HKFRS 16 or arising from business
combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract is
or contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS
16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless
the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

3.

B RS AR M

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting polices (continued)
Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee
Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of
the non-lease components, including contract for acquisition
of ownership interests of a property which includes both
leasehold land and non-lease building components, unless

such allocation cannot be made reliably.

The Group applies practical expedient not to separate non-
lease components from lease component, and instead
account for the lease component and any associated non-

lease components as a single lease component.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases of leased properties that have a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option. Lease payments on short-term
leases are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or

another systematic basis over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting polices (continued)
Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

o the amount of the initial measurement of the lease

liability;

any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and
an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group

in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring

the underlying asset to the condition required by the

terms and conditions of the lease.

Except for those that are classified as investment properties
and measured under fair value model, right-of-use assets are
measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of

lease liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting polices (continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Right-of-use assets (continued)

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end
of the lease term are depreciated from commencement date
to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its
estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the
definition of investment property or inventory as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position. Right-
of-use assets that meet the definition of investment property
or inventory are presented within “investment properties” and
“properties held for development” respectively.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of
lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating
the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting polices (continued)
Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease liabilities (continued)

The lease payments include:

° fixed payments (including in-substance fixed

payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the

commencement date;

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group under

residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is

reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

o payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to

terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by

interest accretion and lease payments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

3.

B RS AR M

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting polices (continued)
Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
Lease liabilities (continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)

whenever:

° the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

o the lease payments change due to changes in market
rental rates following a market rent review, in which
cases the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using the

initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on

the consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group as a lessor
Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as
finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is
classified as a finance lease. All other leases are classified as

operating leases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting polices (continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessor (continued)

Classification and measurement of leases (continued)

Rental income from operating leases are recognised in profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset, and such costs are recognised as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term except for
investment properties measured under fair value model.

Rental income which are derived from the Group’s ordinary
course of business are presented as revenue.

Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were not
part of the original terms and conditions are accounted for
as lease modifications, including lease incentives provided
through forgiveness or reduction of rentals.

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease
as a new lease from the effective date of the modification,
considering any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating
to the original lease as part of the lease payments for the new
lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting polices (continued)
Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/
or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at fair values,
adjusted to exclude any prepaid or accrued operating lease
income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or loss in the
period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected from
its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of
the property (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is
included in the profit or loss in the year in which the item is
derecognised.

Properties held for development

Properties held for development which are intended to
be sold upon completion of development are classified
as current assets. Except for the leasehold land element
which is measured at cost model in accordance with the
accounting policies of right-of-use assets, properties held for
development are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on a specific identification basis
including allocation of the related development expenditure
incurred and where appropriate, borrowing costs capitalised.
Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for
the properties less estimated cost to completion and costs
necessary to make the sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

3.

B RS AR M

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting polices (continued)
Properties held for development (continued)

The Group transfers properties held for development to
investment properties when there is a change of intention
to hold the properties to earn rentals or/and for capital
appreciation rather than for sale in the ordinary course of
business, which is evidenced by the inception of an operating
lease to another party. Any difference between the fair value
at the date of transfer and its previous carrying amount is

recognised in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are determined on a weighted
average method. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated costs
of completion and costs necessary to make the sale. Costs
necessary to make the sale include incremental costs directly
attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs which the

Group must incur to make the sale.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are
held for use in the production or supply of goods or services,
or for administrative purposes (other than freehold lands
and property, plant and equipment under construction as
described below). Property, plant and equipment are stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent

accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Freehold lands are not depreciated and are measured at cost

less subsequent accumulated impairment losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

3.

B RS AR M

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting polices (continued)
Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Property, plant and equipment in the course of construction
for production, supply or administrative purposes, are
carried at cost less any recognised impairment loss. Costs
include any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset
to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable
of operating in the manner intended by the management
and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in
accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. Depreciation
of these assets, on the same basis as other property assets,
commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.

If a property becomes an investment property because its
use has changed as evidenced by end of owner-occupation,
any revaluation increase arising from revaluation of property,
plant and equipment is recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in property revaluation reserve.
On the subsequent sale or retirement of a revalued asset,
the attributable revaluation surplus is transferred to retained

profits.

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties which includes both leasehold land and building
elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the
leasehold land and the building elements in proportion to
the relative fair values at initial recognition. To the extent the
allocation of the relevant payments can be made reliably,
interest in leasehold land is presented as “right-of-use assets”

in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Artwork are stated at cost less impairment loss, if any. No
depreciation is provided as the artwork are held primarily for
office aesthetics with no intention to sell and are high value
paintings with indefinite useful lives and estimated residual

values of not less than their costs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting polices (continued)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets
(other than freehold lands, artwork and property, plant and
equipment under construction) less their residual value over
their estimated useful lives using the straight-line method.
The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is
regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired
in a business combination with finite useful lives are reported
at costs less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets
that are acquired separately.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when
no future economic benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an
intangible asset, measured as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are
recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

3.

B RS AR M

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting polices (continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets and intangible assets other than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intangible assets with finite useful lives to
determine whether there is any indication that these assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount individually, the Group estimates the recoverable

amount of the CGU to which the asset belongs.

In testing a CGU for impairment, corporate assets are
allocated to the relevant CGU when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of CGU which a
reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be established.
The recoverable amount is determined for the CGU or
group of CGUs to which the corporate asset belongs, and is
compared with the carrying amount of the relevant CGU or

group of CGUs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset (or a CGU) for which the estimates of future cash

flows have not been adjusted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

3.

B RS AR M

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting polices (continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets and intangible assets other than goodwill

(continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated
to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset (or a CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to
a CGU, the Group compares the carrying amount of a group
of CGUs, including the carrying amounts of the corporate
assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to that
group of CGUs, with the recoverable amount of the group
of CGUs. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment
loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-
rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit or the group of CGUs. The carrying amount of an asset
is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of
disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and
zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise
have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the
other assets of the unit or the group of CGUs. An impairment

loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a CGU or a group of CGUs) is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount,
but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a CGU or
a group of CGUs) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment

loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

3.

B RS AR M

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting polices (continued)
Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s
functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognised
at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried
at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the
fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are

not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations
are translated into the presentation currency of the Group
(i.e. HKS) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period. Income and expenses are translated at the
average exchange rates for the period. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity under the heading of translation
reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is a disposal of
the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a
foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an interest in a joint
arrangement or an associate that includes a foreign operation
of which the retained interest becomes a financial asset), all of
the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of
that operation attributable to the owners of the Company are

reclassified to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

3.

B RS AR M

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting polices (continued)
Foreign currencies (continued)

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that
does not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary,
the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences
are re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not
recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals
(i.e. partial disposals of associates or joint arrangements
that do not result in the Group losing significant influence or
joint control), the proportionate share of the accumulated

exchange differences is reclassified to profit or loss.

Exchange differences relating to the retranslation of the
Group’s net assets in RMB, to the Group’s presentation
currency (i.e. HK$) are recognised directly in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in translation
reserve. Such exchange differences accumulated in the
translation reserve are not reclassified to profit or loss

subsequently.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation before
1 January 2005 is treated as non-monetary foreign currency
items of the acquirer and reported using the historical cost

prevailing at the date of acquisition.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation on
or after 1 January 2005 are treated as assets and liabilities of
that foreign operation and translated at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Exchange
differences arising are recognised in other comprehensive

income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting polices (continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sales, are added to the cost
of those assets until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after the
related asset is ready for its intended use or sale is included
in the general borrowing pool for calculation of capitalisation
rate on general borrowings. Investment income earned on
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or
for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the
Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they become receivable. Such
grants are presented under “other income, gains and losses”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

3.

B RS AR M

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting polices (continued)
Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans,
state-managed retirement benefit schemes and the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are recognised as an
expense when employees have rendered service entitling

them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit

in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries and annual leave) after deducting

any amount already paid.

Share-based payments
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to the Directors and employees of the

Group

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
others providing similar services are measured at the fair value

of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into consideration
all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-
line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s
estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with
a corresponding increase in equity (share-based payments

reserve).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

3.

B RS AR M

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting polices (continued)
Share-based payments (continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions (continued)

Share options granted to the Directors and employees of the

Group (continued)

At end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimates
of the number of options that are expected to vest based on
assessment of all relevant non-market vesting conditions.
The impact of the revision of the original estimates during the
vesting period, if any, is recognised in profit or loss, such that
the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a
corresponding adjustment to share-based payments reserve.
For share options that are vest immediately at the date of
grant, the fair value of the share options granted is expensed

immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share-based payments reserve will be

transferred to share premium.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently

payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit before taxation because
of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group'’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end

of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting polices (continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised
for all deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit. In addition, the deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arisen from the initial
recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
an associate and interests in joint ventures, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated
with such investments and interests are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3.

B RS AR M

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting polices (continued)
Taxation (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by

the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and

liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the
carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be
recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption is
rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment property over
time, rather than through sale, except for freehold lands,
which are always presumed to be recovered entirely through

sale.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use
assets and the related liabilities, the Group first determines
whether the tax deductions are attributable the right-of-use

assets or the lease liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting polices (continued)

Taxation (continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 requirements to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
separately. Temporary differences on initial recognition
of the relevant right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are
not recognised due to application of the initial recognition
exemption. Temporary differences arising from subsequent
revision to the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities, resulting from remeasurement of lease
liabilities and lease modifications, that are not subject to
initial recognition exemption are recognised on the date of
remeasurement or modification.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied to the same taxation entity by the same taxation
authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is
included in the accounting for the business combination.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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B RS AR M

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting polices (continued)
Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when
a group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of
financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention in the

market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance
with HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”
("HKFRS 15”). Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets
and financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in

profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected
life of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on

initial recognition.

Interest income from debt instruments at fair value through
other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) and dividend income
from equity instruments which are derived from the Group’s
ordinary course of business are presented as revenue. Interest
income from bank balances and deposits, entrusted loans
and loan receivable are included in other income, gain and

losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting polices (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are

subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to

cash flows that are solely payments of principal and

interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are

subsequently measured at FVTOCI:

. the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both selling and

collecting contractual cash flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and

interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

3.

B RS AR M

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting polices (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

(continued)

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL, except that at initial recognition of a financial asset the
Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes
in fair value of an equity investment in other comprehensive
income if that equity investment is neither held for trading
nor contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer
in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 “Business

Combinations” applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of

selling in the near term; or

. on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of

short-term profit-taking; or

° it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as

a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised cost
or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or

significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting polices (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

(continued)
(i) Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost and debt instruments
subsequently measured at FVTOCI. Interest income
is calculated by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset,
except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired. For financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the
next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-
impaired financial instrument improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following
the determination that the asset is no longer credit-

impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

3.

B RS AR M

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting polices (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(continued)
(i Debt instruments classified as at FVTOCI

Subsequent changes in the carrying amounts for debt
instruments classified as at FVTOCI as a result of
interest income calculated using the effective interest
method, and foreign exchange gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss. All other changes
in the carrying amount of these debt instruments
are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated under the heading of investment
revaluation reserve. Impairment allowances are
recognised in profit or loss with corresponding
adjustment to other comprehensive income
without reducing the carrying amounts of these
debt instruments. When these debt instruments
are derecognised, the cumulative gains or losses
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
are reclassified to profit or loss.

(iii) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated
as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period, with any fair value
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net
gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any
dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and
is included in the “gain (loss) on fair value changes of
equity instruments at FVTPL”.

BEHEEERRAA

FEEHEE®)

SMIAE)
THEEE)
SREBESERBENE(E)

(i)

(iii)

DERRATEFAR
b2 ER R EBTA
.1§ﬁﬁﬂmﬁcljf/£u+é
WA B MAZH SR
RIBEXFEFAEME
T W ) B T AR 12
ﬁ“%@ﬁfﬁ“iﬂ&lﬁ)‘%
bi=Fen E/\?Eﬁnﬁﬁwu -

Fﬁlﬂ%@ﬁ@mﬁ
BHEMEEHNEMEE
KR WRIEEE
hEET 25 o BER
HERIERER - WHH
i 2 T Wt 25 1 HH AR FE R
B RNRLREBRBL
BEMREE EZ5E
ﬁl/\/\ﬁﬁﬁwuﬁ‘r i
AR E A 2 T U 2 FE R
B R s BB E

Ay 5 ><
DIEEER o

BAFEFARENE

BMEE
BRAFEFABENS
BEEMITA REH

ARG IR A FER
A E A 2 e 5 S T
RN FEFAEMLE
mies - AR R FER
UNER

BAFEFABENE
Eﬁiﬁéﬁé%%&%ﬁﬂ%%ﬁ

RNEFEFE  ERARF
Bl R EIER B
R o N ER 2 W R
HBRFETBRENZ
T BB E B A
BB - WFFATRA
FEFABENEST
B2 R EESWG(E
B)]e

B —FFR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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B RS AR M

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting polices (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets (including trade
receivables, other receivables, bills receivables, entrusted
loans, loan receivable, debt instruments at FVTOCI and bank
balances) and financial guarantee contracts which are subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of
ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in

credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”)
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to
result from default events that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting date. Assessments are done based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at the
reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. The ECL on these assets are assessed individually

and/or collectively based on appropriate groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a

default occurring since initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

3.

B RS AR M

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting polices (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

° an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the financial instrument’s external (if
available) or internal credit rating;

. significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit default
swap prices for the debtor;

° existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting polices (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor;

an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk of financial
assets has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more than
30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at
the reporting date. A debt instrument is determined
to have low credit risk if (i) it has a low risk of default,
(i) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term
and (i) adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to
fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. The Group
considers a debt instrument to have low credit
risk when it has an internal or external credit rating
of “investment grade” as per globally understood
definitions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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B RS AR M

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting polices (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that
the Group becomes a party to the irrevocable
commitment is considered to be the date of initial
recognition for the purposes of assessing impairment.
In assessing whether there has been a significant
increase in the credit risk since initial recognition of
financial guarantee contracts, the Group considers
the changes in the risk that the specified debtor will
default on the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

(ii) Definition of default
For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account
any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting polices (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the following events:

ANNUAL REPORT 2021

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider;

it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

3.

B RS AR M

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting polices (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(iv) Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, for example, when the counterparty has
been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off
may still be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.

V) Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the
exposure at default. The assessment of the probability
of default and loss given default is based on historical
data and forward-looking information. Estimation of
ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted
amount that is determined with the respective risks of
default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting polices (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

W)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is
required to make payments only in the event of a
default by the debtor in accordance with the terms
of the instrument that is guaranteed. Accordingly, the
ECL is the present value of the expected payments to
reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it incurs less
any amounts that the Group expects to receive from
the holder, the debtor or any other party.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables are
considered on a collective basis taking into
consideration past due information and relevant credit
information such as forward-looking macroeconomic
information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

° Past-due status;
o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
° External credit ratings where available.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

3.

B RS AR M

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting polices (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

V) Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

The grouping is regularly reviewed by the management
to ensure the constituents of each group continue to
share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised cost
of the financial asset.

Except for investments in debt instruments that
are measured at FVTOCI and financial guarantee
contracts, the Group recognises an impairment gain
or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments by
adjusting their carrying amount, with the exception
of trade receivables, where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance
account. For investments in debt instruments that are
measured at FVTOCI, the loss allowance is recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
the investment revaluation reserve without reducing
the carrying amount of these debt instruments. Such
amount represents the changes in the investment
revaluation reserve in relation to accumulated loss
allowance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting polices (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in a debt instrument
classified as at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously
accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve is
reclassified to profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which
the Group has elected on initial recognition to measure at
FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in
the investment revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit
or loss, but is transferred to retained profits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting polices (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is
recognised and deducted directly in equity and recognised in
capital redemption reserve. No gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss on purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the
Company’s own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables, bills
payables, dividends payable and bank borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting polices (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the
issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder
for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make
payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt
instrument. Financial guarantee contracts liabilities are initially
measured at their fair values. It is subsequently measured at
the higher of:

(i) the amount of the loss allowance determined in
accordance with HKFRS 9; and

(ii) the amount initially recognised less, where
appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised over
the guarantee period.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mER

R R

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in Note 3, the Directors are required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-
going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if revision
affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving
estimations (see below), that the Directors have made in the process
of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in consolidated financial
statements.

Deferred taxation on investment properties (Notes 14 and 24)
For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or deferred tax
assets arising from investment properties that are measured using the
fair value model, the Directors have reviewed the Group’s investment
property portfolios as at 31 December 2021, and concluded that the
investment properties located in the PRC with carrying amount of
HK$13,671,330,000 (2020: HK$11,895,001,000) are held under a
business model which objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment properties over time,
rather than through sale. Therefore, the Directors have determined the
presumption that the carrying amounts of such investment properties
are recovered entirely through sale is rebutted. As a result, the Group
has not recognised deferred taxes on LAT in respect of changes in
fair value of such investment properties but has recognised deferred
tax on EIT on the assumption that these investment properties will be
recovered through use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MEE
4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTA'NTY (continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
(continued)

Deferred taxation on investment properties (Notes 14 and 24)
(continued)

As at 31 December 2021, the investment properties located
in Hong Kong and the United Kingdom with carrying amounts
of HK$4,113,590,000 (2020: HK$4,104,690,000) and
HK$4,035,096,000 (2020: HK$4,054,256,000), respectively are
not held under a business model which objective is to recover the
economic benefits of the investment properties entirely through use.
No deferred tax is recognised in respect of the fair value change in
such investment properties as the Group is not subject to any income
taxes on disposal of investment properties in Hong Kong. The group
is subject to capital Gains Tax on disposal of investment properties in
the United Kingdom. No deferred tax is recognised in respect of the
fair value change in such investment properties located in the United
Kingdom as the amount is insignificant.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that may have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the
next financial year.

Allowances for inventories (Note 25)

In determining the net realisable value of the Group’s inventories, the
management considers the fluctuations in price, the balance on hand
relative to sales prospect and the condition of the inventories and
estimate the net realisable value of inventories based on estimated
selling prices and market condition to the extent that such condition
exists at the end of reporting period, less the estimated cost of
completion and costs necessary to make the sale. Where the net
realisable value is less than the carrying amount, impairment loss will
arise. A write-down of HK$326,679,000 (2020: HK$7,556,000) on
inventories has been recognised during the year ended 31 December
2021. As at 31 December 2021, the carrying amount of inventories
was HK$3,913,206,000 (2020: HK$3,010,897,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MEE
4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTA'NTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Estimated net realisable value on properties held for
development (Note 26)

In determining whether write down should be made to the Group’s
properties held for development, the Group determined the net
realisable values of the properties held for development by reference
to the estimated selling price less estimated costs to completion
of the properties and costs necessary to make the sale. The future
selling prices are estimated by reference to the recent selling prices
of similar properties in the same project or relevant locations. In
addition, the management estimated the future costs to complete the
properties held for development and costs necessary to make the sale
by reference to the actual development costs and selling expenses
incurred and the completion status. If the actual net realisable values
on properties held for development is less than expected as a result
of change in market condition and/or significant variation in the
budgeted development cost, material write down may result. As
at 31 December 2021, the carrying amount of properties held for
development was HK$19,675,817,000 (2020: HK$19,842,807,000).

ECL for trade receivables (Notes 27 and 36)

Trade receivables that are credit-impaired are assessed for ECL
individually, and the remaining trade receivables are assessed
collectively based on shared credit risk characteristics by reference
to the Group’s internal credit ratings. The estimated loss rates
are estimated based on historical observed default rates over the
expected life of the debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort. At every
reporting date, the historical observed default rates are reassessed
and changes in the forward-looking information are considered.

The ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The information about
the ECL and the Group’s trade receivables are disclosed in Notes 36
and 27(a).

As at 31 December 2021, the carrying amount of trade receivables
was HK$9,579,364,000 (2020: HK$7,361,508,000), net of allowance
for credit losses of HK$1,257,523,000 (2020: HK$1,171,133,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

B RS AR M

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTA'NTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Fair value measurements and valuation processes

Some of the Group’s assets are measured at fair value for financial
reporting purposes. The Directors have a designated team to
determine the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for fair
value measurements.

In estimating the fair value of the Group’s investment properties,
the Group uses market-observable data to the extent it is available.
Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engages third party
qualified valuer to perform the valuation of the Group’s investment
properties. At the end of each reporting period, the Directors work
closely with the qualified external valuer to establish and determine the
appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for Level 2 and Level 3
fair value measurements. The Group will first consider and adopt Level
2 inputs where inputs can be observable, other than quoted prices in
the active market. When Level 2 inputs are not available, the Group
will adopt valuation techniques that include Level 3 inputs. Where
there is a material change in the fair value of the assets, the causes of
the fluctuations will be reported to the Directors. Any changes in the
price per square metre in reference with recent transactions will affect
the fair value of the investment properties of the Group. Information
about the valuation techniques and inputs used in determining the fair
value of the Group’s investment properties are disclosed in Note 14.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTA'NTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Fair value measurements and valuation processes (continued)

In relying on the valuation report, the Directors have exercised their
judgement and are satisfied that the method of valuation is reflective
of the current market conditions. Whilst the Group considers
valuations of the Group’s investment properties are the best estimates,
the ongoing Covid-19 pandemic has resulted in greater market
volatility depending on how the Covid-19 pandemic may progress and
evolve, which have led to higher degree of uncertainties in respect
of the valuations in the current year. Changes to these assumptions,
including the potential risk of any market violation, policy, geopoalitical
and social changes or other unexpected incidents as a result
of change in macroeconomic environment, travel restrictions
implemented by many countries, increased complexity in international
trade tensions geopolitics, changes in policy direction and/or
mortgage requirements, or other unexpected incidents would result
in changes in the fair values of the Group’s investment properties and
the corresponding adjustments to the amount of gain or loss reported
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

In estimating the fair value of the Group’s equity instruments at FVTPL
and debt instruments at FVTOCI, the Group uses market-observable
data to the extent it is available. For listed equity securities classified as
equity instruments at FVTPL, the fair values of the listed securities are
determined by reference to the quoted market bid prices available.
For bond securities classified as debt instruments at FVTOCI, where
Level 1 inputs are not available, the Directors assess the fair value of
the Group’s bond securities listed on the Stock Exchange and the
SGX based on quoted prices in the over-the-counter markets at the
end of each reporting period. Where there is a material change in the
fair value of the equity investments at FVTPL and debt instruments
at FVTOCI, the causes of the fluctuations will be reported to the
Directors. Notes 21, 22 and 36(c) provides detailed information about
the valuation techniques, inputs and key assumptions used in the
determination of the fair value of the Group’s equity instruments at
FVTPL and debt instruments at FVTOCI.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

5. REVENUE

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

5. EXH
Analysis of revenue for the year is as follows: FRNEEBNOTAT -
2021 2020
—E-— TECTE
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FA&T
Revenue recognised at a point in time RE RN EEEE
Sales of chemicals HELTER 15,254,057 9,910,485
Sales of laminates HEBINE R 24,349,097 13,931,952
Sales of PCBs HE I RIARIEIR 13,600,778 10,551,111
Sales of properties HEWZE 1,174,549 7,218,091
Others (Note i) EA (B3I 427,176 324,327
Revenue recognised over time (Note ii) G e R R A 2 2288 (B 5 i) 150,871 110,385
Revenue from contracts with customers BEFE AW 54,956,528 42,046,351
Rental income (Note 40) e WA (H3E40) 1,200,483 1,114,037
Interest income from debt instruments BT AR SWA 273,535 207,443
Dividend income from equity instruments EETARBMA 324,728 142,443
56,755,274 43,510,274
Notes: k=S
(i) The amount mainly included sales of magnetic products of (i) ZEHRITEREMEEREES
HK$312,867,000 (2020: HK$280,420,000). 312,867,000 7T ( = & = T 4 :

(i)

Revenue recognised over time represents income from hotel

accommodation.

The revenue of the Group arising from sales of laminates, PCBs,
chemicals and magnetic products is recognised at a point in time.
Under the transfer-of-control approach in HKFRS 15, revenue from
these sales is recognised when customer acceptance has been
obtained, which is the point of time when the goods are delivered
based on the agreed shipping terms and the location specified by the
customers, and when the customer has the ability to direct the use of
these products and obtain substantially all of the remaining benefits of
these products.

The revenue of the Group arising from sales of properties in the
ordinary course of business is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the respective properties.

Revenue from hotel accommodation are recognised over time, as
the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group’s performance as the Group performs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A I IRARMIEE

REVEN U E (continued)

Transaction price allocated to the remaining

performance obligation for contracts with customers

All sales contracts, apart for sales of properties, have an original
expected duration of one year or less. As permitted under HKFRS
15, the transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligation for these contracts is not disclosed.

The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligations for sales of properties (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied)
as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 and the expected timing of
recognising revenue are as follows:

BHEHEERRAQH

EER

RETMERTEFENENE
ENR 5B
BEEMEIN - EHESNRERF
H A ERAT - BB 5 RER
BISHAMARERZANBR TROE
R D ERTERE -

R-FB-_—FR-_FT_FTF+_A
=t—RB HENESEEHRTREOE
ECREREIBD REK) X HEHEK
RERRE EERROT

Sale of properties

SHEWE

2021 2020

—E-—F —ETF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

Within one year —FR 3,007,104 2,463,399
More than one year but not more than —F L ETHRBMRE

two years 1,165,017 961,809

4,172,121 3,425,208
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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B RS AR M

SEGMENT INFORMATION

HKFRS 8 “Operating Segments” (“HKFRS 8”) requires operating
segments to be identified on the basis of internal reports about
components of the Group that are regularly reviewed by the executive
directors of the Company, who are the Chief Operating Decision
Makers (“CODM”), in order to allocate resources to segments and
to assess their performance. Specifically, the Group’s reportable
segments under HKFRS 8 are organised into six main operating
divisions — (i) laminates, (ii) PCBs, (iiij chemicals, (iv) properties, (v)
investments (mainly investment income from debt instruments at
FVTOCI and equity instruments at FVTPL) and (vi) others (mainly
including service income, manufacture and sale of magnetic products
and hotel business).

The accounting policies the Group used for segment reporting under
HKFRS 8 are the same as those used in its HKFRS consolidated
financial statements. Segment profit or loss represents the profit
(loss) earned by each segment with certain items not included (share
of result of an associate, share of results of joint ventures, gain on
disposal of subsidiaries, finance costs and unallocated corporate
income and expenses). This is the measure reported to the CODM for
the purpose of resource allocation and performance assessment.
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A I IRARMIEE

6.

(@

BEEEEERA A
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. DEBERw)
Segment revenue and results (@) DEPEEFEREE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results AT RIRBRSME D 2 AEE
by reportable segments: ERERBMEE NI
For the year ended 31 December 2021 BE-Z—_—H+=-A=+—H
IHEE
Laminates PCBs  Chemicals  Properties Investments Others ~ Eliminations  Consolidated
BAER ORSER  (IER hg RE i 3f ke
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$1000 HK$000 HK$'000
ThR TR TEn TR T T ThRL Thn
(Note a) (Note b) (Note c)
(WiFa) (Wb (Kske)
Seqment revenue HPesE
Extemnal sales HIEER 24349097 13600778 15,254,057 2,375,032 508,263 578,047 - 56,755,274
Inter-segment sales PEEIHER 4,856,646 - 1123104 - = 1084 (5,990,734) 5
Total 3 20205743 13,600,778 16,377,251 2,375,032 598,263 588941  (5,090,734) 56,755,274
Resut 4
Segment resuits prE 8319819 1,056,506 3976326 1,531,604 925,375 (94,944 15,714,686
Gain on dlsposal of subsiciaries  HEMBAT 24 204,180
Unallocated comporateincome & ATLZAAMA 72,69
Unallocated comorate expenses R AFEH (421,115)
Finance costs BERK (275,481)
Share of results o oint ventres ~ FEEASATLE 83829
Shareof resultof anassociate  EEEAATEE 177,867
Proft before taxation ik 15,576,660
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

mEMBRRME
6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. ﬁﬁgﬁﬂ(%)
(@ Segment revenue and results (continued) (a) ’“‘Bﬁ%%ﬁ&%
For the year ended 31 December 2020 BE-_ZT-ZF+= FJ ‘I' B
IEFE
Laminates PCBs  Chemicals  Properties  Investments Others  Eliminations ~ Consolidated
BAER OBGER  (LIEG VES e Eff i a4
HK$000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$ 000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$1000 HK$'000
T T T T T T T T
(Note ) (Note b (Note c)
(Hita) k) G
Seqment revente HPesE
Extemnal sales IsER 13931952 10561111 9910485 8332128 349,886 434,712 - 43510274
Inter-segment sales PR EER 2,660,970 - 648370 - - 9679 (3319019 -
Total st 16692922 10551111 10558850 8332128 349,886 44301 3319019 43510274
Resul 55
Segment resuits prE 3312673 1,066,321 1,156980  3516,9% (17,717) 34,487 8,569,740
Gain on dlsposal of subsiciaries  HEMBAT 24 2778
Unallocated corporateincome & AFLZAAMA 57,347
Unalocated coorate expenses ~ &ARZ AFRE (338.463)
Finance costs BEAL (457,179)
Shere of resus of joint ventures FE(RASATIEE 77,868
Shereof resuft of anassociate  FEREAATIEE (2673)
Proft before taxation it 7,936,416
Notes: I
(@) The management aggregated the revenue derived from the (a) BIHESWEHEERMED

sales of properties and rental income into “Properties” segment
because the financial performance of both businesses are

affected by changes in the property market.

(b) The management aggregated the revenue derived from the
interest income from debt instruments and dividend income from

equity instruments into “Investments” segment.

() The management aggregated the revenue derived from the sales
of magnetic products, income from hotel accommodation and

income from other businesses.

Inter-segment sales are charged on a cost-plus basis with an
arm’s length margin.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A I IRARMIEE

BEHEEERRAA

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. /J-J\ﬁlgﬁ*sl'(%)
(b) Segment assets and liabilities b) SHBEEREE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities AT BiRBRm 20 o NEE
by reportable segments: BERBEZSN
At 31 December 2021 R-B-—-F+=ZA=+—H
Laminates PCBs  Chemicals  Properties Investments Others  Consolidated
EAER  ORISER tIER LE RE Ef e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThT ThL THT ThL Thr Thn Thr
Assets &E
Segment assets NHEE 23,166,573 16,000,895 3,826,210 42,949,716 9,576,551 821,362 96,347,307
Interests in an associate REEDTZER 563,247
Interests in joint ventures RAEREZER 2,598,657
Unallocated assets ROELAE
~ Bank balances and cash i Y6k 2,341,949
- Deferred tax assets ~EHEEE 2,24
- Taxation recoverable - EHE 30,146
-Others ~Eft 1,932,168
Consolidated total assets GABERE 103,815,768
Liabilities &
Seqment iabities A&k (3991,061)  (2944720)  (1,146,094)  (5,244,452) = (67,140)  (12,993,467)
Unallocated fibilties Apliz 6k
- Bank borrowings -Bi7fEE (18,405,934)
- Taxation payable —[ESiA (2,161,015)
- Deferred tax liabiities -EREfERE (612,029)
-Others -Ef (960,036)
Consolidated total libiities GREENE (35,132,475)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (ontinued) 6.

(b) Segment assets and liabilities (continued)
At 31 December 2020

Laminates PCBs  Chemicals
BEER  ORgER tIEm
HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$000

FiEn T TiEn

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

DEPEE @
b) HBEERESES

R-E-_ZEF+-HA=+—H

Properties  Investments Others  Consolidated

U RE i A

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000

T TEL T TEL

Assets g
Segment assets HHEE 19,573,195 13,830,672 3,627,852 42,450,567 7,864,358 1078676 88,425,820
Interests in an associate REENAZER 369,314
Interests in joint ventures REERTZfER 2,609,520
Unallocated assets AOMEE
-~ Bank balances and cash -RiESRAES 1416,390
- Deferred tax assets -BEREAE 2667
-~ Taxation recoverable -AkERE 18,468
- Others -Eft 406,959
Consolidated total assets DRBEEE 93,249,138
Liabilities 8f
Seqment liablfes ABEE RIS (2521604 (876303 (4000850 - Ry (1045775
Unallocated liabiites RALZEE
- Bank borrowings -BEE (17,230,846)
- Taxation payable —[ESiA (1,880,064)
- Deferred tax liabilties -EiRERRE (690,621)
- Others -t (2,191,149)
Consolidated total iblies FREELE (32.450432)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and
allocating resources between segments:

° all assets are allocated to operating segments other
than interest in an associate, interests in joint ventures,
deferred tax assets, taxation recoverable, certain bank
balances and cash and other assets; and

o all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other
than bank borrowings, deferred tax liabilities, taxation
payable and other liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

6. SEGMENT |NFORMATION (continued)

(c)

Other information
For the year ended 31 December 2021

6.

Amounts included in the measure of segment profit or loss or

segment assets:

Laminates PCBs

BaEf  ARERK
HK$'000  HKS'000

TR Thn

Capital addltions BRER 1,303,130 1,241,541
Depreciation of property, g BRRERGEE

plant and equipment (129,791)  (689,907)
Depreciation of ight-o-use assets  EREEERE (14,107) (8,902)
Gain on fair value changes of eouity AT (B3t AEREERTA

instruments at FVTPL LYEEINE = =
(Gain on disposal of debt instruments HERATE AL B2 ENE

atToc| HERT AN = =
Impaiment loss (recognisec) HERENES (BR)REL

reversed on trade recevables  EEE (89,491) 7,204
(Write-own) reversal ofwrite-down 725 (K i

of inventories (321,766) 61,599

Interest income on bank balances,  $7755 530 BHETR
depostts, entrusted loans and ERETZHISHA
loan receivable 20,388 211

Loss on disposal and writenoff of & ikt - BER
propery, plantand equipment— FEEE (20749)  (117,250)
(Gain on fai value changes of RENELTERSY

investment properties ey o -

Chemicals
LIER
HK$'000

TER

388,368

(398,620
(10,828)

(10,288)

(93,874)

10517

(24,245)

BEHEEERRAA

DEPEE @

()

Properties  Investments Others

hz
HK$'000
Tn
1212698

(4,496)

(1,016)

21,010

(688)

14,388

BE-T——
IHEE
FFAD BB
S8
RE 1)
HK$'000 HK$'000
Tin T#7
34 63,459

(2225 (68463

- (17,367)
210,029 =
117,086 =

- 455

- 21,362

3,325 8

- (34,870)

#+=-A=t—-A
sk B EERE
Unallocated
amount  Consolidated
RAREH ga
HK$000 HK$'000
T TR
- 4200230
- (189352
- (46,294)
- 210,029
- 117,086
- (93,136)
- (326,679
33,386 92,885
- (197,809
- 14,388

—=
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KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBmRMETE
6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. /]-J\%Bﬁ*il'(%)
(c)  Other information (continued) (c) HtERE
For the year ended 31 December 2020 gz-_E-_FEF+=-A=+—8
LHEE
Amounts included in the measure of segment profit or loss or SADEERE DI EETER
segment assets: SFE
Unallocated
Laminates PCBs  Chemicals  Properties  Investments Others amount  Consolidated
BEER  ORSER  KIER H e U il a4
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HKS 000
Fin Thn Thn Thn Thn Thn Thn Thn
Capital addtions BRER 1,163,589 538,547 262414 172,724 - 49945 - 2187219
Depreciation of property, g BERRE?
olantand equipment & BB pOTE  @I8TR0 QA% [s0s  (63g0T) - (163%3%)
Depreciation of iht-of-use assets  [FREEENE (15,663) (¢.856) (7697) - - (188 - )
Loss on fair valug changes of equity 2 AT(EG A BREIERTE
instruments at FYTPL LYEEER - - - - (078285) - - (078285
(Gain on disposal of debt instruments HERATE ALHEE
at VIO BENHERTAYE - - - - 1062 - - 106245
Impaiment loss reversed B RIERE(RD)
(recognisec] on trade receivables  FEESE 30,691 (33318 (17,034 (1,390) - (1,746) - (13.797)
Reversal of write-down (write-down) 72 EREAR (i)
of inventories 75,201 (3,716) (71,360) - - (7,701) - (7,556)
Interest incorne on benk belences, {355+ 31 ZHEERR
deposts, entusted kansand ~ [EREHZFZMA
loan receivable 21871 2678 2457 26,366 7,357 64 45,682 126975
Gain (oss) on disposal and LERMENE  BERREL
witten off of property, & (B8)
plant and equipment 2438 (15,350) (78,621) (36) - (49 - (91,624)
Loss on fair valug changes of FENELTEESY
investment properties BB - - - (6,437) - - - (6,437)
The Group operates principally in the PRC (country of NEBFEEBMNPER(KNRE
domicile). ZFEHD)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRME
6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (ontinued) 6.
(c)  Other information (continued)

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue from
external customers by geographical location of the customers
or tenants or in the case of interest income and dividend
income, the principal place of business of the debtor or
investee:

BEHEEERRAA

DEPEE @

()

Ht&ER (®)
REBRBEEFHHEPHME -
Sl fst 8 N1 S A B Bl B A IR
BEBATRRETH T EE?
HWEEE SN ED R P A R D AT A0
T

Year ended 31 December

BE+-HA=+—HLEFE

2021 2020

—E-—F —TTF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FAET

The PRC (country of domicile) PR (FTERIZ) 51,264,380 39,249,965
Other Asian countries (including Thailand, — EfSMEIR (BIEREH -

Japan, Korea and Singapore) B« 88E KETh) 2,829,299 2,096,079
Europe BOM 1,688,712 1,506,308
America EM 972,883 657,922

56,755,274 43,510,274

No single external customer of the Group contributed over
10% of the Group’s revenue for each of the years ended 31
December 2021 and 2020.

The geographical analysis of the Group’s non-current assets
other than loan receivable, entrusted loans, deferred tax
assets, equity instruments at FVTPL and debt instruments at
FVTOCI by location of assets is presented as follows:

HE-Z-_—FR-_ZT=-ZTF
+-B=+—HItFE KA&£E
WEE— 2 IR IE AN EEE
HEEBIB10% °

BREWER - ZFEER - RILEH
BEEE - RAFER ABGZRE
m L AMRAFHEFARLMEE
W BB LA AEEZFR
PEEREEMI DT 2540
T

At 31 December

B+=—A=+—H
2021 2020
—E-—fF ZETF
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FAT
The PRC (country of domicile) R (FTERZ) 39,531,761 35,470,515
United Kingdom HE 6,419,901 6,388,533
Thailand = 364,715 362,234
46,316,377 42,221,282
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KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

7. OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES 7. HMWA -~ WEmRkBE

2021 2020
—E-—fF TECTE
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FA&T
Other income, gains and losses includes: Hiplg A ~ Wz R EEeE
Interest income on bank balances and deposits #R7T45842 R iE4E 7 B A 40,728 58,960
Interest income on entrusted loans ZEERZFBWA 18,771 22,333
Interest income from loan receivable JEUE R Z F B 33,386 45,682
Government grants (Note) BRAT R8N (B7E) 81,157 84,692
Loss on disposal and written off of property, HERMEmE - BB &
plant and equipment B ] (197,802) (91,624)
Others HAth (47,763) (23,074)
(71,523) 96,969
Note:  During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group recognised e : REBEE-Z-_ZTE+-A=+—HI1t
government grants of HK$4,601,000 in respect of Covid-19-related FE - AEEEREACOVID-19F E
subsidies, of which HK$4,529,000 relates to Employment Support Scheme ) BT 6 Bk 4,601,000 7T - H e
provided by the Hong Kong government. No such government grants in EERNRMEFSEBHORGTH
respect of Covid-19-related subsidy is noted during the year ended 31 854,529,000 - HE=ZT = —F
December 2021, +ZA=+—BFERN - R&EH
COVID-197% 8 # By 9 7% & BUR U #
Bl e
The remaining government grants are related to unemployment 2T B IR 4/ B A 7N &2 B 144 AR 78 BURT 6
insurance premium refunds, import of high technology products, FIESHNAERREBRE - &0
development support and support for stabilising employment received EmEAXE BEIENEBEREX
by the Group from relevant government departments. There are no & o REEMZERHEEM N R RE
unfulfilled conditions attached to these grants. W e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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8.

BEHEEERRAA

B SRR MEE
FINANCE COSTS 8. MEMA
2021 2020
—E-—fF TECTE
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FA&T
Interest on bank borrowings ﬁE?ﬂﬁf@?f 15 320,733 499,273
Imputed interest on contract liabilities ERAEZEENE 19,103 41,758
Interest on lease liabilities ﬂﬁ%ﬁﬂ@ 577 597
Less: Amounts capitalised in the properties B FT AR EERYEDN
held for development B ERE (50,883) (80,168)
Amounts capitalised in the construction ELI&E’JﬁﬂMKE‘E%ﬁ
in progress (14,049) (4,281)
275,481 457,179
Bank and other borrowing costs capitalised during the year include FREBEMNMEZIRTTREMEER AR
imputed interest on contract liabilities of HK$19,103,000 (2020: A Z’j% EZ@ HF B 419,103,000
HK$41,758,000) as well as, bank borrowing costs arising from the Bo(= T 4F ¢ 41,758,000 7T )
general borrowing pool which were calculated by applying a weighted &— ﬂxfﬁq/‘ﬂﬁ HZBITERERA - LA
average capitalisation rate of 1.91% (2020: 2.92%) per annum to Aé%é?%ﬁi}][}%¥t’j§${t¢ﬂ$
expenditure on qualifying assets. 1.91%(ZEZFF : 2.92%)5
INCOME TAX EXPENSE 9. FIEHMAX
2021 2020
—E-—F TECTE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
The amount comprises: HIEBE -
PRC EIT PR EMEH 2,716,917 1,227,159
PRC LAT RE L iR ER 123,132 361,356
Hong Kong Profits Tax FEMER 32,795 219,757
Taxation arising in other jurisdictions Hh AR 2 B8 32,461 22,309
Withholding tax in the PRC TR 225,714 273,193
(Over) underprovision in previous years BEFE(RREE BETR (29,917) 2,858
3,101,102 2,106,632
Deferred taxation (Note 24) EIERLIE (FI5E24) (78,503) 1,431
3,022,599 2,108,063
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

9.

B RS AR M

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

Under the Law of the PRC on EIT (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation
Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25%
for both years.

Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax of 5% — 10% is
imposed on dividends declared in respect of profits earned by
subsidiaries in Mainland China from 1 January 2008 onwards.
Pursuant to the EIT Law, a High-New Technology Enterprise shall be
entitled to a preferential tax rate of 15% for three years since it was
officially endorsed. Certain subsidiaries of the Company in the PRC
obtained official endorsement as a High-New Technology Enterprise
(“Tax Concession”) and with the expiry dates on or before 2023 (2020:
2022).

The provision of LAT is estimated according to the requirements
set forth in the relevant PRC tax laws and regulations. LAT has
been levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on the
appreciation of land value, represented by the excess of sales
proceeds of properties over prescribed direct costs. Prescribed
direct costs are defined to include costs of land, development and
construction costs, as well as certain costs relating to the property
development. According to the State Administration of Taxation’s
official circulars, LAT shall be payable provisionally upon sales of
the properties, followed by final ascertainment of the gain at the
completion of the properties development.

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed
The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill”) which
introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The Bill was signed
into law on 28 March 2018 and was gazetted on the following day.
Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million of
profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits
above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group
entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will
continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

The Directors considered the amount involved upon implementation
of the two-tiered profits tax rates regime as insignificant to the
consolidated financial statements. Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated
at 16.5% of the estimated assessable profit for both years.

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates
prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.
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BHEHEERRAQH

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 0. Fﬁ??afﬁﬁﬁ SIZ(Z%E)

REZZFBHAX EGE BaRRHT

Income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the profit before

taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or loss as follows:

AN 2 SRR T

2021 2020
—E-— TECTE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FA&T
Profit before taxation MR R B A 15,576,660 7,936,416
Tax charge at the LABI A (> S PRS2 25%
domestic income tax rate of 25% (ZEZTF : 25%)5t8 2
(2020: 25%) (Note a) PR (MisTa) 3,894,165 1,984,104
Tax effect of expenses not OB ER 2 MBE
deductible for tax purpose 34,363 12,938
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose 78R a7 Fi s 2 (131,724) (115,760)
Tax effect of share of results of joint ventures I & & A FI¥EE 2 TG E (20,957) (19,467)
Tax effect of share of result of an associate JEMEEE DB B2 (44,467) 668
PRC LAT o bR (E R 123,132 361,356
Tax effect of PRC LAT AP IR T 2 B A s 2 (30,783) (90,339)
Effect of withholding tax on dividend income BRI /& & TR ZA% S U A
from PRC subsidiaries BRAMTERT BB E 225,714 273,193
Tax effect of Tax Concession BGEEIMEE (699,704) (50,057)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised R ERHIEEE HBETE 50,078 60,910
Utilisation of tax losses previously AT RERZBHIEEE
not recognised (260,437) (133,130)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries BB A SRS BRI -
operating in other jurisdictions/areas other RE A RLERE R [ A
than the domestic income tax rate B ARz NREBIR 2 2 (86,864) (139,406)
(Over) underprovision in previous years BATE(RERE) BETR (29,917) 2,858
Effect of tax exemption (Note b) Fia#e 2 22 (Misko) = (39,809)
Income tax expense for the year REE 2 BBHREZ 3,022,599 2,108,063
Notes: MiET -
(@) The domestic income tax rate of 25% (2020: 25%) represents the PRC EIT (a) NEEMBHRHEERBR(ZFTF
of which the Group’s operations are substantially based. F:25%) BAREB KIS EBKERN
REERSHE -
(b) Profits arising from certain subsidiaries of the Company in Macau are (o) RATRIFNRPZ & T B AR FES

exempted from profit tax.

2R R BNTIST
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

10.

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 11. EE - THEABREES
AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS [ ke
(@ Directors’ emoluments (@ EE#ML
The emoluments paid or payable were as follows: s EMN B0 T -
2021 2020
—E-—fF —ETF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Fees we 1,380 1,140
Other emoluments: Hif e :
Salaries and other benefits e hEMET 17,825 17,930
Contributions to retirement benefits scheme R /K@ FEH &I 2k 727 895
Performance related incentive payment TVERIRIERI LSRN IA
(Note i) (P& 193,463 99,250
213,395 119,215

B RS AR M

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

Profit for the year has been arrived
at after charging:

Auditor’s remuneration

Amortisation of intangible assets

Cost of inventories sold

Cost of properties sold

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Depreciation of right-of-use assets

Direct operating expenses in relation to
investment properties (included in cost of
sales and services rendered)

Impairment loss on trade receivables,
net of reversal

Net exchange loss

Total staff costs, including directors’
emoluments (Note 11)

Write-down of inventories, included in
cost of sales

10.

RERENDEMBIATIER ¢

2 Gl

B EERE

BEEFEZRA

BEEWE KA

WE - BERRBZITE

EREEENE

HEBEMEARNER EERX
(FEASHE AR ARTE )

FE 5 U R SRR
e[ GS

I 5 18 H 5

BIRALE  piEESHE
(BF&E11)

FEMOR - 5T ASHERA

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

F A=A

2021
B
HK$’000
FTHET

10,185
6,480
36,857,799
553,854
1,893,522
46,294

195,327

BIERE -

93,136
59,534

4,399,421

326,679

2020
— T T4

—_—=—=

HK$’000
TAT

12,750
6,480
26,821,523
4,271,822
1,636,392
47,041

182,549

13,797
24,959

3,218,740

7,556
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

(continued)

(b)

(c)

Chief Executive’s emoluments

Mr. Chang Wing Yiu is also the Chief Executive of the
Company and his emoluments disclosed above include those
for services rendered by him as the Chief Executive.

Neither the Chief Executive nor any of the Directors had
waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during the years
ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.

Employees’ emoluments

For the year ended 31 December 2021, three (2020: three) of
the five highest paid employees are Directors and the Chief
Executive.

Details of the emoluments of the remaining two (2020: two)
highest paid individuals were as follows:

11.

()

BHEERRAA

- THRRKRES

THHERMNE
WMAREE TSR RBITHE
o AR EXWE - BP&
NE G RITRAARIR M2 RS
Z3REH o

BHE-_T-_—FRk-_ZT-_ZF
+-A=+—HIFE - BET
BRH S EEMES R EWRET
AT o

EEMS
HEZT-—F+=A=+—H
HFE  AfRaFHeEE+T=
H(ZZT_TF  ZR)BEEM
TTBUHEE, -

BRTREA(ZE_ZF : ME)R
BEHEATHBESETIOT

2021 2020

—E-—F —E-TF

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FHET FHIT

Salaries and other benefits 4 REMEF 6,178 6,178
Contributions to retirement benefits scheme R K t&F|zHEI{H X 309 309
Performance related incentive payment T{ERIF BRI LERIFRIA 74,515 37,000
Total emoluments B¢ 4258 81,002 43,487
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

1. EE - THARBRES

7 (48)
(continued)
(c) Employees’ emoluments (continued) () EEME®@)
The number of the highest paid employees who are not the FEENZRFEET  FWE
Directors whose remuneration fell within the following bands is RATHARBABIAT
as follows:
2021 2020
—E-— TECTE
No. of No. of
employees employees
EEAE BB AB
HK$15,000,000 to HK$20,000,000 15,000,000 7T 220,000,000/ 7T = 1
HK$25,000,000 to HK$30,000,000 25,000,000 7t 230,000,000/ 7T = 1
HK$30,000,000 to HK$35,000,000 30,000,000 7T Z35,000,000/% 7T 1 -
HK$45,000,000 to HK$50,000,000 45,000,000/ 7t Z50,000,0007% 7T 1 -
2 2

(d)

During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, no
emoluments were paid to or receivable by the Directors or
the Group’s five highest paid individuals, including Directors,
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office.

Directors’ material interests in transactions,

arrangements or contracts

As disclosed in Note 26 and Note 44, the Group entered
into sale and purchase transactions with the directors and
subsidiaries of a shareholder with significant influence on the
Group. The price is to be determined and agreed between
the parties from time to time with reference to the prevailing
market price.

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing, Mr. Chang Wing Yiu, Mr. Cheung
Kwong Kwan and Mr. Ho Yin Sang, the executive directors,
are interested in these transactions to the extent that they
have beneficial interests in these companies.

Save for the aforementioned transaction, no other significant
transactions, arrangements and contracts to which the
Company or the Group was a party and in which a director
of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A I IRARMIEE

BHEHEERRAQH

12. DIVIDENDS 12. RE
2021 2020
—E-—fF TECTE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FA&T
Dividends declared and/or paid EiRE, HEIRARE
2021 Interim dividend of HK56 cents T —FHBAREERERR
(2020: HK28 cents) per ordinary share 5678 II( = =F4F : 28/1l) 620,924 309,618
2020 Final dividend of HK100 cents “E_TERAKRSTRERR
(2019: HK60 cents) per ordinary share 100781 =ZZ—AF : 60/8(L) 1,107,292 662,430
2020 Special final dividend of HK100 cents —E-EFERPREEREBER
(2019: HK50 cents) per ordinary share 10081 == —AF : 50/81L) 1,107,292 552,025
2,835,508 1,624,073
2021 2020
—EB-—fF —ECTF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE T FHET
Dividends proposed EERE
2021 Final dividend of HK244 cents T —FEREREER
(2020: HK100 cents) per ordinary share TR 244781
(ZZE=FF - 100/81L) 2,705,452 1,105,792
2020 Special final dividend “ZTERRIRBRE
of HK100 cents per ordinary share TR @R 1007810 - 1,105,792
2,705,452 2,211,584
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

12. DIVIDENDS (continued) 12.

The final dividend of HK244 cents per ordinary share amounted to
HK$2,705,452,000 in respect of the year ended 31 December 2021
(2020: final dividend of HK100 cents and the special final dividend of
HK$100 cents per ordinary share amounted to HK$1,105,792,000
and HK$1,105,792,000 respectively in respect of the year ended
31 December 2020) have been proposed by the Directors and are
subject to the approval by the shareholders of the Company in the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE 13.

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share attributable
to owners of the Company is based on the following data:

Earnings for the purpose of basic and FRREAR R #ER T 2 BF
diluted earnings per share

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

RE @)

EEEapEBzE-_=-—4F+=A
=+ —ALEFERERPKRETRE B
sz44,%fm<_;_z¢ D REARR B SRR

FAZ10078 L R RI R HARE B = % T
FAX10078 L) - £ % /2,705,452,000
BBz +=-_A=+—H
IEFE - RHIRR B1,105,792,000/8 7T
PRI AR HAL B1,105,792,000/8 7T ) °
HARFARNTRRRERRRBFTAS
Ol - FEMEE o

BRER

RRRFHE ARG BRER R E R T
BN BIEATE

2021 2020
—E-—fF —ETF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
10,778,032 4,702,884

Weighted average number of ordinary shares ~ FRREAREF| 7 @K
for the purpose of basic earnings per share iG-Sk

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares AEEERESHNAET
arising from share options BEE 2 TR s R

Number of shares

RDEE
2021 2020
:g:—ﬂi :7?7—?

1,107,797,215 1,104,852,097

546,129 1,168,976

Weighted average number of ordinary shares S & #s 2 H| 7 L@ p%
for the purpose of diluted earnings per share  JNfEF 158

1,108,343,344 1,106,021,073
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14.

A I IRARMIEE

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

14, BEYE

BHEHEERRAQH

HK$’'000
FAET

FAIR VALUE ATE
At 1 January 2020 R-ZZEZTF—H—H 19,082,748
Exchange adjustments PE 5, 823,076
Transfer from properties held for development (Note) EREAGEERYECIT) 130,065
Transfer from property, plant and equipment (Note) Eﬁé@ Y% - B R (M) 23,495
Loss on fair value changes N EZEERE (5,437)
At 31 December 2020 R-E-_ZEF+_A=+—H 20,053,947
Exchange adjustments PE 5, = 338,222
Transfer from properties held for development (Note) R R R E (M) 1,208,029
Transfer from property, plant and equipment (Note) ﬁﬁé B - WE KRG () 205,430
Gain on fair value changes N EZ W 14,388
At 31 December 2021 R-ZE-_—F+_A=+—H 21,820,016

Note: Certain properties held for development and property, plant and equipment B eE
were reclassified to investment properties upon changing in use as
evidenced by inception of operating leases to independent third parties
(see Notes 15 and 26). There was no material fair value change upon the
transfer from properties held for development and property, plant and

equipment to investment properties.

The Group leases out various offices under operating leases with
rentals payable monthly. The leases typically run for a fixed period of

1 to 25 years (2020: 1 to 25 years).

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result of the
lease arrangements, as all leases are denominated in the respective
functional currencies of group entities. The lease contracts do not
contain residual value guarantee and/or lessee’s option to purchase

the property at the end of lease term.

o

F) e

e

26) © fF

ﬁﬁ%—?’%ﬂ A -

RSB E =G EHEME A
BEY ETHERDERDE  B&E
RERBERSPEREWE (K155
BERMERDE - BERESE
BRELRENERQATEIBEEAR

AEERBECLEHEHREZERAE
FRWERMES  HE—RHEENT1E
BFMETETHB(ZE_ZF

1£25
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

14.

PR M

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at 31 December
2021 had been arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out by
Ravia Global Appraisal Advisory Limited, an independent qualified
valuer not connected to the Group. Ravia Global Appraisal Advisory
Limited is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors. The
valuation was determined based on direct comparison method by
reference to the market observable transactions of similar properties
and adjusted to reflect conditions and locations of subject properties.
There has been no change from the valuation technique used in prior
years.

In determining the fair value of the relevant properties, the Directors
have set up a valuation committee, which is headed up by the
persons in charge of financial matters of the Group, to determine
the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for fair value
measurements.

The Group engages an independent valuer to perform its valuations.
The valuation committee works closely with the independent valuer
to establish the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the
model. The persons in charge of financial matters report the valuation
committee’s findings to the Directors every quarter to explain the
cause of fluctuations in the fair value of the assets.

The Group’s investment properties were classified as Level 3 of the
fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2021 and 2020.

The following table gives information about how the fair values
of these investment properties are determined (in particular, the
valuation technique and inputs used), as well as the fair value
hierarchy into which the fair value measurements are categorised
(Level 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements is observable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 14, BEWHE =)

Investment properties
held by the Group in the

consolidated statement Fair value
of financial position hierarchy
FEERNGRIBIAZ ATE
REZIREME BRI
Hong Kong

Bk

Industrial properties in Level 3
Hong Kong

REBH) TR E=
Commercial propertiesin -~ Level 3
the New Territories, Hong

Kong

REBFROEAME E=1

Valuation techniques
and key inputs
HERM &
FEHAZIR

Direct comparison
method based on market
observable transactions
of similar properties
adjusted timing of
reference transactions
and property-specific
adjustments including
adjustment factors

for location and other
individual factors such

as road frontage, size of
property and facilities
BERIETE  BETS
HRMENABERS -
HLER HMHETH
B UEHMERENA
B OEmBEAREAER
HiEERNE - iGEE
B MEREEANE

Direct comparison
method based on market
observable transactions
of similar properties
adjusted timing of
reference transactions
and property-specific
adjustments including
adjustment factors

for location and other
individual factors such

as road frontage, size of
property and facilities
BELEFE  BRETS
HRMENABERS -
RBERHHRRETH
B WEHMERENT
B AEMmBRFHERER
HimEERZE - nEGEE
B MR RERANE

Significant unobservable
inputs

BEANHE

EEPN 6

Price per square metre, using
market direct comparable
properties and taking into
account location and other
individual factors such as

road frontage, size of property
and facilities, etc., which is
ranged from HK$41,244 to
HK$51,742 (2020: HK$41,273
to HK$49,461) per square
metre.

RAMGEEALENERE
B E AR EAMEREEE

(InEEEER - W% KRR
NEVRBERKER N
B KA1 24480 551,742
BIL(ZEZZF : 41,2735
TTE49,461/8TT) °

Price per square metre, using
market direct comparable
properties and taking into
account location and other
individual factors such as

road frontage, size of property
and facilities, etc., which is
ranged from HK$57,061 to
HK$57,213 (2020: HK$57,701)
per square metre.

REAMSEEILBMERE
BB REAMEREEE

(GnEefER - MEREEA
NEVRFEFKER  NT
B HK57,0618LE57,213
BIL(ZEZZF : 57,7018
JT) e

Sensitivity

B
5

&
it

A significant increase in

the price per square metre
used would result in a
significant increase in the fair
value measurement of the
investment properties, and vice
versa.

SEREEAR LIS
RENENHATFEH EABL
- RZIVA -

A significant increase in

the price per square metre
used would result in a
significant increase in the fair
value measurement of the
investment properties, and vice
versa.

ST KERAELI S
RANENATESBAREL
o B2

B —FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 14, BEWHE =)

Investment properties
held by the Group in the

consolidated statement Fair value
of financial position hierarchy
AEERGEBRAL ATE
REZIREME ZRER
Commercial propertiesin -~ Level 3
Hong Kong Island, Hong

Kong

REBBBBNEANE F=4&
The PRC

HE

Commercial propertiesin -~ Level 3
Shanghai

REBRERYE E=1

ANNUAL REPORT 2021

Valuation techniques
and key inputs
HERM &
FEHAZIR

Direct comparison
method based on market
observable transactions
of similar properties
adjusted timing of
reference transactions
and property-specific
adjustments including
adjustment factors

for location and other
individual factors such

as road frontage, size of
property and facilities
BEELHTE - BETS
HRMENAERRLS -
HLER HMEHETH
B AR ERE R
B REMBRFEERRER
Hib BERE - MEREE
B MERERANE

Direct comparison
method based on market
observable transactions
of similar properties
adjusted timing of
reference transactions
and property-specific
adjustments including
adjustment factors

for location and other
individual factors such

as road frontage, size of
property and facilities
BELHTE - BETS
HRMENAERRS -
HLEX SHNRREEITH
B R ERE R
B REMBRERRER
Hib BERE - MEREE
B MR REANE

Significant unobservable
inputs

BEANAHE

EEPN 6

Price per square metre, using
market direct comparable
properties and taking into
account location and other
individual factors such as
road frontage, size of property
and facilities, etc., which is
ranged from HK$193,680

to HK$219,937 (2020:
HK$197,119 to HK$207,906)
per square metre.

RAMSEELERDER

ZRAE A REAMERE X

f& (INERATIEDRE - M R
KNE)OFEFKER N
FHFHK193,6808 T E

219,937 (=T =%

197, 1198 7L E207,90678 7T ) ©

Price per square metre, using
market direct comparable
properties and taking into
account location and other
individual factors such as
road frontage, size of property
and facilities, etc., which is
ranged from RMB29,889

to RMB30,930 (2020:
RMB29,989 to RMB34,222)
per square metre.

RAMGEEALRDER
ERMEAREAMAREZ
& (nFRETIEDRS ~ MERRN
RNF)VWEFFFKEE N
FHFHKAREE29,8897T
EAR30,930T(ZE-F
£ ARWE29,989TTE AR
34,2007T,) ©

Sensitivity

R
5

&
it

A significant increase in

the price per square metre
used would result in a
significant increase in the fair
value measurement of the
investment properties, and vice
versa.

BIHARERARELTHEEH
REMENRFETENRL
Tt RZI% -

A significant increase in

the price per square metre
used would result in a
significant increase in the fair
value measurement of the
investment properties, and vice
versa.

BIHARERARE LS
REMENATEENEL
Tt RZI% -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A I IRARMIEE

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Investment properties
held by the Group in the
consolidated statement
of financial position
REERGEBARRE
REZREME

Residential properties in
Shanghai

R EBRETY®

Commercial properties in
Guangzhou

REMEEAmE

Fair value
hierarchy

B

Level 3

i

(il

Level 3

I —

= -

F

Valuation techniques
and key inputs
AR &

TER AR

Direct comparison
method based on market
observable transactions
of similar properties
adjusted timing of
reference transactions
and property-specific
adjustments including
adjustment factors

for location and other
individual factors such

as road frontage, size of
property and facilities
ERELETE  BETS
HRMENBRERS -
HBER HNERETH
B EHYE R TR
B2 DEmBEAREAER
Hib BERE - MEREE
B ERERmANE

Direct comparison
method based on market
observable transactions
of similar properties
adjusted timing of
reference transactions
and property-specific
adjustments including
adjustment factors

for location and other
individual factors such

as road frontage, size

of property and facilities
including nature, location
and conditions of the
property

BEELETE  REDS
HRMENTBERS -
HBERHHRRETH
B AR YRR R
B OEEARAER
Hib BERE - MEREE
B M R ERE RN -
BREMENEE - WER
&

BHEHEERRAQH

14, BEWE »

Significant unobservable
inputs

BERTAER
AR

Price per square metre, using
market direct comparable
properties and taking into
account location and other
individual factors such as

road frontage, size of property
and facilities, etc., which is
ranged from RMB122,053

to RMB174,298 (2020:
RMB125,019 to RMB162,761)
per square metre.

RAMGEELENERE
B E AR EA AR E &R
(NEREER - MERFEHEAR
NEVRFEFHKER  NT
BEHAARE122,0530E
ARMA74208TT(ZE=F
F:ARE125019TEAR
#162,7617T) °

Price per square metre, using
market direct comparable
properties and taking into
account location and other
individual factors such as
road frontage, size of property
and facilities, etc., which is
ranged from RMB22,000

to RMB28,000 (2020:
RMB16,601 to RMB27,958)
per square metre.

RATSEETLEMER
ZEMNEAREMERNEE
& (IR EER - MERRN
KNFE)VWEFFAER N
Tk ARK22,0007T
EARE8000T(ZE-F
F: ARE16,601TEARE
27,9587T) ©

Sensitivity

B

&
it

A significant increase in

the price per square metre
used would result in a
significant increase in the fair
value measurement of the
investment properties, and vice
versa.

BETARERAR LTSS
REMFN N TEFTEXRL
o RZIR -

A significant increase in

the price per square metre
used would result in a
significant increase in the fair
value measurement of the
investment properties, and vice
versa.

BETARERAE LSS
KEMEN R TEFERE L
Tt R2ZI% -

B —FFR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A I IRARMIEE

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Investment properties
held by the Group in the

consolidated statement Fair value
of financial position hierarchy
AEERGEBRAE ATE
REZREME ZRER
Commercial propertiesin -~ Level 3
Shenzhen City

WA B R F=H
Commercial propertiesin ~ Level 3
Qingyuan

BRI A E F=H

ANNUAL REPORT 2021

Valuation techniques
and key inputs
HE M &

FEH AR

Direct comparison
method based on market
observable transactions
of similar properties
adjusted timing of
reference transactions
and property-specific
adjustments including
adjustment factors

for location and other
individual factors such

as road frontage, size of
property and facilities
BELETE  RETS
HRMENABERS -
RLER HMEEETTH
B WEHMERENT
B AEMmBRHERER
HmEERZE - nEEE
B MR RERANE

Direct comparison
method based on market
observable transactions
of similar properties
adjusted timing of
reference transactions
and property-specific
adjustments including
adjustment factors

for location and other
individual factors such

as road frontage, size of
property and facilities
BEELERE  BEDS
HRMENABRERS -
HEERHNERHETH
B R ERE R
B ODEMEAEERR
HiEERE - EEHa
B~ R RRIANF

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

14, BEWE »

Significant unobservable
inputs

BEANAHE

BWABIE

Price per square metre, using
market direct comparable
properties and taking into
account location and other
individual factors such as

road frontage, size of property
and facilities, etc., which is
ranged from RMB14,982

to RMB15,800 (2020:
RMB14,846) per square metre.

REAMSEEILBYERE
BB AR EAMEREEE

(anEefER « MEREEA
NEVRFEFKER  NT
BERAARE14982TE A
R#15,8007(— 2T :

AR¥A14,8467T) ©

Price per square metre, using
market direct comparable
properties and taking into
account location and other
individual factors such as

road frontage, size of property
and facilities, etc., which is
ranged from RMB10,000 to
RMB10,270 (2020: RMB9,584)
per square metre.

RAMSEELEMERE
BALE AR EAERA X%

(NEREER - MEREEAR
NE)RGETRERE  NTF
BFAHAKARE10,0000tEA
R¥102700( =22 =% 4 :

AE#95847T) o

Sensitivity

R
5

&
Mt

A significant increase in

the price per square metre
used would result in a
significant increase in the fair
value measurement of the
investment properties, and vice
versa.

SEHKBEAELFHEHR
RANEHATEBAEL
o RZIA o

A significant increase in

the price per square metre
used would result in a
significant increase in the fair
value measurement of the
investment properties, and vice
versa.

SEIRBIEAR LFHEH
BANEHRTERARL
o R2ZA -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A I IRARMIEE

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Investment properties
held by the Group in the

consolidated statement Fair value
of financial position hierarchy
RrEERGEMBERAE ATE
FECREMZE LR
Commercial propertiesin ~ Level 3
Kunshan City

REILRERYZE F=/

Valuation techniques
and key inputs
AR &

TER AR

Direct comparison
method based on market
observable transactions
of similar properties
adjusted timing of
reference transactions
and property-specific
adjustments including
adjustment factors

for location and other
individual factors such

as road frontage, size of
property and facilities
BERIETE  BETS
HRMENABERS -
HBEX SHHEEETH
B UEHERENT
B DEmBEAREAER
HibBEEE - MiREE
B MERRIEANE

BHEHEERRAQH

14, BEWE »

Significant unobservable
inputs

BERTAER
AR

Price per square metre, using
market direct comparable
properties and taking into
account location and other
individual factors such as

road frontage, size of property
and facilities, etc., which is
ranged from RMB6,558 to
RMB11,236 (2020: RMB5,222
to RMB10,897) per square
metre.

RAMGEEALEDER
ZRAEAREAMERE X
e (AnERTiER - W3 Rk
KNE)OFEFKER N
FHERKARES8TE
ARE1 286 (28
F o AR5 200TTE ARIE
10,8977T) °

Sensitivity

&

R

&
it

A significant increase in

the price per square metre
used would result in a
significant increase in the fair
value measurement of the
investment properties, and vice
versa.

BIHARERAE LTSS
REMENATEENEL
Tt RZI% -

B —FFR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A I IRARMIEE

14.

Investment properties
held by the Group in the
consolidated statement
of financial position
REERRGEMBARRE
REZREME

The United Kingdom
%KE

Commercial properties in
London

INCECOEREE/ES

Fair value
hierarchy
AFE

LR

Level 3

=4

?“di
=

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continueq)

Valuation techniques
and key inputs
AR &

FER AR

Direct comparison
method based on market
observable transactions
of similar properties
adjusted timing of
reference transactions
and property-specific
adjustments including
adjustment factors
for location and other
individual factors such
as road frontage, size of
property and facilities
HEEMEFE - BRETS
HRMENABERS -
HE2ERFHRRIETH
%vﬁ%ﬁ%%%i%%
BRI AREER
Em SEEZ - MEREE
B mEREEANE

There were no transfer into or out of Level 3 during both years.

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and best use

of the properties is their current use.

As at 31 December 2021, certain investment properties with a
carrying value of HK$3,933,984,000 (2020: HK$2,706,000,000) have

been pledged to secure banking facilities granted to the Group.
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KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

14, BEWE »

Significant unobservable
inputs

BERTAER
AR

Price per square metre, using
market direct comparable
properties and taking into
account location and other
individual factors such as road
frontage, size of property and
facilities, etc., which is ranged
from Great British Pound
(“GBP")5,681 to GBP14,982
(2020: GBP5,812 to

GBP13,013) per square metre.

REMGEELENERE
B E AR EAMEREEE
(AR ATER « MENRIEA
NEVWBFERKER  NT
tiﬁ%5&ﬁ%ﬁimgw
RE(ZTTF : 5812084
Z13,01384) -

Sensitivity

E4R

&
it

A significant increase in

the price per square metre
used would result in a
significant increase in the fair
value measurement of the
investment properties, and vice
versa.

BITARERARELHER
REMENATEHEAEL
Tt R -

MIEFER - WEAE=FRRNEANE

H oo

PRI EZ AFER  MEZESR

RERZABRTARE -

=

——F+-A=+—8 K&
B & & T 8k m & & 3,933,984,000

BAZRENE(ZFE-FF :

2,706,000,000 3 7T )

& o

A 7% 4% 8R 17 R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. 1% - BMENRSEE

Property,
plantand
Fumiture, equipment
Freghold Leasehold Plant and fixtures and Motor under
lands Buldngs  improvements machinery equipment vehicles Arbwork construction Total
KAEELS By REMERE  ERREE 0 RERGR g i ERREA &
HKS 000 HK$ 000 HK000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HK000 HKS 000 HKS'000 HKS 000
T T ThR TR ThT TR ThR TR ThT
cost s
AT January 2020 W-2-3-A-A 50,142 4,403,264 1,089,810 26,340,673 1830240 150,391 19432 2,041,078 35,925,030
Bxchange adustments EiAE 3206 171072 13,488 1471715 144,29 6,744 (946) 216950 2,026,545
Addtions HE - 19094 9,619 981,230 130933 5,662 - 769,093 2,001,631
Transfer to investment properties BRTLENE - 24,000) - - - - - - 24,000
Disposal of asubsidary Note 340)) & —~FIHEAR(Mita4) - - - - - - - (207,092) (207,092)
Disposals and wite off e b - 2,366) (32,975) (3,521,88) (119.6%) (16,403 - (59,511) (8,753,036)
Reclassfications Exip - 632 - 021 169,532 162 - (1,074,560) -
At 31 Decerber 2020 i S 22 g o 53368 456769 1,165,942 26,174,501 2,185,108 148019 18486 1,685,958 35,969,078
Bxchange adjustments ERE 1569 51,185 263,140 1,009,759 77338 3368 624 34,835 1441818
Addtions e - 91,890 86,866 836,329 89,638 12841 - 1,731,767 2,895,331
Transfer to investment properties ERTRENE - - - - - - - (205430) (205,430)
Disposals and write off HE R - - (3679) 969,671) (43,285) (7.915) - (7.469) (1082019
Reclassfications Ezivd - 187,875 99,544 450273 63266 569 - 801,527) -
At 31 December 2021 WE=-F+2A=1-R 54937 4,898,646 1611813 27,501,191 2,342,085 156,882 19,110 2444134 39,028,778
DEPRECIATION g
At 1 January 2020 WZ%-%5-A-A - 924,298 598,399 18,295,023 1,198,558 107,794 - - 21,124,072
Exchange adjustments ERE - 39,630 12,193 1,037,052 80,078 5724 - - 1174677
Provided for the year TEERE - 56,614 84511 1,376,964 106,600 11,708 - - 1,636,392
Biminated on disposals and write ot~ i E53H 8 e - - (8.939) (2,467,005) (65,450) (10,239 - - 2,541,639
Fiminated on transfer to ERTRENMERTS
investment properties - (505) - - - - - - (509)
At 31 December 2020 WF-EEF2A=1-R - 1,020,087 686,164 18,242,034 1329786 114,982 - - 21,393,003
Exchange adjustments EiRE - 15,549 4,700 808,736 4118 2754 - - 912,857
Provided for the year TEERE - 91,061 129,558 1499042 168,723 16,138 - - 1893522
Biminated on disposdls and write ot~ &5 3H 8 e - - 2.139) (r24,764) (34.824) 7.254) - - (768,980)
At 31 December 2021 RoE--E+-A=+-R - 1,126,647 855,284 19,825,048 1,497,803 125,620 - - 23430402
CARRYING VALUES SaE
At 31 Decerber 2021 R-F--#+-f=1-R 54937 3,771,999 756,529 7,676,143 844,062 31,262 19,110 2,444,134 15,598,376
At 31 December 2020 WZEZTELZAZT-B 53368 3,547,659 49778 7932467 825,322 33087 18,486 1,685,958 14,576,075
B —FFR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment (other than those
under construction or artwork) are depreciated on a straight-line basis
after taking into account their residual values at the following rates per

annum:

Freehold lands Nil

Buildings Over the remaining unexpired
terms of leases ranging from
twenty to seventy years

Leasehold improvements 10-20% or over the term
of the lease, whichever is
shorter

Plant and machinery 10-20%

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 10-33"/3%

Motor vehicles 10-20%

During the year ended 31 December 2020, plant and machinery
related to the production of coal and coke with a carrying amount of
HK$726,000,000 has been written off due to the de-capacity policy
of the PRC.

At 31 December 2021, the Group’s freehold lands of HK$54,937,000
(2020: HK$53,368,000) are situated outside Hong Kong.
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M- BERRE=

BRAEZME  BEMREHBMRIN
Ltz - BE KERER B R AT
HREERAEREEZ TIIFEL RS
RITE

KAERELH &

BF ERELAFHARTH
FHIR20F £70F T

FEMERE 10-20% A (ALRE
HRLE)

BmER#E  10-20%
R EEBR 10-33/%
B

B 10-20%

HE-Z-_ZF+-_A=+—HILF
B BRFPEMEAESRBE  REEBEA
726,000,00078 T B AE E R R MR A
R R S I M 2R S o

NZE-—F+-_A=+—8 ' K&
[ 554,937,000 L (Z T ZFF -
53,368,000 7T, ) sk A EEHE T M AT A &
BB o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

BEHEEERRAA

16. EFAEEE

Leasehold Leased Plant and
land properties machinery Total
HE L HEME BERMKS #et
HK$’000 HK$’°000 HK$’000 HK$’°000
FH&xT FH&T FH&T FH&xT
At 31 December 2021 R-B=-—F+=A
=+—H
Carrying amount BRHEE 1,831,194 6,994 2,754 1,840,942
At 31 December 2020 R=Z2=ZF+=A
=t+—H
Carrying amount BRHEE 1,723,240 9,502 3,938 1,736,680
For the year ended BE-_Z-_—H+=-A8
31 December 2021 =t+—HILEE
Depreciation for the year KEERE 41,960 3,054 1,280 46,294
For the year ended BE—Z-_Z+=H8
31 December 2020 =+—HILEE
Depreciation for the year REEHE 43,625 2,221 1,195 47,041
2021 2020
—BE-—fF —ECETF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHT
Expense relating to short-term leases 55 AT EARRAM B 2 369 364
Total cash outflow for leases HERS LB 150,703 56,383
Additions to right-of-use assets FREEERE 145,870 55,523

The Group leases various leasehold land, leased properties and plant
and machinery for its operations. Lease contracts are entered into
for fixed term of 1 year to 50 years (2020: 1 year to 50 years). Lease
terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range
of different terms and conditions. In determining the lease term and
assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies
the definition of a contract and determines the period for which the
contract is enforceable.

AEEREEBLEEHEZHRBEES
i - HEWEURRE NS i‘ﬁi’w/{
BEEHANF1EE0F(ZF=F
1FE50F )51 - HEK fKTJETI?ﬂJ
TR BRESENERR RIS -
REERARTE AT HEHENRE
B AEBEREGHONEETEESD
AJsR BT TR EAR o

W

T~ —FFFR



KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued) 16. ﬁﬁﬁ Eﬁé(f‘é)

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for leased
properties. As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the portfolio of short-
term leases is similar to the portfolio of short-term leases to which the
short-term lease expense disclosed in this note above.

Restrictions or covenants on leases

In addition, lease liabilities of HK$10,403,000 are recognised with
related right-of-use assets of HK$9,748,000 as at 31 December 2021
(2020: lease liabilities of HK$14,004,000 and related right-of-use
assets of HK$13,440,000). The lease agreements do not impose any
covenants other than the security interests in the leased assets that
are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for
borrowing purposes.

17. GOODWILL

CARRYING VALUE BREE
At 1 January 2020, 31 December 2020 and S
31 December 2021
=4—

REBTERRHEMXFLIEHEE -
RZBE_—FMN_ZT_ZF+_A
=t+—R EHHEEESERHT X
PEEEER 2 e HEEAA 8
e

TRE PR I R iE

N RZTBZ—F+-A=+—H -
ERERMAEAE10,408, ooo,%yzmﬁi
AL ES, 748,000/ LEE(— T =
T4F : HEBEE14,004,0008 T B 7
1 FA#E B E 13,440,000/ 7T) » HE
IR EE - R AREH
EEEMNETRERRI - HEEETS
{EEFIRIRAE -

17. &

HK$'000
TAT

—ZEF—A—H -ZZE=-F
+—A=+—BAR=_ZT-_—%+=A4

2,670,528

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill has been allocated
to the following groups of CGUs:

UREAEMS  AEEAEGUATH
SEEBMAE

2021 2020

B T EF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHT

Laminates B HRER 390,781 390,781
PCBs ENRI 4R EE AR 2,099,898 2,099,898
Chemicals IEIER 179,849 179,849
2,670,528 2,670,528

The recoverable amounts of the laminates’, PCBs’ and chemicals’
CGUs have been determined based on value in use calculations.
Cash flow projections were extrapolated based on a five-year period
financial budgets approved by the Directors.
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EEEEBRALQA
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME
17. GOODWILL (continued) 17. %j%(z%ﬁ)
The key assumptions for the value in use calculations for the CGUs of BIRNER - EDRIARIRAR Mt TE RERS
laminates, PCBs and chemicals business segments are as follows: AR EELSEUZFREEAE LY
FEMEFMOT
Laminates PCBs Chemicals
FRER ENRl 5% tIER
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
—g--F -Z-FF C-BE--% -T-TF -B--F -Z-3F
Discount rate iy 12% 2%  12%-14%  12%-15% 12% 12%
Growth rate (for year 110 5) BRE(1E5F) 4% 4% 1% - 4% 2% - 3% 5% 5%
The key assumptions are determined based on the unit’s past FEBRRIRZEMBERRREEE

performance and the management’s expectations for the market
development and the growth rates used to extrapolate cash flow
projections in the first five-year period do not exceed the long-term
average growth rates for the relevant industries and growth rates
ranging from 0% to 3% (2020: 0% to 3%) is used beyond the five-
year period. The cash flow projections, growth rates and discount
rate have been reassessed as at 31 December 2021 taking into
consideration higher degree of estimation uncertainties in the current
year due to how the Covid-19 pandemic may progress and evolve
and volatility in financial markets, including potential disruptions of the
Group’s operation.

Since the recoverable amounts of each group of CGUs were higher
than their carrying amounts, no impairment loss was recognised.

The management believes that any reasonably possible changes in
any of these assumptions would not cause the carrying amount of
each group of CGUs to exceed their respective recoverable amount.

HmnERE MERBERETLEMN
quiﬁ{i?/mimigﬁzﬁﬁ)ﬁ)E E.Ti@

MEATEFIRPERE  MBBAF
I EERNTONEIN(ZE_ZTF :
0%%E3%) ° e RETEN - BREFM

BRREN —_E-_—F+-_A=+—H
BIEHE - T RAFERECovid-19%1F
MERFBEUARSBHTSMNEE (R
FEHASEEBENEETE) MEHN
ReRERERT T EEN -

HREEREEABUZAREESES
PREREE - SO ERERRERE -
EEERE  ZETEROBETAGEE

EEPKTERZERCEESBMLE
REEBESAR Y EEEE -
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KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBERRME
18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 18. B EE
Customer
base
B
HK$'000
FET
cosT A
At 1 January 2020, 31 December 2020 and RZZZTF—HF—H ZZT=FF
31 December 2021 +ZA=+—HRZ=ZZ=—%F
+=ZRA=+—H 64,800
AMORTISATION ey
At 1 January 2020 R-E-_ZTF—F—H 3,960
Charge for the year AREF 6,480
At 31 December 2020 RZZEZZEF+=A=+—H 10,440
Charge for the year REFHH 6,480
At 31 December 2021 R-E-_—%+_A=+—H 16,920
CARRYING VALUE REE
At 31 December 2021 NR-TBE-—F+=-A=+—H 47,880
At 31 December 2020 R-E-_ZTF+_A=+—H 54,360
The customer base is amortised on a straight-line basis over a period EEEMMOENIZBEGE# -

of 10 years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

19. INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE

BHEERRAA

19. REFE QT zER

2021 2020
—E-—fF TECTE
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FAT
Cost of investments in an associate RABIZE L& ARZ
unlisted in the PRC B 185,066 185,066
Share of post-acquisition profits and FEIE U IE 1B S T R H 2 E
other comprehensive income, (R B UALE)
net of dividends received 378,181 184,248
563,247 369,314

At 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group had interests in the
following associate:

Place of

establishment Equity interest held

R-ZEBE_—FR_FT_FTF+_A
T—H  AEEEFATEEARE

N2
N

Bl

Proportion of voting

Name of associate and operation by the Group rights held by the Group  Principal activities
BENTER B REEbH AEEfFiShE ARERENREEBIL FEEH
2021 2020 2021 2020

“E--%F ZZ-TF ZB--F C—TCZEF

CNOOC Kingboard Chemical PRC 40% 40% 40% 40%  Manufacture and distribution
Limited# H of methanol
RERBRELIBRARY BER DT
# The company was established in the PRC in the form of Sino-Foreign # L RBTIARINE B S ERAREAES
Equity Joint Venture. BT ©

B —FFR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

19. INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE (oninueq) 19. REE QT 2R )
The associate is accounted for using the equity method in these RZERE P HHRE - BE R RAE
consolidated financial statements. mEFEYIER o
CNOQOC Kingboard Chemical Limited PEAREE I AERAR

2021 2020
—E-—F —ECTHF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Current assets RENEE 832,243 899,726
Non-current assets JEMBYE 782,211 188,785
Current liabilities nREEE (206,336) (165,226)
2021 2020
—E-—fF TECTE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Revenue LR 1,595,905 991,405
Profit (loss) for the year RE s (BE) 444,667 (6,683)
Other comprehensive income for the year A H M2 AW 40,166 62,921
Total comprehensive income for the year AEEEEE=IETE 484,833 56,238
Dividends received from the associate AFE B U E A EIARE
during the year = 51,131
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the B R B S A R B AR S BTSRRI
carrying amount of the interest in the associate recognised in the DHERATRE S QR R 2 REEN S
consolidated financial statement. AR o
2021 2020
—E-—fF TECTE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Net assets of CNOOC Kingboard Chemical Limited #3364 325t TH R A 7
BEFE 1,408,118 923,285
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in - A& B PG &8 4 mEE(ET
CNOOC Kingboard Chemical Limited ERAREEREER CLE 40% 40%
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest in REEFETEOREEET
CNOOC Kingboard Chemical Limited ERAFERZZERE 563,247 369,314
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBmRMETE
20. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES 20. REERNFANER
Details of the Group’s investments in joint ventures are as follows: REBNRESZNAIRIEELBFNT -
2021 2020
—E-— TECTE
HK$’000 HK$’'000
THERT FET
Cost of investment in joint ventures REERAZREKAK 2,503,655 2,503,655
Share of post-acquisition profits and FEAE U 12 6 M) J2 HAh 2 U s
other comprehensive income, (BB WEE)
net of dividends received 95,002 105,865
2,598,657 2,609,520
Details of the Group’s joint ventures at the end of the reporting period TEEREGEQAFINREFBOT :
are as follows:
Country of Proportion of
incorporation/ Principal ownership interest Proportion of voting
Name of entity registration place of business held by the Group rights held by the Group Principal activity
Bal e
ERLE BauliEE ITEEHY rEEBENFEERAY rEEBANREEEAL  TEEER
2021 2020 2021 2020
:i:_ﬁ —7—7& :i:_i —7—7&
Lucky Yuen Ho\ding Limted ~ Hong Kong Hong Kong 50% 50% 50% 50%  Property holding and
[EZTERERAR B Bl business management
NEERRERER
Smart Source Management  British Virgin Islands  United Kingdom 50% 50% 50% 50%  Property holding and
Limited AERIES =5 business management
BRERERLA NERRREBER
Summarised financial information of joint ventures EE QRN BEEREE

Summarised financial information in respect of each of the Group’s
joint ventures is set out below. The summarised financial information
below represents amounts shown in the joint ventures’ financial
statements prepared in accordance with HKFRSs.

The joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method in these
consolidated financial statements.

AEBEREERBZYBENREHRN
TX - MIHBERBRIESE AR
EAVBRREAMGROVBEHRE S

i

BB HRE

—FF R
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KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

20.

PR M

INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

(continued)
Information of joint ventures EENTINER
Lucky Yuen Holding Limited JEE TERBERDTF
2021 2020
—EB-—fF —ECETF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Current assets TRENVEE 276,412 277,275
Non-current assets (Note) IERENE E (MisE) 674,800 674,800
Current liabilities mENBE (12,207) (11,930)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (243,712) (252,496)
The above amounts of assets LT EESERBEUTEE
include the following:
Cash and cash equivalents Re MR EBEAR 14,662 6,140
Smart Source Management Limited BREEERAT
2021 2020
—E-— TECTHE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Current assets mENVEE 84,054 13,373
Non-current assets (Note) IERBEE (Mi5E) 4,503,681 4,525,066
Current liabilities mEEE (85,715) (7,048)
The above amounts of assets and liabilities T EERBESREEE
include the following:
Cash and cash equivalents e R[S EMEEE 65,545 7,367
Note:  The amount mainly represents investment properties located in Hong Kong Bt 5T

and United Kingdom.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

20. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES 20. RE& D aIMER

(continued)

Information of joint ventures (continued) EELNTRNER®)

The two joint ventures are individually material in relation to the cost ZMREE R AR ENA N EEFE
of the investments and net assets of the joint ventures, but the profit MmEENBEKN  EZRNREE QAL
or loss and other comprehensive income of each of the two joint Ba M EMEERET AEXR - FR
ventures are not material respectively and hence disclosed on an BHEERRE -

aggregated basis.

2021 2020

—EB-—fF —ECTF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FAT FET

Revenue S 204,826 193,864

Profit for the year ARE T 167,657 155,736
Other comprehensive (expense) income AFFEMEE(F )RS

for the year (18,110) 151,074

Total comprehensive income for the year AEE 2P EERE 149,547 306,810

Dividend received from a joint venture FREREENFIRE
during the year 85,637 80,319
The above profit for the year includes the following: EMlAFE R BEATIER -

2021 2020

—E-— TECTE

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FAT FAT

Interest income FEMA = 1

Income tax expense FiiSfim > 30,810 12,624
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KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

20. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES 20. R ATWNEDS =

(continued)
Information of joint ventures (continued) EELNTRNER®)
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the O R B T B R B AR A B IS ER R
carrying amount of the interest in two joint ventures recognised in the EHRMEME A LA RIERZREE
consolidated financial statements: EEIER o
2021 2020
—BE--fF —ECTF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FHET
Net assets of Lucky Yuen Holding Limited B TR BR AR EEFE 695,293 687,649
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest RNEBFLESE TIEIRER A A
in Lucky Yuen Holding Limited AR ZLE 50% 50%
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest AREBAGIERE TTIERER A A
in Lucky Yuen Holding Limited 27 REE 347,647 343,825
Net assets of Smart Source Management BREEBERAFEEFHE
Limited 4,502,020 4,531,391
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest REBMEEREREARAA]
in Smart Source Management Limited AR ZLE 50% 50%
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest NEEMMEEREEER AT
in Smart Source Management Limited 2 BREE 2,251,010 2,265,695
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

1. EQUITY INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR
VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

BEHEEERAA

21 BATEHAREZH

2021 2020
—E-—fF —ETEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT FET
Equity securities listed in Hong Kong REB LM 2 EmHS 8,542,096 5,658,138
Equity securities listed in United States RER FH 2 ERES - 3,373
8,542,096 5,661,511

Analysed for reporting purposes as: BRERERMONA
— Current assets —REEE 4,139,071 2,333,796
— Non-current assets —IEmEEE 4,403,025 3,327,715
8,542,096 5,661,511

For those financial assets measured at FVTPL of which the
management’s intention is to hold at short-term trading purpose are
classified as current assets. The remaining financial assets measured
at FVTPL which are held for long-term investment purpose are
classified as non-current assets.

At 31 December 2021, the fair values of the listed equity securities
held by Group, determined by reference to the quoted market
bid prices available, amounted to HK$8,542,096,000 (2020:
HK$5,661,511,000).

HREAFEI B2 SRAE - B
RIS AE 02 S MAES
FRARDAE - KBEATE AR
ZEBMEE  URBBRARNTHEE
RIS FRFRDEARE -

RZE-Z—F+=-—fA=+—H8 &%
B ETHRSESFNAFEDY
/£8,542,096,000 B L ( Z T = ZF :
5,661,511,000/7C) * Z & B2 RA
BZTHEAREERERT -

B —FFR



KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

22. DEBT INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE 22. #A¥EiT AHEMZMHE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE gz

mZERITA
INCOME
2021 2020
—E——F —E-TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FET
Listed bond securities at fair value: EWESHES - RAFE -
— listed on SGX and issued by listed — BB LEMEITABITLR
issuers in Hong Kong with a fixed RAETET - BEEEN ?
coupon interests ranging from 4.85% to 4.85EE12.375[B(=ZF =
12.375% (2020: 5.50% to 12.375%) per T 550EE12.3752)
annum and maturity dates from 28 July ZETERS TR -ZE-——
2022 to 3 September 2024 (2020: 10 FEtAZTN\HEZZ-N
January 2021 to 3 March 2025) FNAZRAFBH(ZZE=Z
F:FE-—F—A+H=
—“E-HF=HA=H) 1,034,455 2,146,310
— listed on the Stock Exchange and issued ~— — & 24T A BT REE A
by listed issuer in Hong Kong with a Fﬁiﬁ BEBFB6.00E -
fixed coupon interest of 6.00% and IR -—ZT-—F—H+—H
maturity date of 11 January 2022 FIEA - 57,037
Total HEt 1,034,455 2,203,347
Analysed for reporting purposes as: BREREMANA
— Current assets —mENEE 416,505 461,584
- Non-current assets —JEREBEE 617,950 1,741,763
1,034,455 2,203,347
At 31 December 2021 and 2020, the fair values of the listed bond RZEZ—FR_E_FTEF+=A
securities are determined by reference to quoted prices in the over- =t+—HB  TEEEFHAFERR
the-counter markets at the end of each reporting period. LIMEHRAIBINTIRREETE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

22.

23.

PR M

DEBT INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME |

continued)

Included in debt instruments at FVTOCI are the following amounts
denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the
group entities to which they are held:

uss$ eV

BEHEEERAA

FEFTTAH
2 BT B

. B EH
g

E)I Lv

BAOHEAREERRE 2 EBTA

a%Tﬁ\JWil,\ LHARE 2 TAREE I A
INERETHE 2 KA

2021 2020

—E-—F —E-TF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FAT FABT

1,034,455 2,203,347

The investments in listed bonds are held by the Group within a
business model whose obijective is both to collect their contractual
cash flows which are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding and to sell these financial assets.
Hence, the investments in listed bonds are classified as at FVTOCI.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note 36(b).

HEMEFNREOHARERBNS
WEAE R R A S KM R EERESHHE
NRZEHNRERENRLEZFT SR
BENEBRAAMSE - Bit - $ &
MEFNEREDBRRATEFTALML
2EUE ©

BERH S FHIFE NI EES6(b) ©

=+
LOAN RECEIVABLE 23. EWWER
2021 2020
—E-—F —TTF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FH&T BT
Fixed-rate loan receivable FEUN ETE R R E R
Within one year —FR - 600,000
In more than one year but not more than —F P BT EBARE
two years 1,880,000 -
1,880,000 600,000

The unsecured loan receivable was advanced to an independent third
party (2020: an independent third party) and carries interest at 8.5%
(2020: 7%) per annum and is repayable in December 2023 (2020:
July 2021). Details of impairment assessment of loan receivable for
the year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 is set out in Note 36(b).

ERFEWER BN T —ZBILE=
F(ZE-TFBYF=F)  &F
FERSBE(ZZE=_FF : 7F)§+EEJ3A

B =FT-RA(ZEEF:
——FER)ER- %zif’;:—iﬂ

TECEF+ A=t BILFEREK
BRI ERH A BRI K FE36(0) ©

—FF R



KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRME
24. DEFERRED TAXATION 24, EIEMHIE
The followings are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets TRARFENBEFEANCDHERZE
recognised and movements thereon during the current and prior EBREHRIBABENEENRER 2 &
years: & :
Fair value
change of
Fairvalue  assets arising
Accelerated Write-down change of from  Undistributed
tax of investment  acquisition of profits of
depreciation Tax losses inventories properties  subsidiaries  an associate Total
e Ll
it RENE  EihEE  -HEELE
BBiE Hage fare C0TERE  AVEER  ZROREA 3t
HK$'000 HKS$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR T TR TERL TAR Thn
A1 January 2020 W-F22F-A-A (26372 12522 63,298 (649,639) (94.121) (2,107 (695,415)
Exchange adjustments ENeE 3 - - 8531 - % 889
(Charge) crecit to consolicated statement  (GEA B AEREABER
of profit or loss for the year (Note 9) (Mzx9) (8,693) - 1889 - 5373 - (1.431)
At 31 December 2020 AZEZRETCACT-H (3373) 12522 05,187 (641,104) (88,748) (2,019 (687,954)
Bxchange adjustments A% 2 - - (248) - ) (278)
(Charge) crecit to consolicated statement (A B AEREABER
of proft o loss for the year (Note 9 UiE) 8540) - 81,670 - 5373 - 78503
At 31 December 2021 R-E--F+-A=1-0 82.29) 12522 146,857 (641,362) (83375) (2,089) (609,729)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

24.

DEFERRED TAXATION (ontinued)

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial
reporting purposes:

24,

BEHEEERRAA

IEFEF I8 (1)

VAT 8051 75 Bt 765 B i ) AR B 2 SR SE A IR
BRI

2021 2020

—E-—fF ZEITF

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FEx FHT

Deferred tax assets FIERIBE E 2,294 2,667
Deferred tax liabilities EIETIR B E (612,023) (690,621)
(609,729) (687,954)
At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses REREHEERER - AEHET

of HK$1,176,318,000 (2020: HK$2,017,754,000) available for offset
against future profits. A deferred tax assets has been recognised
in respect of HK$50,088,000 (2020: HK$50,088,000) of such
losses. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the
remaining HK$1,126,230,000 (2020: HK$1,967,666,000) due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. All tax losses will be expired
gradually within five years to year 2026 (2020: within five years to year
2025).

Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax is imposed on
dividends declared in respect of profits earned by PRC subsidiaries
from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation has not been
provided for in the consolidated financial statements in respect of
temporary differences attributable to accumulated profits of the PRC
subsidiaries as the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

HEIMKRKRBIN 2 RS ABEE
8 5 #1,176,318,0008 T ( — & —
T4 ¢ 2,017,754,000 7 7T ) ° #L &S
8 50,088000 B L ( Z T =T F
50,088,000/8 7t ) B HERIELH A E
B o BRI EFR TR TER - W
MEFLEREE,126,230,0008 L( Z 2 =F
¢ : 1,967,666,000/%8 7T ) #E R X Al IR A&
MIBEE - Aﬁgﬁlﬁﬁﬁéﬂﬁﬁf\ﬁ¢m
SEHEE T - NF(ZZT=-F
RAFRNESEBEE_T_AF) -

RETECXMEHE B-FFN\F
—A—BiE - BT EH L E TR
BNE K2 B SABMIBING - BRA
SEENBEREREEE R - M
BRAEREZRENAER 2SR5
Bl - #Ut I ERAR A I TS ERR At
B8~ Rz R MG 2 B IEE
WA RTHREL RS -
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KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRME

25. INVENTORIES 25. 78
2021 2020
—EC-—F —ECTF
HK$’000 HK$’000
THERT TET
Raw materials R 2,152,411 1,554,527
Work in progress EEE 916,533 696,501
Finished goods UK 844,262 759,869
3,913,206 3,010,897

During the year ended 31 December 2021, a write-down of
inventories HK$326,679,000 (2020: write-down of inventories
HK$7,556,000) has been recognised and included in cost of sales.

HE_ZT-_—F+-_A=+—HIEF
& WU TE £326,679,000/8 T(— & =
T WURTF E7,556,00058 T ) B ERE

RIZETASBERA o
/i Y 172
26. PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT  26. $EE¥=
Movements of properties held for development are as follows: FEBMEZEHNT
HK$’000
FAT
At 1 January 2020 RZZE-_ZTF—HA—H 21,115,592
Exchange adjustments ME 5 A% 1,027,484
Additions NE 2,287,813
Transfer to investment properties (Note 14) HER T EYE (ME14) (130,065)
Transfer to cost of sales HEHEMA (4,271,822
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 34(a)) HE— B AR (M5E34(a) (186,195)
At 31 December 2020 RZBEZZTF+-_A=+—H 19,842,807
Exchange adjustments bE H 3 #E 484,641
Additions NE 1,763,503
Transfer to investment properties (Note 14) EREEE(MFE14) (1,208,029)
Transfer to cost of sales EEHENRA (553,854)
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 34(c)) & — R B A &) (MI3E34(c)) (653,251)
At 31 December 2021 MN-E-—F+-_A=+—8H 19,675,817
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mER

26.

R R

PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT

(continued)

26.

BEHEEERRAA

SFREYE

Analysis of leasehold land included in properties held for development AR EERMEMNHEE LMD TN
is set out below: L
HK$’000
FAET
At 31 December 2021 H-E-—%+=-H=+—H
Carrying amount BREE 11,424,969
At 31 December 2020 R-ZE-ZEF+=-A=+—H
Carrying amount FREE 12,091,031
2021 2020
—E-— TECTHE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
Total cash outflow b2 stk = 277,543
Additions nNE - 277,543

The carrying amount of leasehold land is measured under HKFRS 16
at cost less any accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
The residual values are determined as the estimated disposal value
of the leasehold land component. No depreciation charge is made on
the leasehold land taking into account the estimated residual values as
at 31 December 2021 and 2020.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, properties held for
development with carrying amount of HK$553,854,000 (2020:
HK$4,271,822,000) were completed and sold to third parties (2020:
third parties and certain directors and close members of the directors).
Included in the properties held for developments, the construction
of properties with carrying amount of HK$10,266,818,000 (2020:
HK$5,247,782,000) are completed.

One of the Group’s properties development project with a carrying
amount of HK$410,959,000 (2020: HK$1,853,941,000) has been
pledged to secure banking facilities granted to the Group.

In the opinion of the Directors, the properties held for development
were classified as current assets as the properties were held for
sale purpose after the completion of construction under the Group’s
normal operating cycle.

HE LM RE EREE S # R RE
AIE 16 IR AR M R TE RE
MREEERTE - SREREE T HHEK
BOzHEELEEEETE - KFFAZTE
TN ETE T A=+ —HH
EETERE - TERBEE LA RIE -

REBEEZT_—F+-A=+—HLHF
[ - BREEX) A#%9553,854, OOOi’éﬁ( -
T 1 4,271,822,00078 7T ) KO£

EYECDBIVETS :E(fgfz
FE=FURETEENEEERE
2 A1) - RE{EA10,266,818,000/%
TL(=ZT T4 : 5247,782,000/8 7T )
MERRDRT » ;FAFEEDE -

AEBEHRER -—BHEEEAS
410,959,000/ 8 L2 M ERER (=ZF
—Z 4 1 1,853,941,000/87C) * LAER
RITHE -

EER/HTERMEDBR/RDEE -
THRERAEENETSEERY 58
ZEMENEN RN TR TRLE -
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KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

27. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 27. HibteMEE

BEZRAEMEBRERERKRE
NHRERETER

(@ Trade and other receivables and prepayments (@)
and entrusted loans

2021 2020

—BE--fF —EEF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FExT FAET

Trade receivables B SRR 10,836,887 8,532,641
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEEBERE (1,257,523) (1,171,133
Trade receivables, net B S AR F R 9,579,364 7,361,508
Advance to suppliers TR HEE A 563,151 400,161
Entrusted loans (Note) ZEE XM 359,006 431,771
Prepayment and deposits ENRERES 575,712 581,777
Value added tax (“VAT”) recoverables AR S ER ([HEER ) 480,584 435,787
Other receivables HAbEUERTK 247,559 140,285
11,805,376 9,351,289

Less: Non-current portion of entrusted W BREERIERB NS

loans (Note) (BffsE) (331,126) (398,241)
11,474,250 8,953,048

RZEBE-ZTF—H—H kKR
FEHNE SRR EmAE
£7,904,344,000/8 7T * EEE
1B %48 51,139,894,000/8 7T °

As at 1 January 2020, the gross carrying amount of trade
receivables from contracts with customers amounted to
HK$7,904,344,000 with allowance for credit losses of
HK$1,139,894,000.

ffsE: BEBTFEOR(ZT-FTF :

Note:  The entrusted loans of HK$359,006,000 (2020: HK$431,771,000)

are due from certain purchasers of properties developed by the
Group in the PRC through four (2020: four) commercial banks in
the PRC (the “Lending Agents”). The entrusted loans carry interest
at variable rates ranging from 3.43% to 5.39% (2020: 3.43% to
5.839%) per annum, payable on monthly basis and the principal
will be payable on or before 2034 (2020: 2034). The purchasers
of the Group’s properties has pledged to the Lending Agents the
respective properties purchased. These properties are located in
Kunshan, PRC.

As at 31 December 2021, entrusted loans amounting to
HK$331,126,000 (2020: HK$398,241,000) are in respect of
repayments due after 12 months from the end of the reporting
period and are classified as non-current assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

27. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued)

(@

Trade and other receivables and prepayments

and entrusted loans (continued)

The Group allows credit periods of up to 120 days (2020: 120
days), depending on the products sold to its trade customers.
The following is an aging analysis of trade receivables net of
allowance for credit losses based on invoice date at the end
of the reporting period:

BEHEEERRAA

HitSmEE )

(@

B 5 & H B R AR K &ﬁ
NREREFRER(E
REE R %T%%ﬁZ@ﬁ,
BERA/120B(ZE-FF 120
B) BYMHEERME 1
WEMMERRBLL - ENREE
R R - ERRKRR R
BREREFEAMHHMT :

2021 2020

—EB-—fF -

HK$’000 HK$'000

FExT Fi#IT

0-90 days 0Z90H 8,088,409 6,306,076
91 -120 days 91E120H 827,309 538,622
121 -150 days 121Z150H 464,477 341,673
151 - 180 days 151E180H 115,439 88,230
Over 180 days 1808 A 83,730 86,907
9,579,364 7,361,508

As at 31 December 2021, included in the Group’s trade
receivables balance are debtors with aggregate carrying
amount of HK$1,511,393,000 (2020: HK$1,060,340,000)
which are past due as at the reporting date. Out of the past
due balances, HK$123,048,000 (2020: HK$98,518,000)
which has been past due over 90 days or more and is not
considered as in default based on good repayment records
for those customers. The Group does not hold any collateral
over these balances.

W*T*—¢+*H*+—

C REENE SRR
ﬁ% BRERHREAHEBHNE
H#41E1,511,393,000/8 (==
— T4 : 1,060,340,000% 7T )
WREWAR - MEiE R E F
123,048,000/ L( Z 2 =4 :
98,518,000/ 70 ) B #1 2190 H 5%,
AE - EREZEREFPRT®
B - MEERIT AR AE
4 o REEWER RS EBIER
(SR GIE S

B —FFR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

27. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued)

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

27. EMEMEE »)

(@ Trade and other receivables and prepayments @ EBEZkRHEMEKERERKRTE
and entrusted loans (continued) NRERETERE)
Details of impairment assessment of trade and other B 5 N E fth E Y BR TR LA K2 B Ui
receivables and bills receivables are set out in note 36(b). ZE AR E GBS 5

36(b) °
Included in trade and other receivables are the following B 5 R E e BR B FE NI LA
amounts denominated in a currency other than the functional SEERMAE e IUINE
currency of the group entities to which they relate: MEHE 2 5058
2021 2020
—E=-—-F —ZEEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
us$ Ev 1,339,439 1,198,401
HKS BT 323,228 370,911
Euro dollar (“Euro”) Bt ([BTl) 90,530 7,570
(b)  Bills receivables (b) EUREE

Bills receivables of the Group are all aged within 90 days (2020:
90 days) based on invoice date at the end of the reporting
period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

27. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued)

(c)

Bank balances and cash

Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the Group
and short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of three
months or less. At 31 December 2021, the Group’s bank
balances and deposits carry interest at the prevailing market
interest rates which range from 0.01% to 1.725% (2020:
0.01% to 1.5%) per annum.

At 31 December 2021, the Group had bank balances
and cash that were not freely convertible or were
subject to exchange controls in the PRC, amounting to
HK$3,304,839,693 (2020: HK$3,219,642,000).

Included in the bank balances and cash are the following
amounts denominated in currencies other than the functional
currency of the group entities to which they relate:

Us$ Z7T
HK$ BT
Euro BT
GBP HeE

BEHEEERRAA

HitSmEE )

()

IRITHEBRERS

RITEBRERSEREARERE
Z2He MR IJHﬁEU% 18 A sk A
TZRHRITER - RZE=—
¢+ A=+—8 ' K~EEMR

ERRRERIRR TS FRE

u‘q’&oof@ 75E(ZE=F
FNT0O0IEET1LE)FTLE -

RZEZ—F+=ZA=+—H"
AEENABHRERFATPE
SNEE $IFTARR 2 IRITAE R R IR
% #9/3,304,839,693B (=&
~E4F 1 3,219,642,000/87T) °

PIRBRESOETHINER
ERIER 2 R L S
B2

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET F&T
465,036 433,222
513,673 288,259
840 8,236
15,662 20,134
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND
BILLS PAYABLES AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES

Trade and other payables and bills payables

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

EEREMEARARENRE

2021 2020
—E-— TECTE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Trade payables B S EERR 3,431,959 3,155,003
Accrued expenses JEIREA 1,352,853 1,022,065
Payables for acquisition of property, BEYE  BERE
plant and equipment FETER IR 481,035 398,426
Other tax payables E A ETERR 903,491 829,767
VAT payables FEAT IR {ERL 344,076 350,786
LAT payables JEAS IR AR 60,218 88,548
Other payables (Note i) HoAth FEAS BR SR (3D 472,559 693,527
7,046,191 6,538,122
Bills payables (Note ii) JET =45 (PR =Ei) 728,144 377,036
7,774,335 6,915,158
Notes: BT
0] Included in other payables as at 31 December 2020 was a consideration [0) RIZ_ZF+_A=+—ARHME
received in advance from an independent third party of HK$239,693,000 AHERFFAERHE —RiFAFRFH
for disposal of a subsidiary holding the properties held for development in BEYENMBARMEBILE=HTER
the PRC, which was subsequently completed on 29 January 2021, details #1K {B239,603,000/8 7T * % EIEREE
of which is set out in Note 34(c). NZE-_—F—A-+NB%xK " *E
FAMIEES4(C) ©
(ii) Included in bills payables as at 31 December 2021 was payables for (ii) NZE_—F+-_A=1t—HOERE
acquisition of property, plant and equipment of HK$30,633,000 (2020: 15 8 #830,633,000/8 L ( — T T 4F :
HK$18,420,000). 18,420,000/ 7C) AEEW X - BB &
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BEHEEERAA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND  28.

BILLS PAYABLES AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES |

continued)

Trade and other payables and bills payables (continued)

RHEMENRRARENRE

(,%)
The following is an aging analysis of the trade payables based on the REBEHRER A |- - BHENES Y
invoice date at the end of the reporting period: BEES A S E QI DTN T -
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET TET
0-90 days 0z290H 2,530,420 2,333,350
91 - 180 days 91£180H 508,466 470,960
Over 180 days 180H A £ 393,073 350,693
3,431,959 3,155,003

The average credit period on purchase of goods is 90 days (2020: 90
days). The Group has financial risk management policies in place to
ensure that all payables are settled within the credit time frame.

Bills payables of the Group related to trade payables in which the
Group has issued bills to the relevant suppliers for future settlement of
trade payables, which are aged within 90 days (2020: 90 days) at the
end of the reporting period.

Included in trade and other payables and bills payables are the
following amounts denominated in currencies other than the functional
currency of the group entities to which they relate:

Uss$ ETT
HK$ BIT
Euro BT

BEERNTHEEHAROA(ZZE
TE :90H) - AEEBTUBRAKRE
BERRERAERNESNEERNE

N=33
B °

AEBEHEBESENEIREBNENRE
& ERASEEEAREERHRAESR
B RIREEE 5 EMNFIE - Rie
HEBREMEERENOR(ZZEZE
F:90H)ZAN -

BoHMEMENRALENRIBERET
FIASEEBRERRE 2 hEE BB IAINER
FHEZ T

2021 2020
—E-—F ZEZTF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE T FAET
987,620 1,322,331
72,534 268,236

- 6,665
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

28.

B RS AR M

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND
BILLS PAYABLES AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (continued)

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

Contract liabilities SHEE
2021 2020
—E-—F —ECTF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHxT FBT
Sales of properties HEWE 3,897,714 2,182,645
Sales of chemicals HELTER 1,155,177 1,304,847
Sales of laminates HEE IR 249,105 301,537
5,301,996 3,789,029

As at 1 January 2020, contract liabilities amounted to
HK$6,374,105,000.

The significant increase in contract liabilities in the current year was
mainly due to the advances received from customers upon entering
of sale and purchase agreements of properties in current year.
The significant decrease in contract liabilities in the year ended 31
December 2020 was mainly due to the recognition of the advances
received from customers when the properties are completed and
hand-over to the customers during the year.

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, certain amount of contract
liabilities arising from sales of properties are expected to be realised
within one to two years at the end of the reporting period. The entire
amount of contract liabilities of sales of laminates and chemicals are
expected to be realised within one year at the end of the reporting
period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A I IRARMIEE

BHEERRAA

28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND 28. ES R EMENERK
BILLS PAYABLES AND CONTRACT ENEEREHNEE -
LIABILITIES (continued)

Contract liabilities (continued) =¥ S-LEE
The following table sets out the revenue recognised relates to carried- TREE—_E-_FTF+_A=+—H
forward contract liabilities at 31 December 2020 and 2019. EZE—AFt+_A=+—BEHEDNE
NEEEHCHERZEHEE -
Sales of Sales of Sales of
properties chemicals laminates
MIEEHE HELIER HEBHER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
TEx TEx FTET
For the year ended BZE-_T-_—%+=AH
31 December 2021 =t- EI LLFE
Revenue recognised that was HAZZE-ZTE+ A
included in the contract liability =+—HEXAGEH
balance at 31 December 2020 B D EREER 259,063 1,304,847 301,537
For the year ended BE-ZE-=Z2H5+=A
31 December 2020 =t+—HILFE
Revenue recognised that was FAZE—NF+=A
included in the contract liability —t—H&HAaEH®
balance at 31 December 2019 D IEREERE 4,966,215 582,356 71,598

—FF R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND

BILLS PAYABLES AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (continued)

Contract liabilities (continued)
Typical payment terms with which impact on the amount of contract
liabilities recognised are as follows:

Sales of properties

The Group typically receives 30% to 50% of the contract
value as deposits from customers on entering of a sale
and purchase agreement of properties and will receive the
remaining contracted sum prior to customers obtaining
control of the respective properties. The deposits and
advance payment schemes result in contract liabilities being
recognised throughout the property contract period until the
customer obtains control of the completed property.

In addition, the Group considers the advance payment
schemes contain significant financing component and
accordingly the amount of consideration is adjusted for the
effects of the time value of money taking into consideration
the credit characteristics of the relevant group entities. As
this accrual increases the amount of the contract liability
during the period of construction, it increases the amount of
revenue recognised when control of the completed property is
transferred to the customer.

Sales of laminates and chemicals

When the Group receives a deposit before the production
activity commences, this will give rise to contract liabilities
at the start of a contract, until the revenue recognised when
control of the goods has transferred, being when the goods
have been delivered. The Group typically receives a 30% to
50% deposit on acceptance of manufacturing orders.
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BHEHEERRAQH

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME
=
29. BANK BORROWINGS 29. IRITEE
2021 2020
—E=--F —TCTF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Bank loans RITER 18,377,553 17,230,846
Trust receipt loans EFEBUEER 28,381 -
18,405,934 17,230,846
Secured BYER 1,502,367 1,636,716
Unsecured (R 16,903,567 15,594,130
18,405,934 17,230,846
Carrying amounts repayable*: AR T EAREE 2 BREE"
Within one year —FR 10,411,380 8,254,750
Within a period of more than one year but not ~ —%E A _H{ET#BBM4E
more than two years 4,173,663 5,429,111
Within a period of more than two years but not A B BE T F
more than five years 3,590,322 3,285,636
Within a period of more than five years BBRF 230,569 261,349
18,405,934 17,230,846
The carrying amounts of bank loans that It ZBIME S (E B FIE Y
contain a repayment on demand clause RITEERAEGI ARBERE)
(shown under current liabilities) but repayable: BB A THAEEE -
Within one year —F R 24,000 24,000
Within a period of more than one year but not ~ —F A _H{B T EBIERE
more than two years 24,000 24,000
Within a period of more than two years but not M4FELA H{ET BB F
more than five years 72,000 72,000
Within a period of more than five years BBEAF 230,569 261,349
350,569 381,349
Carrying amount repayable within one year I B A ZARME S B R BV 155K
without repayment on demand clause AR —FREMREE 10,387,380 8,230,750
Amounts due within one year shown under —FREEZFE - Y ERE
current liabilities Efﬁ 10,737,949 8,612,099
Add: Amounts shown under non-current m:AAEERESEE A
liabilities 7,667,985 8,618,747
18,405,934 17,230,846
* The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates set out in the * FEN S BIZAEER R ENNTEEEE
respective loan agreements. HEAFIE

B —FFR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

29.

B RS AR M

BANK BORROWINGS (continued)

As at 31 December 2021, bank borrowings amounted to
HK$17,393,012,000 (2020: HK$16,202,564,000) are variable-
rate borrowings which carry interest ranging from HIBOR + 0.78%
to HIBOR + 1.15% (2020: HIBOR + 0.78% to HIBOR + 1.5%)
per annum and bank borrowings amounted to HK$852,282,000
(2020: HK$1,028,282,000) are variable-rate borrowings which
carry interest at Loan Prime Rate (“LPR”) + 1.355% (2020: LPR +
1.355%) per annum. The remaining bank borrowings amounted to
HK$160,640,000 (2020: nil) carry fixed interest rates ranged from
3.3% to 3.95% (2020: nil).

At 31 December 2021 and 2020, certain bank loans and trust receipt
loans of the Group are covered by corporate guarantees given by
Kingboard Investments Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Group.

The range of effective interest rates (which are also equal to
contracted interest rates) on the Group’s bank borrowings are as
follows:

Effective interest rates S
Variable-rate borrowings =

20.

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

BITEE

RZZE-_—F+=—_A=+—H - R17E
E17,393,012,0008 (=T =ZF :
16,202,564,000%8 7T ) B/Z BEE « F
BERNTEHBRITRIEREIN0.78EE
BEBBRITRAEREIMASE(ZZE=ZF
i C BBRITRAERBEMO.78SEEEE
IRITRAEN BN EE)TE W%E/‘
fﬁg852 282,000 T (ZE T F :
1,028,282,0008 L) A/ Z BEE  F8
REBERTSHRENE([ERTHRE
*‘Jﬂ)ﬂm 355 (ZZE=FF : ExXm
BREFIEN.355E) - FErIRITEE
160,640,000 L (ZE-FF : &) A
BEEFEEE  FEENMNG.3EZES.95
EvE(ZEZZTF - &) -

E’\\:’?_*iﬁ_q_viJr A

=t+—B AEEETRITEZRRER
WIEEREAEE— %%é%ﬁﬂﬁ%

AEEREARARRERHRABER o

AEBMRITEEZERFE(HERE
TR )SENT ¢

2021 2020

—E-—F —ECTF

0.94% to 5.16%
0.94E £5.16/Z

1.61% t05.21%
1.61EE5.21F

Included in bank borrowings are the following amounts denominated
in currencies other than the functional currency of the group entities
to which they relate:

HK$ BIT

RITEEBRETIIASE
REERINE R HE 2 T

Eliy ;%;Wazm

2021 2020
—E-—fF ZEITF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR FHET
334,052 513,570
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BHEHEERRAQH

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A I IRARMIEE

30. LEASE LIABILITIES

30. HEAE

2021 2020
—E-—fF TECTE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FH&T T
Lease liabilities payable: ENHEEEE
Within one year —F R 3,969 4,212
Within a period of more than one year —F A BT BIBMRE
but not more than two years 2,593 3,514
Within a period of more than two years RF A HET BB R F
but not more than five years 2,898 5,351
Within a period of more than five years BBEAF 943 927
10,403 14,004
Less: Amount due for settlement within 12 B RBB AR 218 A R E A
months shown under current liabilities HENSE (3,969) (4,212)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months SEmE B AR 218 A & 2 H
shown under non-current liabilities EER SR 6,434 9,792

No extension options are included in any of the lease agreements
entered by the Group. The incremental borrowing rates applied by the
relevant group entities range from 1.11% to 4.75% (2020: 2.34% to
4.75%). These lease liabilities were measured at the present value of
the payments that are not yet paid.

NEBRTS WA R ES T E
HRiBE - SRS EERBEAIISE
BEMENT1MBER475E(ZE =%
F234EZ475E) - 2SHEAE
ARSI RNRERE -

Lease obligations are denominated in currencies which are same as HEETNEREEERGEEEE
the functional currencies of the relevant group entities. RN EESIE -

—FF R
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KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

31. SHARE CAPITAL 31. B
Authorised Issued and fully paid
EERDEE ERITRHBZSHE
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
ROEE &8 RIEE &8
HK$’000 HK$°000
THEx FERT
Ordinary shares of FRXEE0 0BT Z
HK$0.10 each: AR
At 1 January 2020 RZZEZTF—H—H 2,000,000,000 200,000 1,105,757,736 110,576
Exercise of share options ~ {T{# E& A& #E (K13T32)
(Note 32) - - 2,650,000 265
Shares repurchased and ~ JEBE[E] & 5 F 85 A IS
cancelled (Note) (FF5E) - - (2,616,000) (262)
At 31 December 2020 RIEBE-TF
+—A=+—8H 2,000,000,000 200,000 1,105,791,736 110,579
Exercise of share options 771 i fc A (P 3132)
(Note 32) - - 3,000,000 300
At 31 December 2021 R-ZE-—4F
+=-—A=+—H 2,000,000,000 200,000 1,108,791,736 110,879
Note:  During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company repurchased its M HE-—_ESE-_ZFF+-_A=+—HItFE
own ordinary shares through Stock Exchange as follows: o RNARBBHFED ARG
AR
2020 —m

Price per share

BRER

Aggregate
Month of No. of consideration
repurchase Shares Highest Lowest paid
BEA G BROEA =) &IE ENRERR
HK$ HK$ HK$’000
BT BT FiEn
November 2020 —EEF+—AR 606,500 26.40 25.70 15,806
June 2020 —TCTERA 300,000 20.25 19.80 6,006
April 2020 - TFEMA 29,500 17.76 17.76 524
March 2020 —T-THF=R 580,000 17.82 17.62 10,298
January 2020 —ToTE—R 500,000 24.85 24.20 12,314
44,948

The above ordinary shares were cancelled during the year ended 31 i EBRERNEBEE—_E-TF+=A

December 2020. =+ —BILERETN -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

32. SHARE OPTIONS

(@)

Employees’ share option scheme of the
Company

The Company adopted the New Share Option Scheme (the
“Scheme”) which was approved by the shareholders at the
extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 27
May 2019.

The purpose of the Scheme is to provide incentive or reward
to the eligible participants (the “Eligible Participants”) for their
contribution to, and continuing efforts to promote the interests
of the Group.

Under the Scheme which is valid for a period of ten years
(expiring 2029, with a remaining life of approximately 8
years), the Directors may, at their discretion, grant options to
subscribe for shares in the Company to Eligible Participants
who contribute to the long term growth and profitability of
the Company. Eligible Participants include (i) any employee
(whether full time or part time) of the Company, any of its
subsidiaries or any entity in which the Group holds any equity
interests (“Invested Entity”), including any executive director of
the Company, any of such subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;
(i) any non-executive directors (including independent non-
executive directors) of the Company, its subsidiaries or any
Invested Entity; (iii) any supplier of goods or services to any
member of the Group or any Invested Entity; (iv) any customer
of the Group or any Invested Entity; (v) any shareholder of any
member of the Group or any Invested Entity or any holder
of any securities issued by any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity; and (vi) any person or entity who from time
to time determined by the board of directors (the “Board”) as
having contributed or may contribute to the development and
growth of the Group based on his or its performance and/or
years of service, or is regarded as valuable resources of the
Group based on his/its working experience, knowledge in the
industry and other relevant factors. The exercise price for the
Company’s share options shall be determined with reference
to the highest of the nominal value of the Company’s shares,
the average of the closing prices of the Company’s shares
quoted on the Stock Exchange on the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of an offer of the grant of the
options and the closing price of the Company’s shares quoted
on the Stock Exchange on the date of an offer of the grant of
the options. The Board, when extending an offer of the grant
of options to a grantee, may impose conditions as it thinks
fit, which may include minimum period for which an option
must be held before it can be exercised or other conditions
as the Board may of its absolute discretion determine. The
options must be taken up by a participant within 28 business
days from the date of grant upon payment of HK$1 and are
exercisable over a period to be determined and notified by the
Directors to each grantee, which period may commence from
the date of acceptance of the offer of the grant of the options
but shall end in any event not later than ten years from the
date of adoption of the Scheme.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

32. SHARE OPT'ONS (continued)

(@

Employees’ share option scheme of the

Company (continued)

The total number of the Company’s shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the
Scheme and any other schemes of the Group (excluding
options lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Scheme
and any other schemes of the Group) must not in aggregate
exceed 10% of the Company’s shares in issue as at the
date of adoption of the Scheme. The total number of
shares available for issue under the Scheme is 78,815,223
shares, which represents approximately 7.11% of the total
issued share capital of the Company as at the date these
consolidated financial statements are authorised for issue. The
limit on the number of the Company’s shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and
yet to be exercised under the Scheme and any other schemes
of the Group must not exceed 30% of the Company’s shares
in issue from time to time. The total number of the Company’s
shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options
granted to each grantee (including both exercised and
outstanding options) under the Scheme or other schemes
of the Group in any 12-month period up to the date of grant
must not exceed 1% of the Company’s shares in issue at the
date of grant unless approved by the shareholders in general
meeting.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

(@

BHEHEERRAQH

32. SHARE OPTIONS (ontinued) 32. R
Employees’ share option scheme of the (@ FARESERETS(E)
Company (continued)
A summary of the movements of the number of share options FA - ZETEIIE T 2 BRiESE
under the Scheme for the year is as follows: SEpLAan T
Exercised
during the
Balance at year ended Balance at Exercised Balance at Exercise
1 January 31 December 31 December during 31 December price
Date of grant 2020 2020 2020 the year 2021 per share  Exercisable period
REE
RZZB-%% ECEE RZZ-%F RZB--F
-f-B tZB=t-B tZB=t-B t=A=+-H
RiLAH {2 LEERE il RERTE ] ERAFE TEH
(Note) (Note)
(M) (M)
Granted to Directors on:
RFEZ:
14 August 2019 5,230,000 (2,210,000) 3,020,000 (3,000,000 20,000 HK$17.304 14 August 2019 to
“T-NE/\ATIA 1730487 18 August 2029
ZE-NE\ATIAE
ZZCNENATER
Granted to employees on:
RTES
14 August 2019 440,000 (440,000) - - - HKS$17.304 14 August 2019 10
“Z-NENATEH 1730457 18 August 2029
ZT-NE\ATIAZ
ZEZNENATER
5,670,000 (2,650,000) 3,020,000 (3,000,000 20,000
Exercisable at
RINFEER T
1 January 2020 5,670,000
“EoEE-f-A
31 December 2020 3,020,000
ZECRETAST-B
3 December 2021 20,000
ZE-ETZAZT-H
Note: During the year ended 31 December 2021 under the Scheme, Mzx: BE-_Z=-—€+=-A4

options of 3,000,000 (2020: 2,650,000) shares granted in the
Company at exercise price of HK$17.304 (2020: HK$17.304) per
share were exercised. The weighted average closing prices of the
Company’s share is granted on the Stock Exchange on the five
trading days immediately before the exercise date was HK$40.86
(2020: HK$29.64). The amount of HK$13,487,000 (2020:
HK$11,914,000) was reclassified from share-based payments
reserve to share premium.

=+—AILEE - REZKT
Bl AR R #93,000,000 8%
(ZZE=F%F : 2,650,0000%)
B (5 BRRITE B 17.304 75 T
(ZT=FTF : 17.304% L)
KRB EITE - ARAIR
B X BT BB 1T B Hi AT LA
X5 BERLRIRGE
T T B A40.86F T (=
T -FE 2064 L)
13,487,000 L (=T =&
F 11,914,000/ 7)) K £ 58
HEREFREFRETIER
R& a8 o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

32. SHARE OPT'ONS (continued)

(@

(b)

Employees’ share option scheme of the

Company (continued)

The Group recognised no expense for the year ended 31
December 2021 and 2020 in relation to share options granted
by the Company.

The weighted average remaining contract lives of the
outstanding share options are 8 years (2020: 9 years) as at 31
December 2021.

Employees’ share option scheme of KLHL

The share option scheme of KLHL (“2017 KLHL Scheme”)
was approved by the shareholders and the shareholders of
KLHL on 29 May 2017, and the 2017 KLHL Scheme took
effect upon obtaining approval from the Listing Committee
of the Stock Exchange on 2 November 2017. The purpose
of the 2017 KLHL Scheme is to provide incentive or rewards
to the eligible participants of the 2017 KLHL Scheme for
their contribution to, and continuing efforts to promote the
interests, of the KLHL Group (as defined below).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

32. SHARE OPT'ONS (continued)

(b)

Employees’ share option scheme of KLHL

(continued)

The 2017 KLHL Scheme is valid for a period of ten years.
The directors of KLHL may, at its discretion, grant options
to subscribe for shares in KLHL to eligible participants who
contribute to the long-term growth and profitability of KLHL
and include () any employee or proposed employee (whether
full-time or part-time and including any executive director),
consultants or advisers of or to KLHL, any of its subsidiaries
or any entity (“KLHL’s Invested Entity”) in which KLHL and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “KLHL Group”) hold
an equity interest; (ii) any non-executive directors (including
independent non-executive directors) of KLHL, any of its
subsidiaries or any KLHL’s Invested Entity; (i) any supplier
of goods or services to any member of the KLHL Group or
any KLHL’s Invested Entity; (iv) any customer of the KLHL
Group or any KLHL’s Invested Entity; (v) any person or entity
that provides research, development or other technological
support to the KLHL Group or any KLHL'’s Invested Entity;
and (vi) any shareholder of any member of the KLHL Group or
any KLHL'’s Invested Entity.

The subscription price of KLHL’s share in respect of any
option granted under the 2017 KLHL Scheme must be at
least the highest of (i) the closing price of the shares of KLHL
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on
the date of grant of the option, which must be a business day;
(i) the average closing price of the shares of KLHL as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant of the
option; and (iii) the nominal value of the shares of KLHL.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

32. SHARE OPT'ONS (continued)

(b)

Employees’ share option scheme of KLHL

(continued)

The option may be accepted by a participant within 28 days
from the date of the offer for the grant of the option upon
the payment of a consideration of HK$1. An option may be
exercised at any time during a period to be determined and
notified by the directors of KLHL to each grantee, and in the
absence of such determination, from the date upon which the
offer for the grant of the option is accepted but shall end in
any event not later than 10 years from the date of grant of the
option subject to the provisions for early termination thereof.
The directors of KLHL may, at their absolute discretion, fix
any minimum period for which an option must be held, any
performance targets that must be achieved and any other
conditions that must be fulfilled before the options can be
exercised upon the grant of an option to a participant.

The total number of shares of KLHL which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the KLHL
Scheme and any other share option scheme of KLHL
(excluding, for this purpose, options lapsed in accordance
with the terms of the 2017 KLHL Scheme and any other share
option scheme of KLHL) must not in aggregate exceed 10%
of the total number of shares of KLHL in issue as at the date
of approval of the 2017 KLHL Scheme by the shareholders
and the shareholders of KLHL (i.e. 308,100,000 shares in
KLHL, representing 10.0% of the total issued share capital of
KLHL as at the date these consolidated financial statements
are authorised for issue).

The maximum number of shares of KLHL which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the 2017 KLHL Scheme and any other share
option scheme of KLHL must not exceed 30% of the issued
share capital of KLHL from time to time.

The total number of shares of KLHL issued and to be issued
upon exercise of the options granted (including both exercised
and outstanding options) to each participant in any 12-month
period must not exceed 1% of the share capital of KLHL then
in issue unless approved by the shareholders of KLHL and the
Company in general meetings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

32. SHARE OPT'ONS (continued)

(b)

BHEHEERRAQH

32. BBRE

Employees’ share option scheme of KLHL

(continued)

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, there was no option
outstanding under the 2017 KLHL Scheme. During the year,
no option were granted or has lapsed or has been exercised
vested, or cancelled under the 2017 KLHL Scheme.

A summary of movements of the number of share options
under the 2017 KLHL Scheme for the year was as follows:

Date of grant

RiAH

Granted to the directors of
KLHL on (Note i):

RPZEREREE(Witi)

3 April 2019
—Z-NFNA=H

Granted to employees on
(Note i):

BTES (Bisti) -

3 April 2019
—T-NFHEA=R

Exercisable at
RUAT B R T34

1 January 2020
—E-%TF—-H-H

31 December 2020
“FIFFTA=TH
31 December 2021
—Z-—%+-F=+-H

(b)

Balance at Exercised Balance at
1 January during 31 December
2020 theyear 2020 and 2021
R-B=ZEF
R-B-EHF M—s=—-%
—A-H +=ZBA=+—H
HERER RERTE HERER
(Note iii)
(Bt i)

26,200,000 (26,200,000) -
12,800,000 (12,800,000) -
39,000,000 (39,000,000 -

39,000,000

per share

EEEEREEBRES
€=
RIEZ—FRZZFFTF+=
B=+—8 —ZT—tF@5k
EBikERETE TR EEE LA
RITERFEIRAE - FA - BEE
SEREREZ T —LFBE
TR A AR AR T B 5 s R ek
111F - BBk -

F - —F—LERBEERG
8IE T BIES R 2D EN
T~

Exercise
price
Exercisable period

BRITEE TEH

HK$8.39 3 April 2019 to

830 2 April 2029
“E-NFINAZHBEZ
“E-NFNAZH

HK$8.39 3 April 2019 to

830 2 April 2029
“E-NFNAZHBEZ
“E-NFNAZH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

32. SHARE OPT'ONS (continued)

(b)

Employees’ share option scheme of KLHL

(continued)

Notes:

U

(i

Including the interests of 550,000 share options of Mr. Leung Tai
Chiu, a director of KHL (resigned on 31 October 2020) and of
KLHL (resigned on 7 June 2021).

Including the interests of 11,300,000 share options of spouse of
Mr. Ho Yin Sang, a director of KHL. The spouse of Mr. Ho Yin
Sang is an employee of KLHL.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, all 39,000,000
options in KLHL at an exercise price of HK$8.39 per share were
exercised. The weighted average closing price of the KLHL’s
share granted on the Stock Exchange on the five trading days
immediately before the exercise date was HK$10.71. The amount
of HK$96,609,000 was reclassified from share-based payments
reserve to share premium.

The Group recognised no expense for the year ended 31
December 2021 and 2020 in relation to share options granted
by the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

33. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

33. FER

R

Share-based

Share of payments
net assets of reserve of
subsidiaries a subsidiary Total
—EHBAR
EEHEAR ZHARBHR
EERE RRRE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT THR
At 1 January 2020 —Z-2£-f-A 7,684,476 96,609 7,781,085
Acquisitions of additional interests in subsidiaries H&E%W% AIEIMER (1,675,312) - (1,675,312)
Share of net changes arising from debt IR A FER AL 2 E RS
instruments and equity instruments at EETAEREGTAEEMN
FVTOCI (Note) SEFE(NI) (41,904) - (41,904)
Share of exchange differences arising from EERTEMBEMES 2
translation of foreign operations BN EE 725 - 725
Share of exchange differences arising from EERATE2REEmEL Y
translation to presentation currency [ i =58 304,344 - 304,344
Share of profit for the year EENEE ST 1,125,469 - 1,125,469
Issue of new shares from exercise of share option 17{ &k & ﬁﬁ’?é‘ﬁﬁ’\]%ﬁ 4 96,609 (96,609) -
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—REHRBA 55,296 - 55,296
Capital redemption from non-controling H—EHRBL T?H B EEE
shareholders of a subsidiary (358,400) - (358,400)
Dividends paid to non-controlling SR TFHRBARL EERRE RS
shareholders of subsidiaries (2,257,500 - (2,257,500)
At 31 December 2020 “ERETA=1—H 4,933,803 - 4,933,803
Acquisitions of additional interests in subsidiaries Hﬁlﬁ%ﬁﬁ% AIEEIMER (713,215) - (713,215)
Share of net changes arising from debt BERATE AR 2 U ER
instruments at FVTOC! (Note) THEAMNZHFE(MF) (38,471) - (38,471)
Share of exchange differences arising from EERFEIMEEMELE Y
translation of foreign operations fEHER 1,970 - 1,970
Share of exchange differences arising from BERTELSREEMEEZ
translation to presentation currency [ENZERE 122,982 - 122,982
Share of profit for the year JEIEREEEH 1,776,029 - 1,776,029
Disposal of partial interest in subsidiaries HEMBRARNER 249,114 - 249,114
Dividends paid to non-controlling SHFHBLRZ FEHEREE 2 RE
shareholders of subsidiaries (666,091) - (666,091)
At 31 December 2021 R-Z-—F+-A=1+—H 5,666,121 - 5,666,121
Note: Share of net changes arising from debt instruments at FVTOCI (2020: MEsE - %15}&@$@§+AE1@%EH&§E&M§\

debt instruments and equity instruments at FVTOCI) consist of loss on
fair value changes on debt instruments amounting to HK$31,906,000
(2020: HK$16,531,000), cumulative gain reclassified to profit or loss
upon disposal of debt instruments amounting to HK$6,565,000 (2020:
HK$23,517,000) and fair value loss on equity instruments amounting to nil
(2020: HK$1,856,000).

BLAECNEHFE(—T_TF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

34. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

34. HEKB QT

(@) On 1 September 2020, the Group disposed of its entire (@ RZ=ZT=Z=FhA—H T~%EH
equity interest in a subsidiary, Jiangyin Guotao Real Estate PAE 4 B A R % 199,000,000
Company Limited (IRRENEEX#HFR A E), a subsidiary 7t (A% #223,870,00078 7t ) tH
holding the properties held for development in the PRC, EHEF ISR RFEHEDE
to an independent third party for a cash consideration of BB AR IRENEEXERA
RMB199,000,000 (equivalent to HK$223,870,000). The net ANEHRETEIE= - B
assets at the end of disposal were as follows: EFEEREZEEFHENT ¢
Consideration received: 2 RAL(E :

HK$'000

FAT

Total cash consideration received BYER S RERRE 223,870

Analysis of assets and liabilities over which BAEERFENEEREBENDIN :
control was lost:
Properties held for development FEREWME 186,195
Other receivables HAb FEUER K 11,828
Shareholder’s loan B (166,431)
Other payables HAbfERFRIA (1,795)
Net assets disposed of HE 2 BEFRE 29,797
Assignment of shareholder’s loan R EREE 166,431
196,228
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary: HE—RBRBATZ WS :
Cash consideration received BB ERE 223,870
Net assets disposed of &2 BEFRE (196,228)
27,642
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEEECHSRAZE .

2020

—E-FF

HK$’000

FAET

Cash consideration RERE 223,870
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A I IRARMIEE

34. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(b)

BEHEEERRAA

34. HEMB AT w)

On 5 March 2020, the Group disposed of its entire equity (b) RZZ=—TF=AHA  £KH
interest in a subsidiary, Shanxi Kingboard Wanxinda LAIR & B A R #60,000, OOO7E
Chemical Limited (LR EEZFICIBEREENF), (6% 71466,999,000/8 7T ) H & E
to the non-controlling shareholder of the subsidiary, for R—ERBEARILAREESE
a cash consideration of RMB60,000,000 (equivalent to {EITERET RN EAIET
HK$66,999,000). The net liabilities at the end of disposal were ARG E 2203 & -
as follows: FHERB 2 AEFHEOT
Consideration received: 2 RR(E :
HK$’'000
FET
Total cash consideration received BUER e RERRE 66,999
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which EAREEGHENEEREBN DN
control was lost:
Property, plant and equipment M - BE REE 207,092
Right-of-use assets TREEE 4,928
Inventories T8 8,950
Other receivables and prepayments H At FEURBR TR X FE 5B 29,893
Bills receivables FEUER & 24,319
Bank balances and cash RITEHREIES 1,933
Trade and other payables B 5 REAMFERIRR (267,546)
Shareholder’s loan fRREK (185,337)
Net liabilities disposed of HEZaEFHE (125,768)
Waive of shareholder’s loan REREFEF R 135,337
9,569
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary: HE—RMBARZKE :
Cash consideration received BYERERE 66,999
Net assets disposed of HEZEEFRE (9,569)
Non-controlling interests FEPERR A (55,296)
2,134
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEEXZHERATE
2020
—ECEF
HK$’'000
FAET
Cash consideration RERE 66,999
Less: bank balances and cash disposed of B NEZIRITHRENIAS (1,933)
65,066
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KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

34. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (ontinueq) 34, HEMB LT W

()  On 29 January 2021, the Group disposed of its entire equity ) R—-=m-_——HF=-+h
interest in a subsidiary, Huaian Kingboard Garden Real H XEBNUNR2REAR
Estate Co. Ltd. (EZEBHMEEZZEBR A F]), a subsidiary ¥ 212,353,000 7T ( 2 & B
holding the properties held for development in the PRC, 255,764,000 70 ) B H i —
to an independent third party for a cash consideration of MEHAPRFEEDENNER
RMB212,353,000 (equivalent to HK$255,764,000). The net AVELTEERIEE EXEBR AR
assets at the end of disposal were as follows: REHRETBIE=H - HE

FHBEREEZEEFEMT -

Consideration received: 2 P(E :
HK$’000
FET
Total cash consideration received BUIR S NEREE 255,764
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which EAERHENEEREBNDN
control was lost:

Property, plant and equipment M - WERERE 6
Properties held for development HERME 653,251
Other receivables and prepayments HAtb FEURBR SR R FEAS 50E 405,088
Bank balances and cash BITEBERE 59,227
Trade and other payables B 5 REMERER (1,085,988)
Net assets disposed of HE 2 EE TR 31,584

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary: HE—BRBATZWE :
Cash consideration received BYERERE 255,764
Net assets disposed of HE 2 BEFRE (31,584)
224,180

Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HEELXZHERASE
2021
—E-—F
HK$’000
FET
Total cash consideration HeRERSE 255,764
Less: advance received in prior year oAe L*EEH{Z;@JE’\]@?’X (239,693)
bank balances and cash disposed of HEZRITHBLRE (59,227)
(43,156)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

35.

36.

B RS AR M

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will
be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.
The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of bank borrowings
and lease liabilities, net of cash and cash equivalents and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued share
capital, other reserves and retained profits as disclosed in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

The Directors review the capital structure on a semi-annual basis.
As part of this review, the Directors consider the cost of capital and
the risks associated with each class of capital. In the opinion of the
Directors, the Group will balance its overall capital structure through
the payment of dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as
well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(@) Categories of financial instruments

35.

36.

BHEHEERRAQH

EXEREE

BARREEAREEE R EARURER
BEBCEHERNEFSEDZFEA
FRMESO®H  EAREE T ERELN
FELE  AEBEZERRRERTSF
EAAR °

GRS SR EBRAMTNE - AREZ
ERERERRTEEREEAE(
BRELBSEEY) RARBHAEA
G (BRECETRA - EfEE
KRB EH]) -

EXELERMELEE - FREH—
Mo BEEBEREAKAE  REZH
REARIERZER - EFRR - NEE
RRBX IS - BITHR - BEAR
o BITHEXREBRREER - AT
BB AR

EWMIHA

(@ =®MTAEER

2021 2020
—B-—fF —TTF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Financial assets ERMEE
Financial assets at amortised cost RHEN AT EN S REE 22,681,930 18,870,434
Equity instruments at FVTPL BAFEFABRNER LA 8,542,096 5,661,511
Debt instruments at FVTOCI BAFEFAEMZE
WammER TR 1,034,455 2,203,347
32,258,481 26,735,292
Financial liabilities = =R
Amortised cost HESHR AR
— trade and other payables — B 5 RHEMERNIRR 4,385,553 4,246,956
- bills payables —ERREE 728,144 377,036
- bank borrowings —RITEE 18,405,934 17,230,846
23,519,631 21,854,838

B —FFR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

Details of the Group’s financial instruments are disclosed in
respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risk (currency risk, interest rate
risk and other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
The management manages and monitors these exposures
to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely
and effective manner.

Market risk

Currency risk

Several subsidiaries of the Company have foreign currency
sales and purchases, which expose the Group to foreign
currency risk. Approximately 8.3% (2020: 7.1%) of the
Group’s sales are denominated in currencies other than
the functional currency of the group entities making the
sale, whilst almost 13.8% (2020: 9.1%) of purchases are
denominated in currencies other than the functional currency
of the relevant group entities.

The carrying amount of the Group’s foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and liabilities at the end of
the reporting period are disclosed in respective notes. The
management continuously monitors the foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging foreign currency risk
should the need arise.

ANNUAL REPORT 2021
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B¥EEEEREREE

REBE TR T AFIEAERMT
AR o ZECRT ARE A
eRmSREE(E%EE - 7
TRk EMERRR) 8
Rl RRn#E AR - BEZE
Rz BRREIAT - BEEE
B REEZERM - ARER BB
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B
RABETHBR R AINE #TT
SHE RIRAE - SAREERZIMNE
K o REMMLBI3% (T -F
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Currency risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to fluctuation against foreign
currencies of US$, HK$, Euro and GBP. The following table
details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% (2020: 5%) increase
and decrease in functional currency of respective group
entities against the relevant foreign currencies, excluding the
exposures on balances denominated in US$ of respective
group entities of which functional currencies are HK$, since
the Directors are of the option that such exposures are
not significant as HK$ is pegged to US$. 5% (2020: 5%)
represents the management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity
analysis includes only the outstanding monetary items
denominated in foreign currency and adjusts their translation
at the end of the reporting period for a 5% (2020: 5%)
changes in foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analysis
includes trade and other receivables, bank balances and cash,
trade and other payables, bank borrowings as well as debt
instruments at FVTOCI. A positive (negative) number below
indicates an increase (decrease) in post-tax profit for the year
where functional currency of each group entity strengthens
5% (2020: 5%) against the relevant foreign currency. For a 5%
(2020: 5%) weakening of functional currency of each group
entity against the relevant foreign currency, there would be an
equal and opposite impact on the post-tax profit for the year.

BHEHEERRAQH

@I A
b)) BEXEMREEEERBEEK
()
IS AR ()
ERER ()
REE D

AEFEEEmMHEET - B B
TTRHEGHINEFBIRR - TR
HIAEESE S EETEBEE
B R INE TS % (T - F
F 5% )NERRE - TRIE
EEABTHSEBEENET
FHEMASONER - ARETE
EoLEMN  EERAEHERRKRI
PERK 5% (ZZT=FF : 5%)
EA@%Q%EETT iz g

BB - MBEDITE
a%ﬁ*ﬂ%»%%ﬂﬁm 5 s
HE - HREHEARA ZINE
ERE%(ZEZF : 5%)&E)
VERIRAEE - RESITBRIEE
SREHMEUER - SRITEB K
Be  BHREMEMANER R
TEEAREAFEF AR DR
HAWENERTE - TEIESE
EFENNEEY L IERINET
BE5%(—ZF—ZF : 5%)8F * A
FEBRBEFEAMEN - 5
EEERNINEE S HABRIINE
ﬁé@&s%(_%_gﬁ 1 5%) B

BEEAFERBEENERSE
m&m%;

2021 2020
s —E-TE

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHxT FBT

Uss$ Ev (74,603) (92,262)
HK$ BT (17,341) 4,503
Euro BR T (3,682) (336)
GBP g (631) (739)

In the opinion of the Directors, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of inherent foreign exchange risk as the year
end exposure does not reflect the exposure during the year.

EXZR R ARFRERTRER
FARRR - BEREDIITARER
RAERINERSR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation
to fixed-rate loan receivable (see Note 23 for details of the loan
receivable), listed bond securities with fixed coupon interest
(see Note 22 for details of these listed bond securities) and
fixed-rate lease liabilities (see Note 30 for details of these lease
liabilities). The Group manages its interest rate exposures by
assessing the potential impact arising from any interest rate
movements based on interest rate level and outlook.

The Group’s bank balances, entrusted loans and variable-rate
borrowings have exposure to cash flow interest rate risk due
to the fluctuation of the prevailing market interest rate.

The Group’s exposures to interest rates on financial liabilities
are detailed in the liquidity risk management section of
this note. The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of HIBOR and LPR (2020:
HIBOR an